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Brand Differentiation
With 18 brands spanning multiple segments, Marriott International offers something for everyone. Are you traveling for business

or pleasure? Staying for just one night or for an extended stay? Looking for a convention hotel or more of a boutique experience?

Whatever it is, our more than 3,100 lodging properties in 66 countries and territories are ready to welcome you. And when you

walk in the front door, you’ll like what you see: we are reinventing and refreshing our brands at an accelerated rate.

TownePlace Suites by Marriott®

provides guests a place to settle

in and connect to the local 

area. With a casual, residential

atmosphere and full kitchen in

every suite, at more than 160

hotels, TownePlace Suites is

designed for real living.

Marriott Executive Apartments®

provides upscale accommodations for

guests on extended stays of 30 days

or longer outside the United States.

Offering studios to three-bedroom

apartments, they combine comfort

of residential living and services of 

a Marriott hotel. Each property

features state-of-the-art technology.

Residence Inn by Marriott® helps

guests thrive on long stays. At

more than 570 hotels, spacious

suites with full kitchens offer the

comforts of the modern home,

while associates provide intuitive

service with a human touch.

Residence Inn helps guests

perform at their best. 

The Ritz-Carlton® Hotel Company, recognized

worldwide as “the gold standard of hospitality,”

manages nearly 100 award-winning hotels 

and resorts; private condominiums; fractional

ownership properties; golf communities with

exclusive private homes; elegant spas; and

highly successful restaurants.

Bulgari Hotels & Resorts,® developed in

partnership with jeweler and luxury goods

designer Bulgari SpA, currently features two

sophisticated and intimate properties located 

in Milan and Bali. Each property showcases

Bulgari’s striking contemporary interpretation 

of luxury design.

Edition,SM a collaboration between Ian Schrager

and Marriott, will be the next generation of

boutique hotels. The industry’s first truly global

lifestyle hotel brand will combine outstanding

innovation and design with the highest levels 

of service execution.

Nickelodeon® and Marriott team up to create

family-friendly resorts. These upscale, self-

contained resorts will provide something for

every family member. The resorts will feature

pools, water parks, entertainment starring

Nickelodeon’s most famous characters, and

spas for adults and kids.

Marriott ExecuStay® offers

temporary housing to travelers

who prefer spacious apartments

for extended stays of 30 days 

or longer. ExecuStay finds the

solution for each traveler and

delivers a fully furnished,

accessorized apartment with 

as little as one day’s notice.

Renaissance® Hotels & Resorts speaks to the

modern discoverer in all of us, who lives to

unearth life’s hidden gems, collecting new tastes,

sights, sounds, and experiences along the

journey. At nearly 140 properties worldwide,

there’s always something wonderfully new to 

be found.

 

Renaissance ClubSport® combines the

boutique-style ambience of Renaissance 

hotels with sleek, upscale, full-service fitness

clubs. Renaissance ClubSport offers distinctive 

décor, imaginative dining, attentive service, 

and world-class fitness amenities. There are 

two properties in California: Walnut Creek 

and Aliso Viejo.



Courtyard by Marriott® offers a refreshing

environment that helps guests stay connected,

productive and balanced. Intuitive services and

design accommodate guests’ needs for choice

and control in more than 800 locations.

SpringHill Suites by Marriott® offers a fresh

perspective in the upper-moderate lifestyle tier.

With more than 200 hotels in North America,

SpringHill Suites blends substance and style

through spacious suites, relaxing ambience and

inspired service and guest amenities.

Fairfield Inn by Marriott® provides guests with

award-winning service at a great value so travel

is uncomplicated and productive. There are

nearly 570 Fairfield Inn and Fairfield Inn &

Suites® properties throughout the United States,

Canada and Mexico.

JW Marriott® Hotels & Resorts appeals to

guests seeking a luxury experience that pairs

elegance with informality, crafted to reflect their

own sophistication and desire to excel. At over

40 properties worldwide, guests can experience

world-class restaurants and extraordinary spa

and fitness facilities.

Marriott® Hotels & Resorts inspires your best

performance during travel, delivering an

experience that helps you work and relax in

your own way. Marriott’s nearly 490 properties

provide genuine care coupled with fresh, classic

design, making it a leading choice for travelers. 

Marriott Vacation Club® (“MVC”) is the

recognized worldwide leader in the vacation

ownership industry. One- to three-bedroom

villas feature living/dining areas, master

bedroom, balcony, kitchen and washer/dryer.

Ownership includes exchange to other MVC

resorts or trade for Marriott Rewards® points.

The Ritz-Carlton Club® is a deeded, fractional

ownership real estate offering combining 

the benefits of second home ownership with

renowned Ritz-Carlton service. Designed as a

private residence club, Members may access

their home Club or other Ritz-Carlton Clubs.

Grand Residences by Marriott® provides second 

home options through fractional real estate 

offerings and select private ownership opportunities.

Designed for regional second home destinations, the

brand is dedicated to providing carefree property

ownership through Marriott management expertise,

amenities and services.



Our business is all about people. That’s why 

we view our “spirit to serve®” culture of more

than 80 years as a source of strength that our

competitors can’t easily replicate. We strive to

create an inclusive environment where the talents

and unique ideas of 300,000 employees at our

managed and franchised properties worldwide
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can flourish. When our employees feel respected

and valued, we know that they’ll make our guests,

suppliers, owners and franchisees feel the same

way too. This is more than a philosophy — it’s 

a strategy that works: FORTUNE® magazine

named Marriott International one of “America’s

Most Admired Companies.”

Courtyard hotels with the new lobby design, like this one in
Newport News, Virginia, show a 23 percent jump in intent 
to return, ensuring its position as the leading hotel brand for 
business travelers.
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Everyone has a memory made at Marriott. It

might have been the business trip where you

gave a “breakthrough” presentation. Or your first

visit to a country where you embraced a new

culture and its traditions. 

PEOPLE PLACES PURPOSE
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Maybe you honeymooned with Marriott or 

saw your child work up the courage to proudly

jump into one of our pools. Through a lifetime 

of journeys at our hotels across the globe, you

can fulfill your deepest aspirations — and keep

building cherished memories.

The Renaissance New York Hotel Times Square features 
a stunning makeover, making it the epitome of urban 
sophistication and a popular place to socialize, do business 
or just relax.
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We’ve always believed that in addition to

operating our company profitably, we must 

do it responsibly. We are focused on these 

key issues that are aligned with our business:

shelter and food, environment, readiness for

hotel careers, vitality of children, and embracing

diversity and inclusion. 

PEOPLE PLACES PURPOSE

PHOTO ABOVE: In 2008, Marriott celebrated a 25-year
partnership with Children’s Miracle Network, which
supports children’s hospitals.
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SM

Last year, we announced Spirit To Preserve,SM our

strategy to reduce our environmental footprint and

combat climate change. The plan calls for reducing

waste, water and energy; greening our supply chain;

building greener hotels; engaging employees and guests

to take action; and helping to protect the rainforest.

To learn more, visit Marriott.com/socialresponsibility and 
Marriott.com/spirittopreserve.

With hotels and resorts in pristine locations worldwide, including
the Los Sueños Marriott Ocean & Golf Resort in Costa Rica,
Marriott is working toward a cleaner, healthier planet.

PHOTO ABOVE: Children from the Juma rainforest reserve 
in the State of Amazonas, which Marriott is helping 
to protect.
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Our balance sheet is in good shape, which is especially impor-

tant given the state of the capital markets. At year-end, we are

appropriately leveraged with long-term debt totaling $3 billion. We

have minimal debt maturing through 2011 and substantial additional

liquidity available under our credit facility. Coupled with modest

investment spending this year, we expect our debt levels will

decline in 2009 despite the business climate.

We acted quickly in 2008 to control costs throughout the organ-

ization. We reduced centralized cost allocations and staff expenses,

often by adjusting employee hours and delaying filling open posi-

tions. We closed less productive timeshare sales offices and

deferred new business initiatives. Throughout this effort, we paid

careful attention to hotel owner returns while maintaining strong

guest satisfaction and preserving jobs where possible.

Since 1980, Marriott’s core business model has been to manage

and franchise hotels, rather than own them. With long-term agree-

ments, this strategy has allowed tremendous growth while mini-

mizing leverage and risk in a cyclical industry. It has facilitated a

growing market share, rising brand equity, substantial revenue per

available room (RevPAR) premiums and decades of strong returns

to owners and franchisees. By minimizing our capital investments

and recycling those investments we do make, we maximize our

financial flexibility and cash flow. This strategy allows us to operate

a steady ship when times are tough and thrive when the business

climate improves.

In 2008, our revenues from base management and franchise

fees rose 3 percent despite a 1.5 percent decline (in constant

dollars) in systemwide worldwide RevPAR. We also benefited 

from new fee revenue generated by the addition of more than

33,000 rooms and residential units.

At year-end 2008, we operated or franchised 3,178 lodging

properties across 18 brands in 66 countries and territories. Looking

forward, we’re building tomorrow’s foundation with a deep pipeline

of new managed and franchised hotels worldwide. More than 

800 hotels, totaling over 125,000 rooms, are under construction,

awaiting conversion or approved for development. Sixty percent 

of these are already under construction or conversion, and another 

10 percent are financed. About a third of these new rooms are full-

service, and more than a quarter are outside North America. We

expect to open more than 30,000 rooms in 2009 alone.

We anticipate that the credit crunch and a weak demand envi-

ronment will reduce new hotel construction this year and new hotel

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

It’s official—the credit crisis and eroded consumer confidence 

are both contributing to a global recession and a tough economic

environment. Just about every business has been impacted, and

Marriott International is no exception.

But while 2008 was a difficult year, it also demonstrated Marriott’s

strength. We responded quickly to the downturn, remaining

focused on profitability as well as “People, Places and Purpose,”

which are highlighted in this annual report.

Despite the tough business environment, particularly late in the

year, revenue totaled $12.9 billion; income from continuing opera-

tions totaled $359 million; and diluted earnings per share from con-

tinuing operations were $0.98. Our earnings reflected restructuring

costs and other charges totaling $124 million after-tax or $0.34 per

diluted share. These charges were largely due to the downturn in

the economy and difficult credit environment.

J.W. Marriott, Jr.
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

William J. Shaw
President and  
Chief Operating Officer
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openings beyond 2009. However, similar to previous downturns,

we also believe we will see more hotels converting to our brands 

as owners seek to improve their returns.

The year 2009 marks the 25th anniversary of our timeshare

business. Starting with one resort in 1984, we operated 67 resorts

including 42 in active sales at year-end 2008. Timeshare owner

satisfaction remained strong in 2008 and 53 percent of sales came

from owners purchasing additional weeks or referrals of friends and

family. Occupancy rates at our timeshare resorts remained above

90 percent as our owners continued to enjoy their vacations.

However, with weak consumer confidence and a more difficult

financing environment, contract sales declined 23 percent in 2008

and we completed fewer than expected note sales. Our fractional

and residential products were particularly impacted by the weak

demand environment. In response, we dramatically slowed new

development, increased marketing and purchase incentives, and

substantially reduced costs. While the timeshare business faces 

a challenging environment, we expect it to be both profitable and 

a net cash generator in 2009.

Revenue Generation
Responding to the challenging lodging demand environment in

2008, we deployed a range of promotions to maintain loyalty

among existing customers while also attracting new ones. Our new

Sales Force One strategy enabled us to cast a wider net for valuable

business customers in 2008. In the leisure transient segment,

quick-to-market promotions such as “RejuveNation” offered dis-

counts for weekend stays. And with “No Blackout Dates,” more

than 30 million members of Marriott Rewards,® our award-winning

guest loyalty program, can redeem points every day of the year.

Technology remains one of our strongest competitive advantages.

Marriott.com, the seventh largest consumer retail Web site in the

world, accounts for 20 percent of Marriott’s gross property-level

sales. The site generated $6.2 billion in gross property-level revenues

in 2008, up nearly 19 percent from a year ago. Property-level sales

from our international Web sites increased 66 percent, and guests

booked over $2 million via our new Marriott Mobile booking engine

in the last part of 2008.

As more of our customers use social media, we’ve connected

with more than 400,000 of them on YouTube, Twitter, Facebook,

Marriott Rewards Insiders, and through our blog “Marriott on the

Move.” And we’re especially pleased that blog visitors have gone

on to book $2.7 million in gross property-level sales on Marriott.com.

2008 MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC. AWARDS

100 Best Global Brands 
(BusinessWeek) 

Marriott Rewards Named Best Frequent 
Guest Program — Americas 
(Freddie Awards)

100 Best Companies to Work for and one of 
America’s Most Admired Companies 
(FORTUNE®) 

Best Places to Launch a Career 
(BusinessWeek)

Working Mother 100 Best Companies 
Hall of Fame 
(Working Mother) 

2008 Best Places to Work in IT 
(Computerworld)

Top Companies for Executive Women 
(National Association for Female Executives)

Top 50 Companies for Diversity 
(DiversityInc) 

40 Best Companies for Diversity 
(Black Enterprise)

50 Best Companies for Supplier Diversity 
(Hispanic Enterprise) 

100% Score on Corporate Equality Index Report 
(Human Rights Campaign)

Best Corporate Reputation in Services Industry 
(Global Pulse 2008)

Company Member 
(FTSE4Good Index)

A World’s Most Ethical Company 
(Ethisphere)

2008 ENERGY STAR® Sustained Excellence Award 
(The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency)

Green/Eco Hotel — Global Vision Award 
(Travel + Leisure) 

Tops in Travel & Leisure 
(Ceres Investor Coalition)
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sustain communities where we do business: shelter and food, the

environment, readiness for hotel careers, vitality of children and

embracing diversity and inclusion.

In April, we announced our strategy to reduce our environmental

footprint and combat climate change, which we developed in part-

nership with Conservation International. The plan calls for reducing

waste, water and energy; greening our supply chain; building

greener hotels; engaging employees and guests to take action; and

helping to protect the rainforest. Several groups have recognized us

for taking these steps, including Ceres, an alliance of investors and

environmentalists, and Climate Counts.

We are broadening how we think about global diversity 

and inclusion, reaching across cultural borders to compete for

customers and talent worldwide. In this competitive marketplace,

we must continue to embrace the unique talents and experiences

of our employees—who speak more than 50 languages in 

66 countries and territories—to help us meet the changing 

needs of our customers.

Optimism for the Future
Although the near-term business outlook remains uncertain, we 

are confident in the future of our industry, and our company. With

more than 80 years in business, 50 of those focused on the hotel

industry, we have been through many difficult economic cycles.

Each time, we have emerged a stronger and better company. With

the best people, great places worldwide and a strong sense of purpose,

we are excited to continue building economic prosperity in the

communities we call home.

J.W. Marriott, Jr.
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

William J. Shaw
President and  
Chief Operating Officer

Reinvention and Innovation
While we are focused on operating as efficiently as possible, we

remain committed to investing in our brands for the long term. By

reinventing them to be relevant and fresh, we drive customer and

owner preference and higher RevPAR.

In cities worldwide, many of your favorite Marriott hotels have

been transformed. The owners of the Atlanta Marriott Marquis

completed a $138 million renovation this year. The hotel’s stunning

lobby—m.i.greatroom™, a prototype for the Marriott Hotels &

Resorts brand—has become a popular meeting spot for Atlantans

and visitors alike.

Renaissance Hotels & Resorts is nearing completion of a three-

year $2 billion makeover by owners and franchisees, including two

milestones in 2008: a $24 million renovation of the Renaissance

New York Hotel Times Square and a $128 million restoration of 

The Blackstone, A Renaissance Hotel, in Chicago.

Building on its reputation for offering unrivaled experiences,

Ritz-Carlton opened hotels in Sanya and Guangzhou in China in 2008.

Our Courtyard brand, which celebrated its 25th anniversary 

in 2008, just opened its 800th hotel in Shanghai, China. In North

America, Courtyard is undergoing a $500 million makeover by

owners and franchisees over the next three years. By the end of

2009, nearly 150 hotels will feature a new, exciting lobby experience

where guests can socialize, relax, work or entertain. These redefined

Courtyards are making a significant impact with customers, whose

overall perceptions of the brand have improved by 15 percent.

While we continue to refresh our existing portfolio, we’re also

exploring new brand development opportunities. By the end of

2011, we expect to open four Edition hotels, a new lifestyle boutique

brand developed in partnership with visionary Ian Schrager.

Social Responsibility
We’ve always believed that in addition to operating our company

profitably, we must do it responsibly. We are focused on five

signature issues that leverage our expertise and resources to



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
We make forward-looking statements in Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and elsewhere in this report based on the beliefs
and assumptions of our management and on information cur-
rently available to us. Forward-looking statements include
information about our possible or assumed future results of
operations, which follow under the headings “Business and
Overview,” “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” and other state-
ments throughout this report preceded by, followed by or that
include the words “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,”
“intends,” “plans,” “estimates” or similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements are subject to a number of
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those expressed in these forward-looking state-
ments, including the risks and uncertainties described below
and other factors we describe from time to time in our periodic
filings with the SEC. We therefore caution you not to rely
unduly on any forward-looking statements. The forward-look-
ing statements in this report speak only as of the date of this
report, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new informa-
tion, future developments or otherwise.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
We are subject to various risks that could have a negative
effect on the Company and its financial condition. You should
understand that these risks could cause results to differ
materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements
contained in this report and in other Company communications.
Because there is no way to determine in advance whether, 
or to what extent, any present uncertainty will ultimately
impact our business, you should give equal weight to each 
of the following:

Lodging Industry Risks
The lodging industry is highly competitive, which may
impact our ability to compete successfully with other hotel
and timeshare properties for customers. We generally oper-
ate in markets that contain numerous competitors. Each of our
hotel and timeshare brands competes with major hotel chains
in national and international venues and with independent
companies in regional markets. Our ability to remain competi-
tive and to attract and retain business and leisure travelers
depends on our success in distinguishing the quality, value,
and efficiency of our lodging products and services from those
offered by others. If we are unable to compete successfully in

these areas, this could limit our operating margins, diminish
our market share, and reduce our earnings.

We are subject to the range of operating risks common
to the hotel, timeshare, and corporate apartment industries.
The profitability of the hotels, vacation timeshare resorts, and
corporate apartments that we operate or franchise may be
adversely affected by a number of factors, including:

(1) the availability of and demand for hotel rooms, timeshare
interval, fractional ownership, and residential products,
and apartments;

(2) international, national, and regional economic and geopo-
litical conditions;

(3) the impact of war, actual or threatened terrorist activity
and heightened travel security measures instituted in
response to war, terrorist activity or threats;

(4) the desirability of particular locations and changes in 
travel patterns;

(5) travelers’ fears of exposure to contagious diseases, such
as Avian Flu and Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome
(“SARS”);

(6) the occurrence of natural disasters, such as earthquakes,
tsunamis, and hurricanes;

(7) taxes and government regulations that influence or deter-
mine wages, prices, interest rates, construction proce-
dures, and costs;

(8) the costs and administrative burdens associated with
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, includ-
ing, among others, franchising, timeshare, lending, privacy,
marketing and sales, licensing, labor, employment, immi-
gration and environmental laws, and regulations applicable
under the Office of Foreign Asset Control and the Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act;

(9) the availability and cost of capital to allow us and potential
hotel owners and joint venture partners to fund investments;

(10) regional and national development of competing properties;

(11) increases in wages and other labor costs, energy, health-
care, insurance, transportation and fuel, and other
expenses central to the conduct of our business or the
cost of travel for our customers, including recent increases
in energy costs and any resulting increase in travel costs
or decrease in airline capacity;

(12) organized labor activities, which could cause the diversion
of business from hotels involved in labor negotiations, loss
of group business, and/or increased labor costs; and

(13) foreign currency exchange fluctuations.
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Any one or more of these factors could limit or reduce the
demand or the prices our hotels are able to obtain for hotel
rooms, timeshare units, residential units, and corporate apart-
ments or could increase our costs and therefore reduce the
profit of our lodging businesses. Reduced demand for hotels
could also give rise to losses under loans, guarantees, and
minority equity investments that we have made in connection
with hotels that we manage. Even where such factors do not
reduce demand, property-level profit margins may suffer if we
are unable to fully recover increased operating costs from our
guests. Similarly, our fee revenue could be impacted by weak
property-level revenue or profitability.

Our hotel management and franchise agreements may also
be subject to premature termination in certain circumstances,
such as the bankruptcy of a hotel owner or franchisee, or a fail-
ure under some agreements to meet specified financial or per-
formance criteria that are subject to the risks described in this
section, which the Company fails or elects not to cure. A signifi-
cant loss of agreements due to premature terminations could
hurt our financial performance or our ability to grow our business.

The current general economic recession and the slow-
down in the lodging and timeshare industries will continue
to impact our financial results and growth. The present eco-
nomic recession and the uncertainty over its depth and dura-
tion will continue to have a negative impact on the lodging and
timeshare industries. There is now general consensus among
economists that the economies of the U.S., Europe and much
of the rest of the world are now in a recession, and we are
experiencing reduced demand for our hotel rooms and time-
share products. Accordingly, our financial results have been
impacted by the economic slowdown and we expect that our
future financial results and growth will be further harmed while
the recession continues.

Operational Risks
Our lodging operations are subject to international, national,
and regional conditions. Because we conduct our business
on a national and international platform, our activities are sus-
ceptible to changes in the performance of regional and global
economies. In recent years, our business has been hurt by
decreases in travel resulting from recent economic conditions,
the military action in Iraq, and the heightened travel security
measures that have resulted from the threat of further terror-
ism. Our future economic performance is similarly subject to
the economic environment in the United States and other
regions, which has become increasingly uncertain with recent
failures and near failures of a number of large financial service
companies, the current worldwide recession, the resulting
unknown pace of business travel, and the occurrence of any
future incidents in the countries where we operate.

New branded hotel products that we launch in the future
may not be successful. We may in the future launch additional
branded hotel products. We cannot assure that these brands
will be accepted by hotel owners, potential franchisees, or the
traveling public, that we will recover the costs we incurred in
developing the brands, or that the brands will be successful. 
In addition, each of these new brands involves cooperation
and/or consultation with a third party, including some shared
control over product design and development, sales and mar-
keting, and brand standards. Disagreements with these third
parties regarding areas of consultation or shared control could
slow the development of these new brands and/or impair our

ability to take actions we believe to be advisable for the suc-
cess and profitability of such brands.

Risks relating to natural disasters, contagious disease,
terrorist activity, and war could reduce the demand for lodg-
ing, which may adversely affect our revenues. So called
“Acts of God,” such as hurricanes, earthquakes, and other
natural disasters and the spread of contagious diseases, such
as Avian Flu and SARS, in locations where we own, manage
or franchise significant properties, and areas of the world from
which we draw a large number of customers can cause a
decline in the level of business and leisure travel and reduce
the demand for lodging. Actual or threatened war, terrorist
activity, political unrest, civil strife, and other geopolitical uncer-
tainty can have a similar effect. Any one or more of these
events may reduce the overall demand for hotel rooms, time-
share units, and corporate apartments or limit the prices that
we are able to obtain for them, both of which could adversely
affect our profits.

We may have disputes with the owners of the hotels that
we manage or franchise. Consistent with our focus on man-
agement and franchising, we own very few of our lodging
properties. The nature of our responsibilities under our man-
agement agreements to manage each hotel and enforce the
standards required for our brands under both management
and franchise agreements may be subject to interpretation and
may give rise to disagreements in some instances. Such dis-
agreements may be more likely as hotel returns are depressed
as a result of the current economic recession. We seek to
resolve any disagreements in order to develop and maintain
positive relations with current and potential hotel owners and
joint venture partners but have not always been able to do so.
Failure to resolve such disagreements has in the past resulted
in litigation, and could do so in the future.

Damage to, or other potential losses involving, properties
that we own, manage or franchise may not be covered by
insurance. We have comprehensive property and liability insur-
ance policies with coverage features and insured limits that we
believe are customary. Market forces beyond our control may
nonetheless limit the scope of insurance coverage that we can
obtain and our ability to obtain coverage at reasonable rates.
Certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature,
such as earthquakes, hurricanes and floods, or terrorist acts,
may be uninsurable or too expensive to justify obtaining insur-
ance. As a result, we may not be successful in obtaining insur-
ance without increases in cost or decreases in coverage levels.
In addition, in the event of a substantial loss, the insurance
coverage we carry may not be sufficient to pay the full market
value or replacement cost of our lost investment or that of
hotel owners or in some cases could result in certain losses
being totally uninsured. As a result, we could lose some or all
of the capital we have invested in a property, as well as the
anticipated future revenue from the property, and we could
remain obligated for guarantees, debt, or other financial obliga-
tions related to the property.

Development and Financing Risks
While we are predominantly a manager and franchisor of
hotel properties, we depend on capital to buy, develop and
improve hotels and to develop timeshare properties, and we
or our hotel owners may be unable to access capital when
necessary. In order to fund new hotel investments, as well as
refurbish and improve existing hotels, both the Company and
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current and potential hotel owners must periodically spend
money. The availability of funds for new investments and
improvement of existing hotels depends in large measure on
capital markets and liquidity factors over which we can exert
little control. Events over the past several months, including
recent failures and near failures of a number of large financial
service companies and the contraction of available liquidity and
leverage have impaired the capital markets for hotel and real
estate investments. As a result, many current and prospective
hotel owners are finding hotel financing on commercially viable
terms to be difficult or impossible to obtain. In addition, the
bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers and the financial condition of
other lenders has prevented some projects that are in construc-
tion or development, including a few in which the Company has
minority equity investments, from drawing on existing financing
commitments, and replacement financing may not be available
or may only be available on less favorable terms. Delays,
increased costs and other impediments to restructuring such
projects will reduce our ability to realize fees, recover loans and
guarantee advances, or realize equity investments from such
projects. Our ability to recover loan and guarantee advances
from hotel operations or from owners through the proceeds of
hotel sales, refinancing of debt or otherwise may also affect our
ability to recycle and raise new capital. In addition, any future
downgrade of our credit ratings by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s
Investor Service or other rating agencies could reduce our avail-
ability of capital and increase our cost of capital.

Continued or increased volatility in the credit markets
will likely continue to impair our ability to sell the loans that
our Timeshare business generates. Our Timeshare business
provides financing to purchasers of our timeshare and frac-
tional properties, and we periodically sell interests in those
loans in the securities markets. Recent declines in the credit
markets will likely continue to impair the timing and volume of
the timeshare loans that we sell. Market conditions during the
first half of 2008 resulted in terms that were less favorable to
us than they were historically, and further deterioration pre-
vented a planned fourth quarter 2008 sale, may delay planned
2009 sales or sharply increase their cost to us until the mar-
kets stabilize, or prevent us from selling our timeshare notes
entirely. Although we expect to realize the economic value of
our timeshare note portfolio even if future note sales are tem-
porarily or indefinitely delayed, such delays in note sales could
reduce or postpone future gains, cause us to reduce spending
in order to maintain our leverage and return targets, and could
also result in increased borrowing to provide capital to replace
proceeds from such sales.

Our growth strategy depends upon third-party
owners/operators, and future arrangements with these third
parties may be less favorable. Our present growth strategy
for development of additional lodging facilities entails entering
into and maintaining various arrangements with property own-
ers. The terms of our management agreements, franchise
agreements, and leases for each of our lodging facilities are
influenced by contract terms offered by our competitors,
among other things. We cannot assure you that any of our
current arrangements will continue or that we will be able to
enter into future collaborations, renew agreements, or enter
into new agreements in the future on terms that are as favor-
able to us as those that exist today.

Our ability to grow our management and franchise sys-
tems is subject to the range of risks associated with real

estate investments. Our ability to sustain continued growth
through management or franchise agreements for new hotels
and the conversion of existing facilities to managed or fran-
chised Marriott brands is affected, and may potentially be lim-
ited, by a variety of factors influencing real estate development
generally. These include site availability, financing, planning,
zoning and other local approvals, and other limitations that
may be imposed by market and submarket factors, such as
projected room occupancy, changes in growth in demand
compared to projected supply, territorial restrictions in our
management and franchise agreements, costs of construction,
and anticipated room rate structure.

Our development activities expose us to project cost,
completion, and resale risks. We develop new hotel, time-
share interval, fractional ownership, and residential properties,
both directly and through partnerships, joint ventures, and
other business structures with third parties. Our involvement 
in the development of properties presents a number of risks,
including that: (1) recent and continued declines in the capital
markets may limit our ability, or that of third parties with whom
we do business, to raise capital for completion of projects 
that have commenced or development of future properties; 
(2) properties that we develop could become less attractive due
to increases in mortgage rates and/or decreases in mortgage
availability, market absorption or oversupply, with the result
that we may not be able to sell such properties for a profit 
or at the prices or selling pace we anticipate; (3) construction
delays, cost overruns, lender financial defaults, or so called
“Acts of God” such as earthquakes, hurricanes, floods or fires
may increase overall project costs or result in project cancella-
tions; and (4) we may be unable to recover development costs
we incur for projects that are not pursued to completion.

Development activities that involve our co-investment
with third parties may result in disputes that could increase
project costs, impair project operations, or increase project
completion risks. Partnerships, joint ventures, and other busi-
ness structures involving our co-investment with third parties
generally include some form of shared control over the opera-
tions of the business and create additional risks, including the
possibility that other investors in such ventures could become
bankrupt or otherwise lack the financial resources to meet their
obligations, or could have or develop business interests, poli-
cies or objectives that are inconsistent with ours. Although we
actively seek to minimize such risks before investing in partner-
ships, joint ventures or similar structures, actions by another
investor may present additional risks of project delay,
increased project costs, or operational difficulties following
project completion. Such disputes may also be more likely in
the current difficult investment environment.

Risks associated with development and sale of residen-
tial properties that are associated with our lodging and
timeshare properties or brands may reduce our profits. In
certain hotel and timeshare projects we participate, through
minority interests and/or licensing fees, in the development
and sale of residential properties associated with our brands,
including luxury residences, and condominiums under our 
Ritz-Carlton and Marriott brands. Such projects pose addi-
tional risks beyond those generally associated with our lodging
and timeshare businesses, which may reduce our profits or
compromise our brand equity, including the following:

3 Recent decreases in residential real estate, vacation
home prices, and demand generally, will reduce our
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profits and could even result in losses on residential
sales, increase our carrying costs due to a slower pace
of sales than we anticipated, and could make it more
difficult to convince future hotel development partners 
of the value added by our brands;

3 Increases in interest rates, reductions in mortgage avail-
ability, or increases in the costs of residential ownership
could prevent potential customers from buying residential
products or reduce the prices they are willing to pay; and

3 Residential construction may be subject to warranty and
liability claims, and the costs of resolving such claims
may be significant.

Technology, Information Protection, and 
Privacy Risks
A failure to keep pace with developments in technology
could impair our operations or competitive position. The
lodging and timeshare industries continue to demand the use
of sophisticated technology and systems, including those used
for our reservation, revenue management and property man-
agement systems, our Marriott Rewards program, and tech-
nologies we make available to our guests. These technologies
and systems must be refined, updated, and/or replaced with
more advanced systems on a regular basis. If we are unable to
do so as quickly as our competitors or within budgeted costs
and time frames, our business could suffer. We also may not
achieve the benefits that we anticipate from any new technol-
ogy or system, and a failure to do so could result in higher
than anticipated costs or could impair our operating results.

An increase in the use of third-party Internet services to
book online hotel reservations could adversely impact our
revenues. Some of our hotel rooms are booked through Internet
travel intermediaries, such as Expedia.com®, Travelocity.com®,
and Orbitz.com®, as well as lesser-known online travel service
providers. These intermediaries initially focused on leisure travel,
but now also provide offerings for corporate travel and group
meetings. Although Marriott’s Look No Further® Best Rate
Guarantee has greatly reduced the ability of intermediaries to
undercut the published rates at our hotels, intermediaries con-
tinue to use a variety of aggressive online marketing methods to
attract customers, including the purchase, by certain compa-
nies, of trademarked online keywords such as “Marriott” from
Internet search engines such as Google® and Yahoo® to steer
customers toward their Web sites (a practice currently being
challenged by various trademark owners in federal court).
Although Marriott has successfully limited these practices
through contracts with key online intermediaries, the number of
intermediaries and related companies that drive traffic to inter-
mediaries’ Web sites is too large to permit us to eliminate this
risk entirely. Our business and profitability could be harmed if
online intermediaries succeed in significantly shifting loyalties
from our lodging brands to their travel services, diverting book-
ings away from Marriott.com, or through their fees increasing 
the overall cost of internet bookings for our hotels.

Failure to maintain the integrity of internal or customer
data could result in faulty business decisions, damage of
reputation and/or subject us to costs, fines or lawsuits. Our
businesses require collection and retention of large volumes of
internal and customer data, including credit card numbers and
other personally identifiable information of our customers as

they are entered into, processed by, summarized by, and
reported by our various information systems and those of our
service providers. We also maintain personally identifiable infor-
mation about our employees. The integrity and protection of
that customer, employee, and company data is critical to us. 
If that data is inaccurate or incomplete we could make faulty
decisions. Our customers and employees also have a high
expectation that we will adequately protect their personal infor-
mation, and the regulatory environment surrounding information
security and privacy is increasingly demanding, both in the
United States and other jurisdictions in which we operate. A
significant theft, loss or fraudulent use of customer, employee
or company data could adversely impact our reputation and
could result in remedial and other expenses, fines and litigation.

Changes in privacy law could adversely affect our ability
to market our products effectively. Our Timeshare segment
and, to a lesser extent, our other lodging segments, rely on a
variety of direct marketing techniques, including telemarketing,
email marketing, and postal mailings. Any further restrictions 
in laws such as the Telemarketing Sales Rule, CANSPAM Act,
and various U.S. state laws, or new federal laws, regarding
marketing and solicitation or international data protection laws
that govern these activities could adversely affect the continu-
ing effectiveness of telemarketing, email, and postal mailing
techniques and could force further changes in our marketing
strategy. If this occurs, we may not be able to develop ade-
quate alternative marketing strategies, which could impact the
amount and timing of our sales of timeshare units and other
products. We also obtain access to potential customers from
travel service providers or other companies with whom we
have substantial relationships and market to some individuals
on these lists directly or by including our marketing message 
in the other company’s marketing materials. If access to these
lists was prohibited or otherwise restricted, our ability to
develop new customers, and introduce them to our products
could be impaired.

Other Risks
If we cannot attract and retain talented associates, our busi-
ness could suffer. We compete with other companies both
within and outside of our industry for talented personnel. If we
are not able to recruit, train, develop and retain sufficient num-
bers of talented associates, we could experience increased
associate turnover, decreased guest satisfaction, low morale,
inefficiency or internal control failures. Insufficient numbers of
talented associates could also limit our ability to grow and
expand our businesses.

Delaware law and our governing corporate documents
contain, and our board of directors could implement, anti-
takeover provisions that could deter takeover attempts.
Under the Delaware business combination statute, a stock-
holder holding 15 percent or more of our outstanding voting
stock could not acquire us without board of director’s consent
for at least three years after the date the stockholder first held
15 percent or more of the voting stock. Our governing corpo-
rate documents also, among other things, require supermajor-
ity votes in connection with mergers and similar transactions.
In addition, our board of directors could, without stockholder
approval, implement other anti-takeover defenses, such as a
stockholder rights plan to replace the stockholder’s rights plan
that expired in March 2008.
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BUSINESS AND OVERVIEW
We are a worldwide operator and franchisor of 3,178 properties
(560,681 rooms) and related facilities. The figures in the preceding
sentence are as of year-end 2008 and include 27 home and condo-
minium projects (2,482 units) for which we manage the related
owners’ associations. In addition, we provided 2,332 furnished cor-
porate housing rental units, which are not included in the totals.

Our operations are grouped into five business segments: North
American Full-Service Lodging, North American Limited-Service
Lodging, International Lodging, Luxury Lodging, and Timeshare. 
We operate, develop, and franchise under 18 separate brand
names in 66 countries and territories.

We earn base, incentive, and franchise fees based upon the
terms of our management and franchise agreements. We earn rev-
enues from the limited number of hotels we own or lease. Revenues
are also generated from the following sources associated with our
Timeshare segment: (1) selling timeshare interval, fractional owner-
ship, and residential properties; (2) operating the resorts and resi-
dential properties; and (3) financing customer purchases of
timesharing intervals. Finally, we earn fees in association with affinity
card endorsements and the sale of branded residential real estate.

We sell residential real estate either in conjunction with luxury
hotel development or on a stand-alone basis under The Ritz-
Carlton brand (Ritz-Carlton-Residential), and in conjunction with
Timeshare segment projects (Ritz-Carlton Club-Residential and
Grand Residences by Marriott-Residential). Our Timeshare seg-
ment residential projects are typically opened over time with limited
inventory available at any one time. Other residences are typically
constructed and sold by third-party developers with limited
amounts, if any, of our capital at risk. While the worldwide residen-
tial market is very large, the luxurious nature of our residential
properties, the quality and exclusivity associated with our brands,
and the hospitality services that we provide, all serve to make our
residential properties distinctive.

The economic recession, the global credit crisis and eroded
consumer confidence all contributed to a difficult business environ-
ment in 2008. U.S. lodging demand declined throughout 2008, but
especially in the fourth quarter, as a result of slowing economic
growth. Outside the United States, international lodging demand
was generally stronger in most markets than in the United States,
but also softened progressively throughout 2008 and declined
markedly in the 2008 fourth quarter. Leisure transient demand in the
United States weakened in the first quarter of 2008 and was joined
by weakening business transient demand beginning in the second
quarter of 2008. Additionally, demand associated with our luxury
properties decreased dramatically in the 2008 fourth quarter. These
factors were compounded in several markets in the United States
where the supply of hotel rooms increased. Last minute new group
meeting demand and attendance at group meetings softened con-
siderably throughout 2008 as well, and group meeting cancellations
increased significantly in the fourth quarter. While some business
customers increased room nights in 2008, including professional
services firms, defense contractors, and insurance companies,
others declined, including companies associated with the financial
services, automotive, and telecommunications industries. In general,
for the properties in our system, international, and full-service prop-
erties experienced stronger demand worldwide than our limited-
service and luxury properties.

U.S. demand for timeshare intervals also softened considerably
in 2008, and especially in the fourth quarter, reflecting weak con-
sumer confidence and a very difficult financing environment, while
demand in Latin America and Asia for timeshare products was
stronger compared to 2007. Demand for Ritz-Carlton fractional and
residential units was particularly weak. Since the sale of timeshare
and fractional intervals and condominiums follows the percentage-
of-completion accounting method, soft demand is frequently not
reflected in our Timeshare segment results until later accounting
periods. Intentional and unintentional construction delays could also
unfavorably impact nearer-term Timeshare segment results as per-
centage-of-completion revenue recognition may correspondingly be
delayed as well.

Responding to the challenging demand environment in 2008 for
hotel rooms, we initiated a range of new sales promotions with a
focus on leisure and group business opportunities to increase prop-
erty-level revenue. These promotions were designed to keep current
customers loyal while also attracting new guests. In response to
increased hesitancy to finalize group bookings, we have also imple-
mented sales associate and customer incentives to close on busi-
ness. As more customers use social media, we have also found
new ways to connect, communicating with more than 300,000 of
our customers on YouTube, Twitter, Facebook and through our blog,
“Marriott on the Move.” We also continue to enhance our Marriott
Rewards loyalty program offerings and specifically market to this
large and growing customer base.

Given this slower demand environment, we worked aggressively
to reduce costs and enhance property-level house profit margins by
modifying menus and restaurant hours, reviewing and adjusting
room amenities, and not filling some vacant positions. While varying
by property, most properties in our system have instituted contin-
gency plans with very tight cost controls. We have also reduced the
above-property costs by scaling back systems, processing, and
support areas that are allocated to the hotels. We have also elimi-
nated certain positions, not filled some vacant positions, and will
encourage, and where legally permitted, require employees to use
their vacation time accrued during the 2009 fiscal year. Additionally,
we canceled certain hotel development projects. For our Timeshare
segment, we have slowed or canceled some development projects,
closed less efficient timeshare sales offices and increased marketing
efforts and purchase incentives. For additional information on our
companywide restructuring efforts, see our “Restructuring Costs
and Other Charges” caption later in this section.

Our lodging business model involves managing and franchising
hotels, rather than owning them. At year-end 2008, 48 percent of
the hotel rooms in our system were operated under management
agreements, 50 percent were operated under franchise agreements,
and 2 percent were owned or leased by us. Our emphasis on prop-
erty management and franchising tends to provide more stable earn-
ings in periods of economic softness while continued unit expansion,
reflecting properties added to our system, generates ongoing
growth. With long-term management and franchise agreements, this
strategy has allowed substantial growth while reducing leverage and
risk in a cyclical industry. Additionally, by reducing our capital invest-
ments and adopting a strategy of recycling those investments we do
make, we increase our financial flexibility.

We calculate RevPAR by dividing room sales for comparable
properties by room nights available to guests for the period.
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RevPAR may not be comparable to similarly titled measures, such
as revenues. We consider RevPAR to be a meaningful indicator of
our performance because it measures the period-over-period
change in room revenues for comparable properties. References to
RevPAR throughout this report are in constant dollars unless other-
wise noted.

For our North American comparable properties, RevPAR
decreased in 2008, compared to the year-ago period, with moder-
ately greater strength in Manhattan, New York, Houston, Texas,
Orlando, Florida, and Los Angeles, California and weaker RevPAR
in suburban markets near, among other areas, Orange County,
California, Chicago, Illinois, and Detroit, Michigan. Outside North
America, 2008 RevPAR increases versus the prior year period were
stronger, particularly in the Middle East, Central and Southeast Asia,
South America, and Central Europe.

Company-operated house profit margin is the ratio of property-
level gross operating profit (also known as house profit) to total
property-level revenue. We consider house profit margin to be a
meaningful indicator of our performance because this ratio measures
our overall ability as the operator to produce property-level profits by
generating sales and controlling the operating expenses over which
we have the most direct control. Gross operating profit includes
room, food and beverage, and other revenue and the related
expenses including payroll and benefits expenses, as well as repairs
and maintenance, utility, general and administrative, and sales and
marketing expenses. Gross operating profit does not include the
impact of management fees, furniture, fixtures and equipment
replacement reserves, insurance, taxes, or other fixed expenses.

Compared to 2007, worldwide comparable company-operated
house profit margins for 2008 decreased by 70 basis points reflect-
ing the impact of stronger year-over-year RevPAR associated with
international properties and very strong cost control plans in 2008
at properties in our system. This impact was more than offset by
the impact of RevPAR declines year-over-year associated with
properties in North America reflecting weaker demand and higher
expenses in 2008 in North America primarily due to increased utili-
ties and payroll costs.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest December 31
and while the 2006 and 2007 fiscal years included 52 weeks, the
2008 fiscal year included 53 weeks. As the 53rd week for 2008
included the New Year’s holiday and was seasonally slow, it had the
effect of reducing year-over-year RevPAR performance. While world-
wide comparable RevPAR for 2008 for company-operated properties
decreased 1.1 percent compared to 2007, worldwide comparable
RevPAR for 2008 for company-operated properties excluding the
extra 53rd week decreased 0.4 percent compared to 2007.

Our brands remain strong as a result of superior customer serv-
ice with an emphasis on guest and associate satisfaction, the
worldwide presence and quality of our brands, our Marriott
Rewards loyalty program, an information-rich and easy-to-use Web
site, a multichannel central reservations system, and desirable prop-
erty amenities. We, along with owners and franchisees, continue to
invest in our brands by means of new, refreshed, and reinvented
properties, new room and public space designs, and enhanced
amenities and technology offerings. We continue to enhance the
appeal of our proprietary Web site, www.Marriott.com, through
functionality and service improvements, and we continue to capture
an increasing proportion of property-level reservations via this cost-
efficient channel. We have added other languages to Marriott.com
and we have enabled guests to use handheld devices to make and
confirm reservations and get directions.

See the “Risk Factors” of this report for important information
regarding forward-looking statements made in this report and risks
and uncertainties that the Company faces.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
The following discussion presents an analysis of results of our oper-
ations for 2008, 2007, and 2006.

Continuing Operations

Revenues
2008 COMPARED TO 2007
Revenues decreased by $111 million (1 percent) to $12,879 million 
in 2008 from $12,990 million in 2007, primarily as a result of lower
Timeshare sales and service revenue and lower incentive management
fees, partially offset by the impact of unit growth across the system.
Base management and franchise fees increased by $27 million as a
result of improved RevPAR in international markets and unit growth,
partially offset by the impact of declines in North American RevPAR.
The $27 million increase in combined base management and fran-
chise fees also reflected the impact of both base management fees
totaling $6 million in 2007 from business interruption insurance pro-
ceeds and $13 million of lower franchise relicensing fees in 2008.
Incentive management fees decreased by $58 million primarily reflect-
ing the recognition in the 2007 period of: (1) incentive management
fees totaling $17 million that were calculated based on prior periods’
results, but not earned and due until 2007; and (2) $13 million of
incentive management fees from business interruption proceeds asso-
ciated with Hurricane Katrina. The decrease in incentive management
fees also reflected lower property-level profitability due to lower occu-
pancy and higher property-level wages and benefits costs and utilities
costs, particularly in North America. Partially offsetting the decreases,
incentive management fees from international properties increased,
reflecting RevPAR and unit growth. See the “BUSINESS SEGMENTS”
discussion later in this report for additional information.

The $15 million (1 percent) decrease in owned, leased, corpo-
rate housing, and other revenue largely reflected $10 million of
lower revenue for owned and leased properties, $17 million of lower
revenue associated with a services contract that terminated at the
end of the 2007 fiscal year and the receipt in 2008 of $15 million in
hotel management and franchise agreement termination fees, com-
pared to $19 million in 2007 and flat branding fees associated with
both affinity card endorsements and sale of branded residential real
estate (totaling $64 million in both 2008 and 2007), partially offset
by $17 million of higher corporate housing revenue. The $10 million
decrease in owned and leased revenue primarily reflected the con-
version of owned hotels to managed hotels.

Timeshare sales and services revenue in 2008 decreased by
$324 million (19 percent) compared to the prior year. The decrease
primarily reflected lower demand in 2008, revenue recognition of
contract sales for several projects in 2007 that reached reportability
thresholds, and lower revenue from several projects with limited
available inventory in 2008, as well as a decrease of $65 million in
note sale gains in 2008 compared to the prior year. Partially offset-
ting these decreases in revenue in 2008 compared to the prior year
was higher revenue associated with the Asia Pacific points pro-
gram, increased interest income, revenue associated with projects
that became reportable subsequent to 2007, and increased serv-
ices revenue. See “BUSINESS SEGMENTS: Timeshare,” later in this
report for additional information on our Timeshare segment.

The $111 million decrease in total revenue includes $259 million
(3 percent) of increased cost reimbursements revenue to $8,834 mil-
lion in 2008 from $8,575 million in the prior year. This revenue rep-
resents reimbursements of costs incurred on behalf of managed
and franchised properties and relates, predominantly, to payroll
costs at managed properties where we are the employer. As we
record cost reimbursements based upon the costs incurred with no
added markup, this revenue and related expense has no impact on
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either our operating income or net income. The increase in reim-
bursed costs is primarily attributable to sales growth and the growth
in the number of properties we manage. We added six managed
properties (3,100 rooms) and 157 franchised properties (19,836
rooms) to our system in 2008, net of properties exiting the system.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
Revenues increased by $995 million (8 percent) to $12,990 million in
2007 from $11,995 million in 2006, as a result of stronger demand for
hotel rooms worldwide, which allowed us to increase room rates and
favorable exchange rates worldwide. Base management and franchise
fees increased by $116 million as a result of stronger RevPAR and unit
growth, as we opened 203 properties (29,200 rooms) throughout
2007. In 2006, we recognized $5 million of base management fees
that were calculated based on prior periods’ results, but not earned
and due until 2006, versus no similar fees in 2007. Incentive manage-
ment fees increased by $88 million due to stronger RevPAR and prop-
erty-level margin improvements associated with room rate increases
and productivity improvements. Incentive management fees included
$17 million and $10 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively, that were
calculated based on prior periods’ results, but not earned and due
until the periods in which they were recognized. Furthermore, incentive
management fees for 2007 included $13 million and base manage-
ment fees for 2007 included $6 million of business interruption insur-
ance proceeds associated with hurricanes in prior years compared to
$1 million of business interruption insurance proceeds received in
2006. Stronger catering, food and beverage, spa, and other profits
also drove property-level margins higher. Year-over-year RevPAR
increases were driven primarily by rate increases.

Timeshare sales and services revenue increased by $170 million
(11 percent) in 2007 over the prior year. The increase largely
reflected development revenue increases over the prior year as
some newer projects reached revenue recognition thresholds. 
In 2006, some projects were in the early stages of development
and did not reach revenue recognition thresholds until 2007. The
increase in revenue also reflects increased services and financing
revenue. See “BUSINESS SEGMENTS: Timeshare,” later in this
report for additional information on our Timeshare segment.

Owned, leased, corporate housing and other revenue increased
by $121 million (11 percent). The increase largely reflected stronger
RevPAR and the mix of owned and leased properties in 2007, com-
pared to 2006, and to a lesser extent, higher branding fees associ-
ated with both affinity card endorsements and the sale of branded
residential real estate (totaling $64 million in 2007 and $52 million in
2006), offset by the recognition of $19 million of hotel management
and franchise agreement termination fees in 2007, compared to the
recognition of $26 million of such fees in 2006.

The $995 million increase in total revenue includes $500 million
(6 percent) of increased cost reimbursements revenue, to $8,575 mil-
lion in 2007 from $8,075 million in the prior year. The increase in
reimbursed costs is primarily attributable to wage increases, sales
growth, and the growth in the number of properties we manage.
We added 15 managed properties (4,870 rooms) and 138 fran-
chised properties (15,963 rooms) to our system in 2007, net of
properties exiting the system.

Restructuring Costs and Other Charges
During the latter part of 2008, we experienced a significant decline 
in demand for hotel rooms both domestically and internationally as 
a result, in part, of the recent failures and near failures of a number
of large financial service companies in the fourth quarter of 2008 
and the dramatic downturn in the economy. Our capital-intensive
Timeshare business was also hurt both domestically and internation-
ally by the downturn in market conditions and, particularly the signifi-
cant deterioration in the credit markets, which resulted in our

decision not to complete a note sale in the fourth quarter of 2008.
These declines resulted in reduced management and franchise fees,
cancellation of development projects, reduced timeshare contract
sales, and anticipated losses under guarantees and loans. We
responded by implementing certain companywide cost saving meas-
ures, with individual company segments and corporate departments
implementing further cost-saving measures. Upper-level manage-
ment responsible for the Timeshare segment, hotel operations,
development, and above-property level management of the various
corporate departments and brand teams individually led these
decentralized management initiatives. The various initiatives resulted
in aggregate restructuring costs of $55 million that we recorded in
the fourth quarter of 2008. We also incurred other charges, including
charges for guarantees and reserves for loan losses, and inventory
write-downs on Timeshare inventory, reserves on accounts receiv-
able, contract cancellation allowances, a charge related to the valua-
tion of Timeshare residual interests, a charge associated with hedge
ineffectiveness related to Timeshare note sale hedges, and asset
impairments and other charges, detailed further in “Other Charges.”

As part of the restructuring efforts in our Timeshare segment, we
reduced and consolidated sales channels in the United States and
closed down certain operations in Europe. We recorded Timeshare
restructuring costs of $28 million in the 2008 fourth quarter, includ-
ing: (1) $14 million in severance costs; (2) $5 million in facilities 
exit costs, primarily associated with noncancelable lease costs in
excess of estimated sublease income arising from the reduction in
personnel; and (3) $9 million related to the write-off of capitalized
costs relating to development projects no longer deemed viable.
We expect to complete this restructuring by year-end 2009. We 
are projecting $55 million to $65 million ($35 million to $42 million
after-tax) of annual cost savings beginning in 2009 as a result of 
the restructuring. These savings will likely be reflected in the
“Timeshare-direct” and the “General, administrative, and other
expenses” captions in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

As part of the hotel development restructuring efforts across
several of our Lodging segments, we discontinued certain develop-
ment projects that required our investment. We recorded restruc-
turing costs in the 2008 fourth quarter of $24 million, including: 
(1) $2 million in severance costs; and (2) $22 million related to the
write-off of capitalized costs relating to development projects that
we discontinued, including capitalized costs related to owned
development of Renaissance ClubSport. We expect to complete
this restructuring by year-end 2009. We are projecting up to $6 mil-
lion ($4 million after-tax) of annual cost savings beginning in 2009 as
a result of the restructuring. These savings will likely be reflected in
the “General, administrative, and other expenses” caption in our
Consolidated Statements of Income.

We also implemented restructuring initiatives by reducing 
above-property level lodging management personnel and corporate
overhead. We incurred 2008 fourth quarter restructuring costs of 
$3 million primarily reflecting severance costs. We expect to com-
plete this restructuring by year-end 2009. We are projecting up to
$4 million ($3 million after-tax) of annual cost savings beginning in
2009 as a result of the restructuring. These savings will likely be
reflected in the “General, administrative, and other expenses” cap-
tion in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

We have provided detailed information related to these restruc-
turing costs and other charges below.

Restructuring Costs
Severance
These various restructuring initiatives resulted in an overall reduction of
1,021 employees (the majority of whom were terminated by January 2,
2009) across the Company. We recorded a total workforce reduction
charge of $19 million related primarily to severance and fringe benefits,
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which consisted of $14 million for the Timeshare segment, $2 million
related to hotel development, and $3 million related to above-property
level lodging management and corporate overhead. The charge does
not reflect amounts billed out separately to owners for property level
severance costs. We also delayed filling vacant positions and reduced
staff hours. In connection with these initiatives, we expect to incur an
additional $3 million to $4 million related to severance and fringe bene-
fits in 2009 for the Timeshare segment.

Facilities Exit Costs
As a result of workforce reductions and delays in filling vacant posi-
tions that were part of the Timeshare segment restructuring, we
ceased using certain leased facilities. We recorded a restructuring
charge of approximately $5 million associated with these facilities,
primarily related to noncancelable lease costs in excess of esti-
mated sublease income. In connection with these initiatives, in
2009, we expect to incur an additional $2 million to $3 million
related to ceasing use of additional noncancelable leases.

Development Cancellations
We sometimes incur certain costs associated with the development
of hotel and timeshare properties, including legal costs, the cost of
land, and planning and design costs. We capitalize these costs as
incurred and they become part of the cost basis of the property
once it is developed. As a result of the sharp downturn in the econ-
omy, we decided to discontinue certain development projects that
required our investment, including our Renaissance ClubSport real
estate development activities. These cancellations do not impact
the two Renaissance ClubSport properties that are currently open.
As a result of these development cancellations, we expensed $31 mil-
lion of previously capitalized costs, which consisted of $9 million of
costs for the Timeshare segment and $22 million of costs related to
hotel development. We do not currently expect to expense any
additional capitalized costs in 2009 in connection with these
restructuring initiatives.

Other Charges
Charges for Guarantees and Reserves for Loan Losses
We sometimes issue guarantees to lenders and other third parties
in connection with some financing transactions and other obliga-
tions. We also advance loans to some owners of properties that we
manage. As a result of the downturn in the economy, certain hotels
have experienced significant declines in profitability and the owners
may not be able to meet debt service obligations to us or, in some
cases, to third-party lending institutions. In addition, we expect
profit levels at a few hotels to drop below guaranteed levels. As a
result, based on cash flow projections, we expect to fund under
some of our guarantees, which we do not deem recoverable, and
we expect that one of the loans made by us will not be repaid
according to its original terms. Due to the expected fundings under
guarantees that we deemed nonrecoverable, we recorded charges
of $16 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 in the “General, adminis-
trative, and other expenses” caption in our Consolidated State-
ments of Income. Due to the expected loan loss, we recorded a
charge of $22 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 in the “Provision
for loan losses” caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Timeshare Inventory Write-downs
As a result of terminating certain phases of timeshare development
in Europe, we recorded an inventory write-down of $9 million in the
fourth quarter of 2008. We recorded this charge in the “Timeshare-
direct” caption of our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Accounts Receivable-Bad Debts
In the fourth quarter of 2008, we reserved $4 million of accounts
receivable, which we deemed uncollectible, generally as a result of
the unfavorable hotel operating environment, following an analysis

of those accounts. We recorded this charge in the “General, admin-
istrative, and other expenses” caption in our Consolidated
Statements of Income.

Timeshare Contract Cancellation Allowances
Our financial statements reflect net contract cancellation allowances
totaling $12 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008 in antici-
pation that a portion of contract revenue and cost previously
recorded for certain projects under the percentage-of-completion
method will not be realized due to contract cancellations prior to
closing. We have an equity method investment in one of these proj-
ects, and reflected $7 million of the $12 million in the “Equity in
earnings” caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The
remaining net $5 million of contract cancellation allowances con-
sisted of a reduction in revenue, net of adjustments to product
costs and other direct costs, and was recorded in Timeshare sales
and services revenue, net of direct costs.

Timeshare Residual Interests Valuation
The fair market value of our residual interest in timeshare notes sold
declined in the fourth quarter of 2008 primarily due to an increase in
the market rate of interest at which we discount future cash flows to
estimate the fair market value of the retained interests. The increase
in the market rate of interest reflects deteriorating economic condi-
tions and disruption in the credit markets, which significantly
increased the borrowing costs to issuers. As a result of this change,
we recorded a $32 million charge in the “Timeshare sales and serv-
ices” caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income to reflect
the decrease in the fair value of these residual interests.

Timeshare Hedge Ineffectiveness
Given the significant deterioration in the credit markets, we expect
that any potential note sale transactions pursued by the Company
in the near term will be materially different from arrangements origi-
nally contemplated, and accordingly the sensitivity of a hedge the
Company previously entered into to manage interest rate risk asso-
ciated with forecasted note sales no longer significantly corresponds
to the sensitivity in expected note sale proceeds. Differences
include expected legal structures, modifications to priority of cash
flow, and higher costs. The change in terms (inputs) used to deter-
mine hedge effectiveness for Timeshare’s note sale hedges resulted
in the recognition of $12 million in hedge ineffectiveness. We
recorded this hedge ineffectiveness as a reduction in note sale
gains in the “Timeshare sales and services” caption in our
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Asset Impairments and Other Charges
One project that is in development and in which the Company has
a joint venture investment was unable to draw on existing financing
commitments as a result of the recent turmoil in the capital markets
and the bankruptcy of the project’s major lender. As a result, based
on our analysis of expected future cash flows, we determined that
our investment in that joint venture was fully impaired, and we
recorded an impairment charge of $9 million in the “Equity in earn-
ings” caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

In addition, as a result of the economic downturn and the inabil-
ity of certain developers to obtain financing, we also recorded write-
offs of other assets ($12 million) related to development costs
associated with projects we no longer deem probable in the
“General, administrative, and other expenses” caption of our
Consolidated Statements of Income.

We also deemed certain cost method tax investments to be
other-than-temporarily impaired because we do not expect to
receive any future economic benefit from these investments.
Accordingly, we recorded an impairment charge of $9 million for
those investments in the “Gains and other income” caption of our
Consolidated Statements of Income.
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Summary of Restructuring Costs and Other Charges
The following table is a summary of the restructuring costs and other charges we recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008, as well as our
remaining liability at the end of the fourth quarter of 2008 and remaining restructuring costs expected to be incurred in 2009 as part of these
restructuring initiatives:

Restructuring Restructuring
Cash Payments Costs and Other Costs Expected

Total Non-Cash in the 2008 Charges Liability to be Incurred
($ in millions) Charge Charge Fourth Quarter at January 2, 2009 in 2009

Severance-Timeshare $ 14 $ — $3 $11 $3-4
Facilities exit costs-Timeshare 5 — — 5 2-3
Development cancellations-Timeshare 9 9 — — —

Total restructuring costs-Timeshare 28 9 3 16 5-7

Severance-hotel development 2 — — 2 —
Development cancellations-hotel development 22 22 — — —

Total restructuring costs-hotel development 24 22 — 2 —

Severance-above property-level management 3 — 1 2 —

Total restructuring costs-above property-level 
management 3 — 1 2 —

Total restructuring costs $ 55 $ 31 $4 $20 $5-7

Reserves for guarantees and loan losses 38 22 — 16
Inventory write-downs 9 9 — —
Accounts receivable-bad debts 4 4 — —
Contract cancellation allowances 12 12 — —
Residual interests valuation 32 32 — —
Hedge ineffectiveness 12 12 — —
Impairment of investments and other 30 30 — —

Total other charges 137 121 — 16

Total restructuring and other charges $192 $152 $4 $36

We anticipate that the remaining liability related to the workforce reduction will be substantially paid by the end of 2009 for the Timeshare
segment, by the end of 2009 for hotel development, and by the end of 2009 for above-property level management. The amounts related to
the space reduction and resulting lease expense due to the consolidation of facilities in the Timeshare segment will be paid over the respec-
tive lease terms through 2012. The remaining liability related to expected fundings under guarantees will likely be substantially paid by year-
end 2010. The following tables provide further detail on these charges, including a breakdown by segment:

2008 Operating Income Impact

North
North American

American Limited- Other
Full-Service Service International Luxury Timeshare Unallocated

($ in millions) Segment Segment Segment Segment Segment Corporate Total

Severance $— $— $— $1 $14 $ 4 $ 19
Facilities exit costs — — — — 5 — 5
Development cancellations — — — — 9 22 31

Total restructuring costs — — — 1 28 26 55
Charges related to guarantees 1 15 — — — — 16
Inventory write-downs — — — — 9 — 9
Accounts receivable-bad debts — — — 1 — 3 4
Contract cancellation allowances — — — — 5 — 5
Residual interests valuation — — — — 32 — 32
Hedge ineffectiveness — — — — 12 — 12
Impairment of investments and other — — — — — 12 12

Total $1 $15 $— $2 $86 $41 $145



Operating Income
2008 COMPARED TO 2007
Operating income decreased by $403 million (34 percent) to $785 mil-
lion in 2008 from $1,188 million in 2007. The decrease in operating
income reflected $261 million of lower Timeshare sales and services
revenue net of direct expenses, $41 million of lower owned, leased,
corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses, $58 mil-
lion of lower incentive management fees, $55 million of restructuring
costs recorded in 2008, and a $15 million increase in general, admin-
istrative and other expenses, partially offset by an increase in com-
bined base management and franchise fees of $27 million.

Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses for
2008 totaled $89 million. The decline of $261 million (75 percent)
from the prior year primarily reflected $138 million of lower develop-
ment revenue, net of product costs and marketing and selling
costs, $95 million of lower financing revenue net of financing
expenses, $34 million of lower reacquired and resales revenue net
of expenses, partially offset by $4 million of higher services revenue
net of expenses, and $2 million of lower joint venture related
expenses. Lower development revenue, net of product costs and
marketing and selling costs, primarily reflected lower demand for
timeshare interval, fractional, and residential products, lower rev-
enue from several projects with limited available inventory in 2008, 
a $22 million pretax impairment charge ($10 million net of minority
interest benefit), start-up costs and low reportability in 2008 associ-
ated with newer projects that have not yet reached revenue recog-
nition thresholds, as well as lower revenue recognition for several
projects that reached reportability thresholds in 2007. The decrease
in financing revenue net of financing costs primarily reflected lower
note sale gains in 2008, compared to the prior year. See “BUSINESS
SEGMENTS: Timeshare,” later in this report for additional informa-
tion regarding our Timeshare segment.

The $41 million (23 percent) decrease in owned, leased, corporate
housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses primarily reflected
$21 million of lower income, reflecting conversions from owned prop-
erties to managed properties, $4 million of lower termination fees,
and $17 million of lower revenue associated with a services contract

that terminated at the end of the 2007 fiscal year. Partially offsetting
the decreases were lower depreciation charges totaling $6 million in
2008 associated with one property, compared to depreciation
charges recorded in 2007 of $8 million associated with that same
property that was reclassified from “held for sale” to “held and used.”

General, administrative, and other expenses increased by $15 mil-
lion (2 percent) to $783 million in 2008 from $768 million in 2007. 
This increase reflected the following items: $44 million of increased
expenses associated with, among other things, our unit growth and
development, systems improvements, and initiatives to enhance our
brands globally; a $16 million charge for certain guarantees; an unfa-
vorable $9 million variance for reserve reversals in 2007; $12 million 
in write-offs in 2008 of costs related to development cancellations; 
$4 million of increased foreign exchange losses; and $4 million of
charges related to bad debt reserves on accounts receivable. See
“Other Charges” section of Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring Costs
and Other Charges,” for additional information on the charge related
to certain guarantees, development cancellation write-offs, and bad
debt reserves. These unfavorable variances were partially offset by a
favorable variance related to a 2007 charge of $35 million resulting
from excise taxes associated with the settlement of issues raised
during the examination by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and
Department of Labor of our employee stock ownership plan (“ESOP”)
feature of our Employees’ Profit Sharing, Retirement and Savings
Plan and Trust (the “Plan”). See Footnote No. 2, “Income Taxes,” for
additional information on the ESOP settlement. Additionally, 2008
included a $28 million favorable impact associated with deferred
compensation expenses, compared to an $11 million unfavorable
impact in the prior year, both of which reflected mark-to-market valu-
ations. Of the $15 million increase in total general, administrative, and
other expenses, an increase of $51 million was attributable to our
Lodging and Timeshare segments and a decrease of $36 million,
reflecting the 2007 ESOP settlement charge, was unallocated.

The reasons for the decrease of $58 million in incentive manage-
ment fees as well as the combined base management and fran-
chise fees increase of $27 million over the prior year are noted in
the preceding “Revenues” section.
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2008 Non-Operating Income Impact

Gains and Provision for Equity in
($ in millions) Other Income Loan Losses Earnings Total

Impairment of investments $9 $— $ 9 $18
Contract cancellation allowances — — 7 7
Reserves for loan losses — 22 — 22

Total $9 $22 $16 $47

The following table provides further detail on restructuring costs we expect to incur in 2009, including breakdown by segment:

2009 Expected Operating Income Impact

North
North American

American Limited- Other 
Full-Service Service International Luxury Timeshare Unallocated

($ in millions) Segment Segment Segment Segment Segment Corporate Total

Severance $— $— $— $— $3-4 $— $3-4
Facilities exit costs — — — — 2-3 — 2-3
Development cancellations — — — — — — —

Total restructuring costs $— $— $— $— $5-7 $— $5-7



2007 COMPARED TO 2006
Operating income increased by $101 million (9 percent) to $1,188 mil-
lion in 2007 from $1,087 million in the prior year. The increase in
operating income reflects stronger combined base management,
incentive management, and franchise fees of $204 million, partially
offset by higher general, administrative, and other expenses of 
$91 million, lower Timeshare sales and services revenue net of
direct expenses of $7 million, and lower owned, leased, corporate
housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses of $5 million.

The combined base management, incentive management, and
franchise fees increase of $204 million reflected strong RevPAR
growth, unit growth, and property-level margin improvements and
favorable exchange rates worldwide. In 2006, we recognized $5 mil-
lion of base management fees that were calculated based on prior
periods’ results, but not earned and due until 2006, versus no similar
fees in 2007. Incentive management fees included $17 million and
$10 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively, that were calculated
based on prior periods’ results, but not earned and due until the
periods in which they were recognized. Furthermore, incentive man-
agement fees for 2007 included $13 million and base management
fees included $6 million of business interruption insurance proceeds
associated with hurricanes in prior years compared to $1 million of
business interruption insurance proceeds received in 2006.

Compared to the year-ago period, general, administrative, and
other expenses increased by $91 million (13 percent) to $768 million 
in 2007 from $677 million in 2006. In 2007, we incurred a $35 million
charge related to excise taxes associated with the settlement of issues
raised during the IRS and Department of Labor examination of our
ESOP feature of our Employees’ Profit Sharing, Retirement and
Savings Plan and Trust (the “Plan”). See Footnote No. 2, “Income
Taxes,” for additional information on the ESOP settlement. Additionally,
the increase was attributable to, among other things, increased costs
related to our unit growth, development and systems improvements,
increased legal expenses, and increased other administrative costs.
Also unfavorably impacting general, administrative, and other
expenses, when compared to the prior year, were foreign exchange
losses totaling $2 million in 2007 compared to foreign exchange gains
of $6 million in 2006 and $1 million of guarantee charges in 2007 while
the year-ago period reflected $6 million of guarantee reversals. Partially
offsetting the aforementioned increases were $4 million of lower hotel
operating agreement performance cure payments in 2007 compared
to 2006 and a $9 million reversal in 2007 of reserves that were no
longer required. Increased legal expenses in 2007 include charges
associated with litigation and other legal matters. Of the $91 million
increase in total general, administrative, and other expenses, an
increase of $13 million was attributable to our Lodging and Timeshare
segments and a $78 million increase was unallocated.

Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses of
$350 million decreased by $7 million (2 percent), compared to the
prior year, primarily reflecting flat development revenue net of prod-
uct costs and marketing and selling costs and $12 million of
increased financing revenue net of financing expenses, more than
offset by the reversal in 2006 of $15 million of contingency reserves
and $4 million of lower services revenue net of services expenses.
Flat development revenue net of product costs and marketing and
selling costs reflected newer projects that reached reportability
thresholds in 2007, offset by several other projects that were
approaching sell-out. The increase in financing revenue net of
financing costs primarily reflects increased accretion, interest
income, and higher note sale gains in 2007, compared to 2006.

The $5 million (3 percent) decrease in owned, leased, corporate
housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses reflected 
$19 million in hotel management and franchise agreement termi-
nation fees received in 2007, compared to $26 million in 2006.
Depreciation charges totaling $8 million were recorded in 2007

associated with one owned property that was reclassified from
“held for sale” to “held and used” during 2007 compared to depre-
ciation charges recorded in 2006 of $7 million associated with two
properties that were reclassified from “held for sale” to “held and
used.” Partially offsetting the aforementioned decreases in owned,
leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct
expenses was the favorable impact of $4 million associated with
both the stronger demand environment in 2007 and the impact of
the sale and purchase of several properties.

Gains and Other Income (Expense)
The table below shows our gains and other income for fiscal years
2008, 2007, and 2006:

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Gain on debt extinguishment $28 $— $ —
Gains on sales of real estate and other 14 39 26
Loss on expected land sale — — (37)
Other note sale/repayment gains — 1 2
Gains on forgiveness of debt — 12 —
(Loss)/gain on sale/income on redemption of 

joint venture and other investments (1) 31 68
(Loss)/income from cost method joint ventures (3) 14 15

$38 $97 $ 74

2008 COMPARED TO 2007
The $28 million gain on debt extinguishment in 2008 represents the
difference between the purchase price and net carrying amount of
our Senior Notes we repurchased. For additional information on the
debt extinguishment, see the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” sec-
tion later in this report. The $25 million decrease in gains on sales 
of real estate and other primarily reflected a $23 million gain associ-
ated with sales of real estate in our International segment as well as
other smaller gains on sale of real estate in 2007 that did not occur
in 2008. The $12 million gain on forgiveness of debt in 2007 was
associated with government incentives noted in the “2007
Compared to 2006” section below. Gain on sale/income on
redemption of joint venture and other investments of $31 million 
in 2007 reflected an $18 million gain associated with the sale of
stock we held and net gains totaling $13 million on the sale of 
joint venture investments. Income from cost method joint ventures
decreased $17 million to a loss of $3 million in 2008 compared to
the prior year primarily due to certain cost method tax investments
that we deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired (see the
“Other Charges” section of Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring Costs
and Other Charges,” for more information).

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
The $12 million gain on forgiveness of debt for 2007 was associated
with government incentives. The loans were forgiven in recognition
of our contribution to job growth and economic development. Gain
on sale/income on redemption of joint venture and other investments
of $31 million in 2007 reflected an $18 million gain associated with
the sale of stock we held and net gains totaling $13 million on the
sale of joint venture investments. Gain on sale/income on redemp-
tion of joint venture and other investments of $68 million in 2006
was comprised of $43 million of net gains associated with the sale
of joint venture investments and the redemption of preferred stock
we held in one investee, which generated a gain of $25 million.
Gains on sales of real estate and other increased $13 million in
2007, and primarily reflected a $23 million gain associated with
sales of real estate by our International segment in 2007 that did
not occur in 2006, partially offset by smaller gains in 2006 that did
not occur in 2007.
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Interest Expense
2008 COMPARED TO 2007
Interest expense decreased by $21 million (11 percent) to $163 mil-
lion in 2008 compared to $184 million in 2007. The decrease in
interest expense compared to the prior year reflected a charge of
$13 million for interest on the excise taxes associated with the
ESOP settlement in 2007. Interest expense associated with com-
mercial paper and our Credit Facility decreased in 2008 reflecting 
a reduction in the amount of commercial paper outstanding, lower
interest rates on commercial paper, and increased borrowings
under the Credit Facility with a lower interest rate. As a result, year-
over-year interest expense was lower by $7 million. We also benefit-
ted from a $15 million decrease in interest costs associated with
various programs that we operate on behalf of owners (including
our Marriott Rewards, gift certificates, and self-insurance programs)
as a result of lower interest rates, a $6 million favorable variance to
the prior year for higher capitalized interest associated with con-
struction projects, and the maturity of our Series E Senior Notes in
early 2008 yielding a $6 million favorable variance to the prior year.
The write-off of $2 million of deferred financing costs in 2007 related
to the refinancing of our revolving credit agreement resulted in a
favorable variance in 2008. These favorable variances to the prior
year were partially offset by the impact of the Series I and Series J
Senior Notes issuances, which occurred in the second half of 2007
that increased our interest expense in 2008 by $30 million.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
Interest expense increased by $60 million (48 percent) to $184 million
for 2007 from $124 million in 2006. Of the $60 million increase over
2006, $78 million was due to: $26 million of higher interest reflecting
a higher outstanding commercial paper balance, primarily due to
increased share repurchases and the ESOP settlement payments,
and related interest rates; $25 million of interest associated with our
Series H Senior Notes issuance, which occurred late in 2006 and 
our Series I and Series J Senior Notes issuances, which occurred in
2007; a charge of $13 million in 2007 related to the ESOP settlement;
charges totaling $53 million and $46 million in 2007 and 2006,
respectively, relating to interest on accumulated cash inflows in
advance of our cash outflows for various programs that we operate
on the owners’ behalf (including our Marriott Rewards, gift certificates,
and self-insurance programs); interest totaling $5 million associated
with other additional debt; and the write-off of $2 million of deferred
financing costs associated with the refinancing of our revolving credit
agreement in 2007. See Footnote No. 2, “Income Taxes,” for addi-
tional information on the ESOP settlement. The increase in interest on
the programs we operate on behalf of the owners over the year-ago
period is attributable to higher liability balances and higher interest
rates. Partially offsetting the $78 million interest expense increases
over 2006 was an $18 million favorable variance to last year for
higher capitalized interest associated with construction projects.

Interest Income, Provision for Loan Losses, and
Income Tax
2008 COMPARED TO 2007
Interest income, before the provision for loan losses, increased by 
$1 million (3 percent) to $39 million from $38 million in the prior year.

The provision for loan losses increased by $3 million (18 percent) to
$20 million from $17 million in the prior year. The increase reflected pro-
visions recorded in 2008 including a $22 million provision on a fully
impaired loan (see the “Other Charges” section of Footnote No. 20,
“Restructuring Costs and Other Charges,” for more information) and a
$3 million loan loss provision associated with one property. The unfa-
vorable variance associated with the 2008 provisions was mostly offset
by favorable variances associated with a $12 million provision recorded
in 2007, related to one property, a $5 million provision recorded in 2007

to write off the remaining exposure associated with our investment in a
Delta Airlines lease, and the reversal of $5 million of provisions in 2008
related to two previously impaired loans that were repaid. For additional
information regarding the Delta Airlines lease investment write-off, see
the “Investment in Leveraged Lease” caption later in this report.

Our tax provision decreased by $91 million (21 percent) to 
$350 million in 2008 from a tax provision of $441 million in 2007 and
reflected the impact associated with lower pretax income in 2008, a
2007 charge for a German legislative tax change, and $6 million of
taxes in 2007 associated with additional interest on the ESOP set-
tlement. This decrease was partially offset by $39 million in higher
deferred compensation costs in 2008 and a higher tax rate in 2008.
The higher 2008 tax rate reflected: (1) $29 million of income tax
expense primarily related to an unfavorable U.S. Court of Federal
Claims decision involving a refund claim associated with a 1994 tax
planning transaction; (2) $19 million of income tax expense due pri-
marily to prior years’ tax adjustments, including a settlement with
the IRS that resulted in a lower than expected refund of taxes asso-
ciated with a 1995 leasing transaction; and (3) $24 million of income
tax expense related to the tax treatment of funds received from cer-
tain foreign subsidiaries that is in ongoing discussions with the IRS.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
Interest income, before the provision for loan losses, decreased by
$11 million (22 percent) to $38 million in 2007 from $49 million in
2006, primarily reflecting lower interest income associated with
loans that have been repaid to us, partially offset by the impact
associated with new loan fundings.

Loan loss provisions increased by $20 million versus the prior
year primarily reflecting a $12 million charge associated with one
property and a $5 million charge to write off our remaining exposure
associated with our investment in a Delta Airlines lease versus loan
loss reversals of $3 million in 2006. For additional information
regarding the Delta Airlines lease investment write-off, see the
“Investment in Leveraged Lease” caption later in this report.

Our tax provision increased by $61 million (16 percent) to 
$441 million in 2007 from a tax provision of $380 million in 2006 and
reflected higher pretax income from our Lodging and Timeshare
segments as well as a higher tax rate in 2007, primarily reflecting
both increased taxes associated with our international operations
and a less favorable mix of taxable earnings between countries.
Increased taxes also reflect a charge for a German legislative tax
change in 2007, which had a one-time impact and $6 million of
taxes in 2007 associated with additional interest on the ESOP set-
tlement. See Footnote No. 2, “Income Taxes,” for additional infor-
mation on the ESOP settlement.

Equity in Earnings (Losses)
2008 COMPARED TO 2007
Equity in earnings of $15 million in 2008 was unchanged from earn-
ings of $15 million in 2007 and primarily reflected $14 million of
increased earnings from a joint venture, which sold portfolio assets in
2008 and had significant associated gains, $10 million of favorable
variances for three joint ventures that experienced losses due to start-
up costs in the prior year, and $5 million of increased earnings from
an international segment joint venture primarily reflecting insurance
proceeds received by that joint venture in 2008, partially offset by an
unfavorable $11 million impact associated with tax law changes in a
country in which two international joint ventures operate, an impair-
ment charge of $9 million associated with one Luxury segment joint
venture under development, and a $7 million impact related to con-
tract cancellation allowances recorded at one Timeshare segment
joint venture (see the “Other Charges” section of Footnote No. 20,
“Restructuring Costs and Other Charges,” for more information on
the impairment and contract cancellation allowances).
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2007 COMPARED TO 2006
Equity in earnings increased by $12 million to earnings of $15 mil-
lion from $3 million in 2006 and reflected the mix of investments,
compared to 2006, and stronger results at several joint ventures
reflecting the strong lodging demand environment in 2007, for one
joint venture, the reopening of a hotel, late in 2006, in Mexico,
which had been closed following a hurricane in 2005 and strong
demand in 2007 for our timeshare products in Hawaii.

Minority Interest
2008 COMPARED TO 2007
Minority interest increased by $14 million in 2008 to a $15 million
benefit. The minority interest benefit of $15 million is net of tax and
reflected our partners’ share of losses totaling $24 million associ-
ated with joint ventures we consolidate net of our partners’ share 
of tax benefits of $9 million associated with the losses.

Income from Continuing Operations
2008 COMPARED TO 2007
Compared to the prior year, income from continuing operations
decreased by $338 million (48 percent) to $359 million in 2008, and
diluted earnings per share from continuing operations decreased by
$0.77 (44 percent) to $0.98. As discussed in more detail in the pre-
ceding sections beginning with “Operating Income,” the decrease
versus the prior year was due to lower Timeshare sales and services
revenue net of direct expenses ($261 million), lower gains and other
income ($59 million), lower incentive management fees ($58 million),
restructuring costs recorded in 2008 ($55 million), lower owned,
leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses
($41 million), higher general, administrative, and other expenses 
($15 million), and higher provision for loan losses ($3 million). Partially
offsetting these unfavorable variances were lower income taxes 
($91 million), higher base management and franchise fees ($27 mil-
lion), lower interest expense ($21 million), a higher minority interest
benefit ($14 million), and higher interest income ($1 million).

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
Compared to 2006, income from continuing operations decreased
by $15 million (2 percent) to $697 million in 2007, and diluted earn-
ings per share from continuing operations increased by $0.10 
(6 percent) to $1.75. As discussed in more detail in the preceding
sections beginning with “Operating Income,” the decrease versus
the prior year is due to higher general, administrative, and other
expenses ($91 million), higher taxes ($61 million), higher interest
expense ($60 million), higher loan loss provision ($20 million), lower
interest income ($11 million), lower Timeshare sales and services
revenue net of direct expenses ($7 million), and lower owned,
leased, corporate housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses
($5 million). Partially offsetting these unfavorable variances were
higher fee income ($204 million), higher gains and other income
($23 million), higher equity investment results ($12 million), and a
higher minority interest benefit ($1 million).

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle
2006
Statement of Position 04-2, “Accounting for Real Estate Time-
Sharing Transactions”
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 152,
“Accounting for Real Estate Time-Sharing Transactions-an amend-
ment of FASB Statements No. 66 and 67,” and the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued SOP 04-2. Addition-
ally, the FASB amended FAS No. 66, “Accounting for Sales of Real

Estate,” and FAS No. 67, “Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental
Operations of Real Estate Projects,” to exclude accounting for real
estate time-sharing transactions from these statements. We
adopted SOP 04-2 at the beginning of the 2006 first quarter.

Under SOP 04-2, we charge the majority of sales and marketing
costs we incur to sell timeshares to expense when incurred. We
also record an estimate of expected uncollectibility on notes receiv-
able that we receive from timeshare purchasers as a reduction in
revenue at the time that we recognize profit on a timeshare sale.
We also account for rental and other operations during holding peri-
ods as incidental operations, which require us to record any excess
of revenues over costs as a reduction of inventory costs.

The adoption of SOP 04-2 in 2006, which we reported as 
a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle in our
Consolidated Statements of Income, resulted in a non-cash after-
tax charge of $109 million ($0.25 per diluted share). The pretax
charge totaled $173 million and comprised a $130 million inventory
write-down, the establishment of a $25 million notes receivable
reserve and an increase in current liabilities of $18 million.

We estimate that, for the 20-year period from 2009 through 2028,
the cost of completing improvements and currently planned amenities
for our owned timeshare properties will be approximately $3.5 billion.

Business Segments
We are a diversified hospitality company with operations in five busi-
ness segments:

3 North American Full-Service Lodging, which includes the
Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Marriott Conference Centers, 
JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels & Resorts,
and Renaissance ClubSport properties located in the conti-
nental United States and Canada;

3 North American Limited-Service Lodging, which includes
the Courtyard, Fairfield Inn, SpringHill Suites, Residence Inn,
TownePlace Suites, and Marriott ExecuStay properties
located in the continental United States and Canada;

3 International Lodging, which includes the Marriott Hotels &
Resorts, JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels &
Resorts, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn, Residence Inn, and Marriott
Executive Apartments properties located outside the conti-
nental United States and Canada;

3 Luxury Lodging, which includes The Ritz-Carlton and Bulgari
Hotels & Resorts properties worldwide (together with adja-
cent residential projects associated with some Ritz-Carlton
hotels), as well as Edition, for which no properties are yet
open; and

3 Timeshare, which includes the development, marketing,
operation, and sale of Marriott Vacation Club, The Ritz-Carlton
Club and Residences, Grand Residences by Marriott, and
Horizons by Marriott Vacation Club timeshare, fractional own-
ership, and residential properties worldwide.

In addition to the segments above, in 2007 we exited the syn-
thetic fuel business, which was formerly a separate segment but
which we now report under discontinued operations.

We evaluate the performance of our segments based primarily on
the results of the segment without allocating corporate expenses,
interest expense, income taxes, or indirect general, administrative, and
other expenses. With the exception of the Timeshare segment, we do
not allocate interest income to our segments. Because note sales are
an integral part of the Timeshare segment, we include note sale gains
in our Timeshare segment results. We also include interest income
associated with our Timeshare segment notes in our Timeshare
segment results because financing sales are an integral part of that
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Total Lodging Products
Properties Rooms

U.S. Non-U.S. Total U.S. Non-U.S. Total

North American Full-Service Lodging Segment (1)

Marriott Hotels & Resorts 317 12 329 124,425 4,558 128,983
Marriott Conference Centers 11 — 11 3,133 — 3,133
JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts 15 1 16 7,901 221 8,122
Renaissance Hotels & Resorts 74 3 77 27,425 1,034 28,459
Renaissance ClubSport 2 — 2 349 — 349

419 16 435 163,233 5,813 169,046

North American Limited-Service Lodging Segment (1)

Courtyard 728 16 744 101,743 2,847 104,590
Fairfield Inn 560 8 568 49,678 903 50,581
SpringHill Suites 207 1 208 24,027 124 24,151
Residence Inn 555 17 572 66,252 2,590 68,842
TownePlace Suites 163 — 163 16,328 — 16,328

2,213 42 2,255 258,028 6,464 264,492

International Lodging Segment (1)

Marriott Hotels & Resorts 4 145 149 2,767 40,851 43,618
JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts 1 25 26 387 8,987 9,374
Renaissance Hotels & Resorts — 62 62 — 20,581 20,581
Courtyard — 64 64 — 12,668 12,668
Fairfield Inn — 1 1 — 206 206
Residence Inn — 1 1 — 75 75
Marriott Executive Apartments — 20 20 — 3,217 3,217

5 318 323 3,154 86,585 89,739

Luxury Lodging Segment
The Ritz-Carlton 37 33 70 11,629 10,204 21,833
Bulgari Hotels & Resorts — 2 2 — 117 117
The Ritz-Carlton-Residential (2) 22 1 23 2,176 93 2,269
The Ritz-Carlton Serviced Apartments — 3 3 — 478 478

59 39 98 13,805 10,892 24,697

Timeshare Segment (3)

Marriott Vacation Club 39 10 49 9,282 2,071 11,353
The Ritz-Carlton Club-Fractional 7 3 10 339 117 456
The Ritz-Carlton Club-Residential (2) 2 1 3 138 10 148
Grand Residences by Marriott-Fractional 1 1 2 199 42 241
Grand Residences by Marriott-Residential (1), (2) 1 — 1 65 — 65
Horizons by Marriott Vacation Club 2 — 2 444 — 444

52 15 67 10,467 2,240 12,707

Total 2,748 430 3,178 448,687 111,994 560,681

(1) North American includes properties located in the continental United States and Canada. International includes properties located outside the continental United States 
and Canada.

(2) Represents projects where we manage the related owners’ association. Residential products are included once they possess a certificate of occupancy.
(3) Includes resorts that are in active sales as well as those that are sold out. Products in active sales may not be ready for occupancy.
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segment’s business. Additionally, we allocate other gains and losses,
equity in earnings or losses from our joint ventures, divisional general,
administrative, and other expenses, and minority interests in income or
losses of consolidated subsidiaries to each of our segments. “Other
unallocated corporate” represents that portion of our revenues, gen-
eral, administrative, and other expenses, equity in earnings or losses,
and other gains or losses that are not allocable to our segments.

We aggregate the brands presented within our North American
Full-Service, North American Limited-Service, International, Luxury,

and Timeshare segments considering their similar economic charac-
teristics, types of customers, distribution channels, the regulatory
business environment of the brands and operations within each seg-
ment and our organizational and management reporting structure.

Total Lodging and Timeshare Products by Segment
At year-end 2008, we operated or franchised the following proper-
ties by segment (excluding 2,332 corporate housing rental units
associated with our ExecuStay brand):



Revenues

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $ 5,631 $ 5,476 $ 5,196

North American Limited-Service 
Segment 2,233 2,198 2,060

International Segment 1,544 1,594 1,411
Luxury Segment 1,659 1,576 1,423
Timeshare Segment 1,750 2,065 1,840

Total segment revenues 12,817 12,909 11,930
Other unallocated corporate 62 81 65

$12,879 $12,990 $11,995

Income from Continuing Operations

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $ 419 $ 478 $ 455

North American Limited-Service 
Segment 395 461 380

International Segment 246 271 237
Luxury Segment 78 72 63
Timeshare Segment 28 306 280

Total segment financial results 1,166 1,588 1,415
Other unallocated corporate (304) (287) (251)
Interest income, provision for loan 

losses, and interest expense (144) (163) (72)
Income taxes (359) (441) (380)

$ 359 $ 697 $ 712

We allocate net minority interest in losses of consolidated sub-
sidiaries to our segments. Accordingly, as of year-end 2008, we
allocated net minority interest in losses of consolidated subsidiaries
as reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Income as shown in
the following table:

Minority Interest

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $— $— $ 1

International Segment (1) (1) (1)
Luxury Segment — 1 —
Timeshare Segment 25 1 —

Total segment minority interest 24 1 —
Provision for income taxes (9) — —

$15 $ 1 $—

Equity in Earnings (Losses) of Equity Method Investees

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $ 3 $ 3 $ 2

North American Limited-Service 
Segment — 2 —

International Segment (2) 3 —
Luxury Segment (12) (4) (2)
Timeshare Segment 11 10 (2)

Total segment equity in 
earnings (losses) — 14 (2)

Other unallocated corporate 15 1 5

$15 $15 $ 3

Our business includes our North American Full-Service, North
American Limited-Service, International, Luxury, and Timeshare
segments. We consider total segment revenues and total segment
financial results to be meaningful indicators of our performance
because they measure our growth in profitability and enable
investors to compare the revenues and results of our operations 
to those of other lodging companies.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007
We added 215 properties (32,842 rooms) and 42 properties 
(7,525 rooms) exited the system in 2008, not including residential
products. We also added six residential properties (567 units) in 2008.

Total segment financial results decreased by $422 million 
(27 percent) to $1,166 million in 2008 from $1,588 million in the
prior year, and total segment revenues decreased by $92 million 
to $12,817 million in 2008, a 1 percent decrease from revenues of
$12,909 million in 2007. While demand was weaker in 2008 com-
pared to 2007, international and full-service properties experienced
stronger demand than luxury and limited-service properties. The
decrease in revenues included a $259 million increase in cost reim-
bursements revenue, which does not impact operating income or
net income. The results, compared to the year-ago period, reflected
a decrease of $261 million in Timeshare sales and services revenue
net of direct expenses, $58 million of lower incentive management
fees, $51 million of increased general, administrative, and other
expenses, a decrease of $37 million in gains and other income, 
$29 million of restructuring costs recorded in 2008, a decrease of
$22 million in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue
net of direct expenses, and $14 million of lower equity joint venture
results. These unfavorable variances were partially offset by a $27 mil-
lion (3 percent) increase in combined base management and fran-
chise fees to $1,086 million in the 2008 period from $1,059 million
in 2007 and a $23 million increase in minority interest benefit.

Higher RevPAR for comparable rooms, resulting from rate
increases in international markets, and new unit growth drove the
increase in base management and franchise fees. The $27 million
increase in combined base management and franchise fees also
reflected the impact of both base management fees totaling $6 mil-
lion in 2007 from business interruption insurance proceeds and 
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$13 million of lower franchise relicensing fees in 2008. Compared to
2007, incentive management fees decreased by $58 million (16 per-
cent) in 2008 and reflected the recognition in 2007 of $17 million of
incentive management fees that were calculated based on prior
periods’ results, but not earned and due until 2007. Furthermore,
incentive management fees for 2007 also included $13 million of
business interruption insurance proceeds, also associated with hur-
ricanes in prior years. The decrease in incentive management fees
also reflected lower property-level profitability due to lower RevPAR,
higher property-level wages and benefits costs, and utilities costs,
particularly in North America. In 2008, 56 percent of our managed
properties paid incentive management fees to us versus 67 percent
in 2007. In addition, in 2008, 49 percent of our incentive fees were
derived from international hotels versus 35 percent in 2007.

Systemwide RevPAR, which includes data from our franchised
properties, in addition to our owned, leased, and managed proper-
ties, for comparable North American properties decreased by 
2.7 percent and RevPAR for our comparable North American 
company-operated properties decreased by 2.9 percent.

Systemwide RevPAR for comparable international properties
increased by 3.6 percent, and RevPAR for comparable international
company-operated properties increased by 3.3 percent. Worldwide
RevPAR for comparable systemwide properties decreased by 1.5 per-
cent (0.8 percent using actual dollars) while worldwide RevPAR for
comparable company-operated properties decreased by 1.1 per-
cent (0.2 percent using actual dollars).

Compared to the year-ago period, worldwide comparable 
company-operated house profit margins in 2008 decreased by 
70 basis points, reflecting the impact of stronger year-over-year
RevPAR associated with international properties and very tight cost
control plans in 2008 at properties in our system, more than offset
by the impact of year-over-year RevPAR decreases associated with
properties in North America reflecting weaker demand and also
higher expenses in North America primarily due to increased utilities
and payroll costs. North American company-operated house profit
margins declined by 140 basis points reflecting significant cost
control plans at properties, more than offset by the impact of
decreased demand and higher operating costs, including those
associated with wages and benefits and utilities. For 2008, house
profit per available room (“HP-PAR”) at our North American man-
aged properties decreased by 5.8 percent. HP-PAR at our North
American limited-service managed properties decreased by 
8.0 percent, and worldwide HP-PAR for all our brands increased 
by 2.6 percent on a constant U.S. dollar basis.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
We added 203 properties (29,200 rooms) and 55 properties 
(9,722 rooms) exited the system in 2007, not including residential
products. We also added three residential properties (347 units) 
in 2007.

Total segment financial results increased by $173 million (12 per-
cent) to $1,588 million in 2007 from $1,415 million in 2006, and
total segment revenues increased by $979 million to $12,909 million
in 2007, an 8 percent increase from revenues of $11,930 million in
2006. The results, compared to the prior year, reflect a $204 million
(17 percent) increase in combined base management, franchise,
and incentive management fees to $1,428 million in 2007 from
$1,224 million in 2006, a $16 million increase in earnings associ-
ated with equity investments, and a $1 million minority interest ben-
efit. Partially offsetting these favorable variances was a decrease of
$18 million in owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue
net of direct expenses, $13 million of increased general, administra-
tive, and other expenses, a decrease of $10 million in gains and
other income, and a decrease of $7 million in Timeshare sales and
services revenue net of direct expenses.

Higher RevPAR for comparable rooms, resulting from both
domestic and international rate increases, higher property-level food
and beverage and other revenue, and new unit growth, drove the
increase in base management and franchise fees. In 2006, we rec-
ognized $5 million of base management fees that were calculated
based on prior periods’ results, but not earned and due until 2006,
versus no similar fees in 2007. Incentive management fees increased
by $88 million (31 percent) during 2007, reflecting the impact of
strong room rate increases and property-level margin improvements
associated with productivity improvements. Incentive management
fees included $17 million and $10 million for 2007 and 2006,
respectively, that were calculated based on prior periods’ earnings,
but not earned and due until the periods in which they were recog-
nized. Furthermore, incentive management fees for 2007 also
included $13 million of business interruption insurance proceeds
associated with hurricanes in prior years and base management
fees included $6 million and $1 million of business interruption
insurance proceeds, also associated with hurricanes in prior years,
received in 2007 and 2006, respectively. In 2007, 67 percent of our
managed properties paid incentive management fees to us versus
62 percent in 2006.

Systemwide RevPAR for comparable North American properties
increased by 6.0 percent over 2006, and RevPAR for our compara-
ble North American company-operated properties increased by 
6.2 percent over 2006.
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Systemwide RevPAR for comparable international properties
increased by 8.4 percent, and RevPAR for comparable international
company-operated properties increased by 8.9 percent. Worldwide
RevPAR for comparable systemwide properties increased by 6.5 per-
cent (7.6 percent using actual dollars) while worldwide RevPAR for
comparable company-operated properties increased by 7.0 percent
(8.8 percent using actual dollars).

Compared to 2006, 2007 worldwide comparable company-
operated house profit margins increased by 150 basis points, while
North American company-operated house profit margins improved
by 160 basis points versus 2006. For 2007, compared to 2006,
HP-PAR at our full-service managed properties in North America
increased by 10.6 percent. HP-PAR at our North American limited-
service managed properties increased by 8.9 percent, and world-
wide HP-PAR for all our brands increased by 11.0 percent on a
constant dollar basis.

Lodging Development
We opened 215 properties, totaling 32,842 rooms, across our
brands in 2008 and 42 properties (7,525 rooms) left the system, not
including residential products. We also added six residential proper-
ties (567 units). Highlights of the year included:

3 Converting 31 properties (6,439 rooms), or 19 percent of 
our gross room additions for the year, from other brands, 
and 12 percent of those rooms were located in interna-
tional markets;

3 Opening approximately 24 percent of all the new rooms out-
side the United States;

3 Adding 168 properties (19,747 rooms) to our North American
Limited-Service brands; and

3 Opening one new Marriott Vacation Club property in Asia on
the island of Phuket, Thailand.

We currently have more than 125,000 hotel rooms under con-
struction, awaiting conversion, or approved for development in our
hotel development pipeline and we expect to add over 30,000 hotel
rooms to our system in 2009.

Recent events, including failures and near failures of a number of
large financial service companies, have made the capital markets
increasingly volatile. Accordingly, given the difficult lending environ-
ment, the Company, owners or franchisees may decide to reevaluate
continuing some of the projects included in the development pipeline.
While the company has invested in few of its pipeline projects, possi-
ble delays, cancellations, or financial restructurings of projects under
development could have a negative impact on our financial results.

We believe that we have access to sufficient financial resources
to finance our growth, as well as to support our ongoing operations
and meet debt service and other cash requirements. Nonetheless,
our ability to sell properties that we develop and the ability of hotel
developers to build or acquire new Marriott-branded properties,
both of which are important parts of our growth plan, depend in
part on capital access, availability and cost for other hotel develop-
ers and third-party owners. These growth plans are subject to
numerous risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our
control. See the “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risks and
Uncertainties” captions earlier in this report and the “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” caption later in this report.

Statistics
The following tables show occupancy, average daily rate, and
RevPAR for comparable properties, for each of the brands in our
North American Full-Service and North American Limited-Service
segments, for our International segment by region, and the principal
brand in our Luxury segment, The Ritz-Carlton. We have not pre-
sented statistics for company-operated Fairfield Inn properties in
these tables because we operate only a limited number of proper-
ties, as the brand is predominantly franchised, and such information
would not be meaningful (identified as “nm” in the tables that fol-
low). Systemwide statistics include data from our franchised proper-
ties, in addition to our owned, leased, and managed properties.

The occupancy, average daily rate, and RevPAR statistics 
used throughout this report for 2008 include the 53 weeks from
December 29, 2007, through January 2, 2009, the statistics for
2007 include the 52 weeks from December 30, 2006, through
December 28, 2007, and the statistics for 2006 include the period
from December 31, 2005, through December 29, 2006 (except in
each case, for The Ritz-Carlton brand properties and properties
located outside of the continental United States and Canada, which
for them includes the period from
January 1 through December 31 for
each year).

The adjacent graph shows
RevPAR for North American
Comparable Company-Operated
“Composite North American”
properties (which includes our
Marriott Hotels & Resorts,
Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, The
Ritz-Carlton, Courtyard, Residence
Inn, TownePlace Suites, Fairfield Inn
and SpringHill Suites brands) for the
last five fiscal years:
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Comparable Company- Comparable
Operated North Systemwide North 

American Properties (1) American Properties (1)

2008 Change vs. 2007 2008 Change vs. 2007

MARRIOTT HOTELS & RESORTS (2)

Occupancy 70.5% —2.1% pts. 68.0% —2.5% pts.
Average Daily Rate $178.24 1.3% $163.37 1.4%
RevPAR $125.69 —1.6% $111.02 —2.2%

RENAISSANCE HOTELS & RESORTS

Occupancy 69.4% —1.4% pts. 68.9% —1.7% pts.
Average Daily Rate $167.17 0.4% $155.35 0.3%
RevPAR $116.05 —1.5% $107.08 —2.1%

COMPOSITE NORTH AMERICAN FULL-SERVICE (3)

Occupancy 70.3% —2.0% pts. 68.1% —2.3% pts.
Average Daily Rate $176.30 1.2% $162.07 1.2%
RevPAR $123.98 —1.6% $110.38 —2.2%

THE RITZ-CARLTON NORTH AMERICA

Occupancy 68.6% —3.1% pts. 68.6% —3.1% pts.
Average Daily Rate $335.52 —0.4% $335.52 —0.4%
RevPAR $230.13 —4.7% $230.13 —4.7%

COMPOSITE NORTH AMERICAN FULL-SERVICE AND LUXURY (4)

Occupancy 70.2% —2.1% pts. 68.1% —2.4% pts.
Average Daily Rate $190.29 0.7% $171.24 0.9%
RevPAR $133.52 —2.2% $116.67 —2.5%

RESIDENCE INN

Occupancy 74.8% —2.2% pts. 75.4% —2.0% pts.
Average Daily Rate $126.06 0.2% $125.62 1.5%
RevPAR $ 94.32 —2.7% $ 94.70 —1.1%

COURTYARD

Occupancy 67.0% —2.8% pts. 68.3% —2.7% pts.
Average Daily Rate $127.86 —1.0% $126.01 0.4%
RevPAR $ 85.71 —4.9% $ 86.07 —3.4%

FAIRFIELD INN

Occupancy nm nm 66.2% —3.9% pts.
Average Daily Rate nm nm $ 91.75 2.1%
RevPAR nm nm $ 60.78 —3.5%

TOWNEPLACE SUITES

Occupancy 68.7% —4.7% pts. 69.4% —3.4% pts.
Average Daily Rate $ 87.46 1.0% $ 89.22 1.3%
RevPAR $ 60.12 —5.4% $ 61.88 —3.4%

SPRINGHILL SUITES

Occupancy 69.1% —2.9% pts. 68.8% —3.2% pts.
Average Daily Rate $109.00 0.2% $108.78 0.9%
RevPAR $ 75.29 —3.8% $ 74.85 —3.6%

COMPOSITE NORTH AMERICAN LIMITED-SERVICE (5)

Occupancy 69.4% —2.7% pts. 69.9% —2.8% pts.
Average Daily Rate $123.69 —0.5% $116.29 1.2%
RevPAR $ 85.83 —4.2% $ 81.24 —2.8%

COMPOSITE NORTH AMERICAN (6)

Occupancy 69.8% —2.4% pts. 69.2% —2.7% pts.
Average Daily Rate $160.85 0.4% $137.36 1.1%
RevPAR $112.31 —2.9% $ 95.04 —2.7%

(1) Statistics are for the fifty-three and fifty-two weeks ended January 2, 2009, and December 28,
2007, respectively, except for Ritz-Carlton for which the statistics are for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2008, and December 31, 2007.

(2) Marriott Hotels & Resorts includes JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts.
(3) Composite North American Full-Service statistics include Marriott Hotels & Resorts and

Renaissance Hotels & Resorts properties located in the continental United States and Canada.
(4) Composite North American Full-Service and Luxury includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts,

Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, and Ritz-Carlton.
(5) Composite North American Limited-Service statistics include Residence Inn, Courtyard,

Fairfield Inn, TownePlace Suites, and SpringHill Suites properties located in the continental
United States and Canada.

(6) Composite North American statistics include Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels &
Resorts, Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn, TownePlace Suites, SpringHill Suites, and
The Ritz-Carlton properties located in the continental United States and Canada.

Comparable Company- Comparable 
Operated Properties (1) Systemwide Properties (1)

2008 Change vs. 2007 2008 Change vs. 2007

CARIBBEAN AND LATIN AMERICA (2)

Occupancy 74.1% —0.9% pts. 70.4% —1.6% pts.
Average Daily Rate $195.63 11.6% $179.94 9.8%
RevPAR $145.05 10.2% $126.71 7.4%

CONTINENTAL EUROPE (2)

Occupancy 71.0% —3.3% pts. 69.8% —2.1% pts.
Average Daily Rate $203.88 5.9% $207.79 7.4%
RevPAR $144.82 1.2% $144.97 4.4%

UNITED KINGDOM (2)

Occupancy 74.8% —2.0% pts. 74.2% —2.3% pts.
Average Daily Rate $175.32 1.3% $174.06 1.4%
RevPAR $131.15 —1.4% $129.09 —1.7%

MIDDLE EAST AND AFRICA (2)

Occupancy 75.4% 2.5% pts. 75.4% 2.5% pts.
Average Daily Rate $165.72 10.6% $165.72 10.6%
RevPAR $125.01 14.4% $125.01 14.4%

ASIA PACIFIC (2), (3)

Occupancy 70.6% —4.0% pts. 71.0% —3.9% pts.
Average Daily Rate $155.27 5.5% $157.13 4.7%
RevPAR $109.65 —0.2% $111.52 —0.8%

REGIONAL COMPOSITE (4), (5)

Occupancy 72.5% —2.4% pts. 71.4% —2.2% pts.
Average Daily Rate $180.81 6.0% $181.02 6.3%
RevPAR $131.00 2.6% $129.21 3.1%

INTERNATIONAL LUXURY (6)

Occupancy 69.8% —0.5% pts. 69.8% —0.5% pts.
Average Daily Rate $315.83 7.4% $315.83 7.4%
RevPAR $220.60 6.6% $220.60 6.6%

TOTAL INTERNATIONAL (7)

Occupancy 72.2% —2.2% pts. 71.2% —2.1% pts.
Average Daily Rate $195.65 6.5% $193.29 6.7%
RevPAR $141.18 3.3% $137.69 3.6%

(1) We report financial results for all properties on a period-end basis, but report statistics for
properties located outside the continental United States and Canada on a month-end basis.
The statistics are for January through December. For the properties located in countries that
use currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the comparison to 2007 was on a constant U.S.
dollar basis.

(2) Regional information includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, and
Courtyard properties located outside of the continental United States and Canada.

(3) Excludes Hawaii.
(4) Includes Hawaii.
(5) Regional Composite statistics include all properties located outside of the continental United

States and Canada for Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, and
Courtyard.

(6) Includes The Ritz-Carlton properties located outside of North America and Bulgari Hotels &
Resorts.

(7) Total International includes Regional Composite statistics and statistics for The Ritz-Carlton
International and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts.

Comparable Company- Comparable 
Operated Properties (1) Systemwide Properties (1)

2008 Change vs. 2007 2008 Change vs. 2007

COMPOSITE LUXURY (2)

Occupancy 69.2% —1.9% pts. 69.2% —1.9% pts.
Average Daily Rate $326.63 2.7% $326.63 2.7%
RevPAR $225.87 —0.1% $225.87 —0.1%

TOTAL WORLDWIDE (3)

Occupancy 70.4% —2.3% pts. 69.5% —2.6% pts.
Average Daily Rate $170.20 2.1% $146.02 2.2%
RevPAR $119.88 —1.1% $101.48 —1.5%

(1) We report financial results for all properties on a period-end basis, but report statistics for
properties located outside the continental United States and Canada on a month-end basis.
For the properties located in countries that use currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the com-
parison to 2007 was on a constant U.S. dollar basis.

(2) Composite Luxury includes worldwide properties for The Ritz-Carlton and Bulgari Hotels &
Resorts.

(3) Total Worldwide statistics include all properties worldwide for Marriott Hotels & Resorts,
Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn, TownePlace Suites,
SpringHill Suites, and The Ritz-Carlton. Statistics for properties located in the continental
United States and Canada (except for The Ritz-Carlton) represent the fifty-three and fifty-two
weeks ended January 2, 2009, and December 28, 2007, respectively. Statistics for all The Ritz-
Carlton brand properties and properties located outside of the continental United States and
Canada represent the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, and December 31, 2007.
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Comparable Company- Comparable
Operated North Systemwide North 

American Properties (1) American Properties (1)

2007 Change vs. 2006 2007 Change vs. 2006

MARRIOTT HOTELS & RESORTS (2)

Occupancy 72.6% 1.0% pts. 70.8% 0.6% pts.
Average Daily Rate $175.41 5.4% $160.61 5.5%
RevPAR $127.43 6.9% $113.66 6.4%

RENAISSANCE HOTELS & RESORTS

Occupancy 73.1% 0.4% pts. 71.8% —0.4% pts.
Average Daily Rate $169.93 5.4% $157.29 5.8%
RevPAR $124.17 5.9% $112.96 5.1%

COMPOSITE NORTH AMERICAN FULL-SERVICE (3)

Occupancy 72.7% 0.9% pts. 70.9% 0.5% pts.
Average Daily Rate $174.54 5.4% $160.10 5.5%
RevPAR $126.92 6.8% $113.56 6.2%

THE RITZ-CARLTON NORTH AMERICA

Occupancy 72.3% 0.1% pts. 72.3% 0.1% pts.
Average Daily Rate $331.48 7.3% $331.48 7.3%
RevPAR $239.67 7.5% $239.67 7.5%

COMPOSITE NORTH AMERICAN FULL-SERVICE AND LUXURY (4)

Occupancy 72.7% 0.8% pts. 71.0% 0.4% pts.
Average Daily Rate $189.41 5.7% $169.92 5.7%
RevPAR $137.66 6.9% $120.65 6.4%

RESIDENCE INN

Occupancy 77.7% —0.5% pts. 78.2% —0.8% pts.
Average Daily Rate $124.24 4.6% $122.44 6.1%
RevPAR $ 96.53 3.9% $ 95.80 5.1%

COURTYARD

Occupancy 70.4% —0.4% pts. 72.1% —0.2% pts.
Average Daily Rate $127.34 5.6% $124.12 5.9%
RevPAR $ 89.69 4.9% $ 89.53 5.6%

FAIRFIELD INN

Occupancy nm nm 70.5% —0.3% pts.
Average Daily Rate nm nm $  88.19 7.2%
RevPAR nm nm $  62.17 6.7%

TOWNEPLACE SUITES

Occupancy 74.2% —1.1% pts. 73.5% —2.4% pts.
Average Daily Rate $ 85.65 8.9% $ 86.93 8.4%
RevPAR $ 63.56 7.2% $ 63.89 5.0%

SPRINGHILL SUITES

Occupancy 72.6% 0.6% pts. 73.2% —0.6% pts.
Average Daily Rate $107.86 4.2% $106.49 6.5%
RevPAR $ 78.27 5.0% $ 77.97 5.7%

COMPOSITE NORTH AMERICAN LIMITED-SERVICE (5)

Occupancy 72.7% —0.4% pts. 73.6% —0.5% pts.
Average Daily Rate $122.63 5.4% $113.34 6.3%
RevPAR $ 89.18 4.8% $ 83.37 5.6%

COMPOSITE NORTH AMERICAN (6)

Occupancy 72.7% 0.3% pts. 72.6% —0.2% pts.
Average Daily Rate $159.01 5.8% $134.62 6.2%
RevPAR $115.60 6.2% $ 97.70 6.0%

(1) Statistics are for the fifty-two weeks ended December 28, 2007, and December 29, 2006,
except for Ritz-Carlton for which the statistics are for the twelve months ended December 31,
2007, and December 31, 2006.

(2) Marriott Hotels & Resorts includes JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts.
(3) Composite North American Full-Service statistics include Marriott Hotels & Resorts and

Renaissance Hotels & Resorts properties located in the continental United States and Canada.
(4) Composite North American Full-Service and Luxury includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts,

Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, and Ritz-Carlton.
(5) Composite North American Limited-Service statistics include Residence Inn, Courtyard,

Fairfield Inn, TownePlace Suites, and SpringHill Suites properties located in the continental
United States and Canada.

(6) Composite North American statistics include Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels &
Resorts, Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn, TownePlace Suites, SpringHill Suites, and
The Ritz-Carlton properties located in the continental United States and Canada.

Comparable Company- Comparable 
Operated Properties (1) Systemwide Properties (1)

2007 Change vs. 2006 2007 Change vs. 2006

CARIBBEAN AND LATIN AMERICA (2)

Occupancy 76.5% 2.4% pts. 74.8% 2.8% pts.
Average Daily Rate $167.56 9.2% $156.76 7.5%
RevPAR $128.25 12.7% $117.20 11.7%

CONTINENTAL EUROPE (2)

Occupancy 74.4% 1.3% pts. 72.0% 1.2% pts.
Average Daily Rate $173.92 5.8% $174.93 5.4%
RevPAR $129.34 7.7% $126.01 7.3%

UNITED KINGDOM (2)

Occupancy 77.8% 0.1% pts. 77.4% 0.3% pts.
Average Daily Rate $203.27 5.2% $200.65 4.7%
RevPAR $158.08 5.2% $155.27 5.1%

MIDDLE EAST AND AFRICA (2)

Occupancy 73.3% 4.8% pts. 72.4% 4.9% pts.
Average Daily Rate $135.74 9.1% $133.98 9.0%
RevPAR $ 99.57 16.8% $ 96.95 17.0%

ASIA PACIFIC (2), (3)

Occupancy 75.2% —0.8% pts. 75.3% —0.5% pts.
Average Daily Rate $147.79 8.9% $148.67 7.7%
RevPAR $111.15 7.8% $111.92 7.0%

REGIONAL COMPOSITE (4), (5)

Occupancy 75.7% 0.8% pts. 74.6% 1.0% pts.
Average Daily Rate $168.30 7.0% $166.03 6.3%
RevPAR $127.44 8.2% $123.78 7.8%

INTERNATIONAL LUXURY (6)

Occupancy 72.7% 4.0% pts. 72.7% 4.0% pts.
Average Daily Rate $292.24 6.1% $292.24 6.1%
RevPAR $212.54 12.2% $212.54 12.2%

TOTAL INTERNATIONAL (7)

Occupancy 75.4% 1.2% pts. 74.4% 1.3% pts.
Average Daily Rate $180.73 7.2% $176.57 6.6%
RevPAR $136.29 8.9% $131.36 8.4%

(1) We report financial results for all properties on a period-end basis, but report statistics for
properties located outside the continental United States and Canada on a month-end basis.
The statistics are for January through December. For the properties located in countries that
use currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the comparison to 2006 was on a constant U.S.
dollar basis.

(2) Regional information includes Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, and
Courtyard properties located outside of the continental United States and Canada.

(3) Excludes Hawaii.
(4) Includes Hawaii.
(5) Regional Composite statistics include all properties located outside of the continental United

States and Canada for Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, and Courtyard.
(6) Includes The Ritz-Carlton properties located outside of North America and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts.
(7) Total International includes Regional Composite statistics and statistics for The Ritz-Carlton

International and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts.

Comparable Company- Comparable 
Operated Properties (1) Systemwide Properties (1)

2007 Change vs. 2006 2007 Change vs. 2006

COMPOSITE LUXURY (2)

Occupancy 72.5% 1.8% pts. 72.5% 1.8% pts.
Average Daily Rate $314.36 6.6% $314.36 6.6%
RevPAR $227.87 9.4% $227.87 9.4%

TOTAL WORLDWIDE (3)

Occupancy 73.5% 0.5% pts. 72.9% 0.1% pts.
Average Daily Rate $165.19 6.2% $141.60 6.4%
RevPAR $121.34 7.0% $103.19 6.5%

(1) We report financial results for all properties on a period-end basis, but report statistics for
properties located outside the continental United States and Canada on a month-end basis.
For the properties located in countries that use currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the com-
parison to 2006 was on a constant U.S. dollar basis.

(2) Composite Luxury includes worldwide properties for The Ritz-Carlton and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts.
(3) Total Worldwide statistics include all properties worldwide for Marriott Hotels & Resorts,

Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, Residence Inn, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn, TownePlace Suites,
SpringHill Suites, and The Ritz-Carlton. Statistics for properties located in the continental
United States and Canada (except for The Ritz-Carlton) represent the fifty-two weeks ended
December 28, 2007, and December 29, 2006. Statistics for all The Ritz-Carlton brand proper-
ties and properties located outside of the continental United States and Canada represent the
twelve months ended December 31, 2007, and December 31, 2006.

NORTH AMERICAN FULL-SERVICE LODGING
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North American Full-Service Lodging includes Marriott Hotels &
Resorts, Marriott Conference Centers, JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts,
Renaissance Hotels & Resorts, and Renaissance ClubSport.

Annual Change

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008/2007 2007/2006

Segment revenues $5,631 $5,476 $5,196 3% 5%

Segment results $ 419 $ 478 $ 455 —12% 5%

2008 COMPARED TO 2007
In 2008, across our North American Full-Service Lodging segment,
we added 15 properties (4,611 rooms) and three properties 
(493 rooms) left the system.

In 2008, RevPAR for comparable company-operated North
American full-service properties decreased by 1.6 percent to $123.98,
occupancy decreased by 2.0 percentage points to 70.3 percent, and
average daily rates increased by 1.2 percent to $176.30.

The $59 million decrease in segment results, compared to 2007,
primarily reflected a $35 million decrease in incentive management
fees and a $25 million decrease in owned, leased, and other rev-
enue net of direct expenses, partially offset by a $2 million increase
in base management and franchise fees.

The $35 million decrease in incentive management fees was in
part due to the recognition, in 2007, of business interruption insur-
ance proceeds totaling $12 million associated with Hurricane
Katrina and also reflected lower demand and property-level margins
in 2008 compared to 2007. The slight increase of $2 million in base
management and franchise fees was a product of unit growth and
an additional week of sales, mostly offset by lower RevPAR.

The decrease in owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct
expenses of $25 million primarily reflected an unfavorable $7 million
impact associated with two properties undergoing renovations in
2008, $8 million of losses associated with three properties, one of
which was a new property that opened in 2008, $5 million of lower
contract termination fees received, $2 million of lower land rent
income, and an unfavorable $3 million impact associated with one
property that was sold in 2007 and is now a managed property.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
our North American Full-Service segment properties totaled 
$4,951 million in 2008, compared to $4,782 million in 2007.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
In 2007, across our North American Full-Service Lodging segment,
we added 13 properties (3,947 rooms) and six properties 
(2,853 rooms) left the system.

In 2007, RevPAR for comparable company-operated North
American full-service properties increased by 6.8 percent to $126.92,
occupancy increased by 0.9 percentage points to 72.7 percent, and
average daily rates increased by 5.4 percent to $174.54.

The $23 million increase in segment results compared to 2006
reflects a $65 million increase in base management, incentive man-
agement, and franchise fees, partially offset by a $22 million decline
in gains and other income and a $20 million decrease in owned,
leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses.

The $65 million increase in fees was largely due to stronger
RevPAR and property-level margins, driven primarily by rate increases
and productivity improvements. Incentive management fees for 2007
reflect the receipt of $12 million and base management fees for 2007
reflect the receipt of $2 million, both of which were for business inter-
ruption insurance proceeds associated with Hurricane Katrina, and

no similar fees in 2006. Additionally, 2006 reflected the recognition of
$3 million of base management fees that were calculated based on
prior periods’ results, but not earned and due until 2006, compared
to the recognition of no similar fees in 2007.

Gains and other income was $22 million lower in 2007, com-
pared to 2006, and reflected a $37 million charge in 2006 associ-
ated with a straight-line rent receivable, partially offset by the
redemption of preferred stock in a cost method investee that gener-
ated income of $25 million in 2006 and $34 million of lower other
gains in 2007, compared to 2006. The $34 million decrease in other
gains compared to the prior year reflects gains in 2006 associated
with the sale of joint venture investments and real estate, while
2007 reflects limited similar activity. Owned, leased, and other rev-
enue net of direct expenses decreased by $20 million and reflected
properties sold and $10 million of hotel management and franchise
agreement termination fees received in 2006, compared to $3 mil-
lion of such fees received in 2007. General, administrative, and
other expenses for 2007 were unchanged compared to 2006 pri-
marily reflecting $5 million of hotel management agreement per-
formance cure payments in 2006 offset by a guarantee charge in
2007 associated with one property and the write-off of a deferred
contract acquisition cost associated with another property that left
the system.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
our North American Full-Service segment properties totaled 
$4,782 million in 2007, compared to $4,527 million in 2006.

North American Limited-Service Lodging includes Courtyard,
Fairfield Inn, SpringHill Suites, Residence Inn, TownePlace Suites,
and Marriott ExecuStay.

Annual Change

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008/2007 2007/2006

Segment revenues $2,233 $2,198 $2,060 2% 7%

Segment results $ 395 $ 461 $ 380 —14% 21%

2008 COMPARED TO 2007
In 2008, across our North American Limited-Service Lodging seg-
ment, we added 168 properties (19,747 rooms) and 21 properties
(2,519 rooms) left the system. The properties that left the system
were primarily associated with our Fairfield Inn brand.

In 2008, RevPAR for comparable company-operated North
American limited-service properties decreased by 4.2 percent 
to $85.83, occupancy decreased by 2.7 percentage points to 
69.4 percent, and average daily rates decreased by 0.5 percent 
to $123.69.

The $66 million decrease in segment results, compared to 2007,
reflected $43 million of lower incentive management fees, $14 mil-
lion of higher general, administrative, and other expenses, $13 mil-
lion of lower owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue
net of direct expenses, and $4 million of lower gains and other
income, partially offset by a $10 million increase in base manage-
ment and franchise fees.

The $10 million increase in base management and franchise
fees was largely due to unit growth, partially offset by a decrease in
relicensing fees. The $43 million decrease in incentive management
fees was largely due to lower property-level revenue and margins
and the recognition, in 2007, of $15 million of incentive manage-
ment fees that were calculated based on prior periods’ results, but
not earned and due until 2007.
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The $14 million increase in general, administrative, and other
expenses reflected a $15 million charge related to a shortfall funding
under a guarantee (see the “Other Charges” caption in Footnote
No. 20, “Restructuring Costs and Other Charges,” for more infor-
mation). The $13 million decrease in owned, leased, corporate
housing, and other revenue net of direct expenses primarily
reflected $6 million of franchise agreement termination fees received
in 2007, which were primarily associated with Fairfield Inn brand
properties that left our system, and $7 million of lower income due
to lower revenue and property-level margins associated with weaker
demand at certain leased properties.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
our North American Limited-Service segment properties totaled
$1,541 million in 2008, compared to $1,470 million in 2007.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
In 2007, across our North American Limited-Service Lodging seg-
ment, we added 156 properties (17,517 rooms) and 16 properties
(1,853 rooms) left the system. The properties that left the system
were primarily associated with our Fairfield Inn brand.

In 2007, RevPAR for comparable company-operated North
American limited-service properties increased by 4.8 percent to
$89.18, occupancy for these properties decreased by 0.4 percent-
age points to 72.7 percent, and average daily rates increased by
5.4 percent to $122.63.

The $81 million increase in segment results, compared to 2006,
primarily reflected an $83 million increase in base management,
incentive management, and franchise fees, a $5 million increase in
owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses, a $2 mil-
lion increase in gains and other income, and a $2 million increase in
joint venture equity earnings, partially offset by $11 million of higher
general, administrative, and other expenses.

In 2007, we recognized $15 million of incentive management
fees that were calculated based on prior years’ results but not
earned and due until 2007 compared to the recognition of no simi-
lar fees in 2006. The additional increase in fees is largely due to
higher RevPAR, driven by rate increases, which increased base
management and franchise fees, and to productivity improvements,
which increased property-level margins and incentive management
fees. Additionally, growth in the number of rooms contributed to the
increase in base management and franchise fees. The $5 million
increase in owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses
is primarily a result of hotel franchise agreement termination fees of
$6 million received in 2007, which were primarily associated with
Fairfield Inn brand properties that left our system and $1 million of
similar fees in 2006. The $11 million increase in general, administra-
tive, and other expenses in 2007 primarily reflects the impact of unit
growth and development and the write-off of $3 million of deferred
contract acquisition costs.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
our North American Limited-Service segment properties totaled
$1,470 million in 2007, compared to $1,423 million in 2006.

International Lodging includes International Marriott Hotels & Resorts,
International JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts, International Renaissance
Hotels & Resorts, International Courtyard, International Fairfield Inn,
International Residence Inn, and Marriott Executive Apartments.

Annual Change

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008/2007 2007/2006

Segment revenues $1,544 $1,594 $1,411 —3% 13%

Segment results $ 246 $ 271 $ 237 —9% 14%

2008 COMPARED TO 2007
In 2008, across our International Lodging segment, we added 
21 properties (6,619 rooms) and 16 properties (3,905 rooms) left
the system, primarily due to quality issues.

In 2008, RevPAR for comparable company-operated interna-
tional properties increased by 2.6 percent to $131.00, occupancy
for these properties decreased by 2.4 percentage points to 
72.5 percent, and average daily rates increased by 6.0 percent to
$180.81. Results for our international operations were favorable
across most regions, but weakened progressively throughout 2008
and especially in the fourth quarter. RevPAR increases compared to
the prior year were strongest in the Middle East, Central and
Southeast Asia, South America, and Central Europe.

The $25 million decrease in segment results in 2008, compared
to the prior year, primarily reflected a $32 million decrease in gains
and other income, a $15 million increase in general, administrative,
and other expenses, and a decrease of $5 million in joint venture
equity earnings, partially offset by an $18 million increase in incen-
tive management fees and an $11 million increase in combined
base management and franchise fees. Owned, leased, and other
revenue net of direct expenses remained unchanged in 2008 com-
pared to the prior year.

The increase in fees was largely due to higher RevPAR, driven
by rate increases and, to a lesser extent, reflected unit growth and
cost control plans, which increased property-level margins and
incentive management fees.

The $32 million decrease in gains and other income in 2008,
compared to 2007, reflected the recognition of gains totaling $9 mil-
lion in 2008, compared to gains in 2007 of $41 million. The 2007
gains primarily reflected a $10 million gain associated with the sale
of a joint venture and a gain totaling $23 million associated with
sales of real estate. The $15 million increase in general, administra-
tive, and other expenses reflected higher wage and benefit costs
and costs associated with unit growth and development.

Joint venture equity results were lower than the prior year by $5 mil-
lion primarily reflecting an unfavorable $11 million impact associated
with tax law changes in a country in which two joint ventures operate,
partially offset by a $5 million favorable impact associated with insur-
ance proceeds received by one of those same joint ventures.

Owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct of expenses
remained unchanged and reflected $17 million of lower income,
reflecting conversions from owned properties to managed proper-
ties, which was completely offset by $11 million of stronger results
at some properties, $5 million of higher termination fees, and $1 mil-
lion of higher branding fees.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
our International segment properties totaled $707 million in 2008,
compared to $741 million in 2007.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
In 2007, across our International Lodging segment, we added 
20 properties (4,686 rooms) and 31 properties (4,678 rooms) left
the system in 2007, primarily due to quality issues.

In 2007, RevPAR for comparable company-operated interna-
tional properties increased by 8.2 percent to $127.44, occupancy
for these properties increased by 0.8 percentage points to 75.7 per-
cent, and average daily rates increased by 7.0 percent to $168.30.
Results for our international operations were strong across most
regions. RevPAR increases compared to the prior year were partic-
ularly strong in Central and Southeast Asia, South America, the
Middle East, and Eastern Europe.

The $34 million increase in segment results in 2007 compared
to 2006, reflected a $27 million increase in base management,
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incentive management, and franchise fees, an $11 million increase
in gains and other income, and a $3 million increase in joint venture
equity earnings, partially offset by $7 million of higher general,
administrative, and other expenses. Incentive management fees
included $2 million for 2007 that were calculated based on prior
periods’ earnings, but not earned and due until recognized, com-
pared to $10 million of similar fees in 2006.

The increase in fees is largely due to strong demand and higher
RevPAR, driven by rate increases and favorable exchange rates.
The $11 million increase in gains and other income reflected higher
gains in 2007 on real estate sales, compared to the year-ago period,
offset by lower gains on the sale of joint ventures. The $7 million
increase in general, administrative, and other expenses from 2006 
is primarily attributable to costs related to our unit growth and
development. Owned, leased, and other revenue net of direct
expenses remained flat primarily reflecting hotel management and
franchise agreement termination fees of $8 million received in 2007
and $12 million of similar fees in 2006, entirely offset by the
improved performance of our owned and leased properties in 2007.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
our International segment properties totaled $741 million in 2007,
compared to $635 million in 2006.

Luxury Lodging includes The Ritz-Carlton and Bulgari Hotels & Resorts.

Annual Change

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008/2007 2007/2006

Segment revenues $1,659 $1,576 $1,423 5% 11%

Segment results $ 78 $ 72 $ 63 8% 14%

2008 COMPARED TO 2007
In 2008, across our Luxury Lodging segment, we added four prop-
erties (1,195 rooms) and one property (517 rooms) left the system. In
addition, we added seven residential products (654 units) in 2008.

In 2008, RevPAR for comparable company-operated luxury
properties decreased by 0.1 percent to $225.87, occupancy for
these properties decreased by 1.9 percentage points to 69.2 per-
cent, and average daily rates increased by 2.7 percent to $326.63.

The $6 million increase in segment results, compared to 2007,
reflected a $7 million increase in base management and incentive
management fees and $18 million of higher owned, leased, and
other revenue net of direct expenses, partially offset by $8 million of
increased general, administrative, and other expenses, an $8 million
decrease in joint venture equity earnings, $1 million of restructuring
costs recorded in 2008, (see Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring Costs
and Other Charges,” for additional information), and a $1 million
decrease in gains and other income. The increase in fees over the
year-ago period reflected new properties added to the system, par-
tially offset by the receipt in 2007 of $5 million of business interrup-
tion insurance proceeds associated with hurricanes in prior years.

The $18 million increase in owned, leased, and other revenue
net of direct expenses reflected charges of $8 million in 2007 for
depreciation expense associated with one property that was reclas-
sified to “held and used,” as the property no longer satisfied the

criteria to be classified as “held for sale,” compared to $6 million 
of depreciation charges for that same property in 2008, as well as
expenses totaling $3 million in 2007 associated with opening a new
leased property, $10 million of improved results in 2008 associated
with two properties, one of which was being renovated in 2007,
and $2 million of increased branding fees in 2008.

The $8 million increase in general, administrative, and other
expenses primarily reflected costs associated with unit growth and
development as well as bad debt expense related to accounts
receivable deemed uncollectible (see the “Other Charges” caption 
in Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring Costs and Other Charges,” for
more information).

The $8 million decrease in joint venture equity earnings primarily
reflected a $9 million impairment charge associated with a joint ven-
ture investment that we determined to be fully impaired in 2008 (see
the “Other Charges” caption in Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring
Costs and Other Charges,” for more information).

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
our Luxury segment properties totaled $1,350 million in 2008, com-
pared to $1,307 million in 2007.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
In 2007, across our Luxury Lodging segment, we added 11 proper-
ties (2,529 rooms) and one property (273 rooms) left the system. In
addition, we added three residential products (347 units) in 2007.

In 2007, RevPAR for comparable company-operated luxury
properties increased by 9.4 percent to $227.87, occupancy for
these properties increased by 1.8 percentage points to 72.5 per-
cent, and average daily rates increased by 6.6 percent to $314.36.

The $9 million increase in segment results, compared to 2006,
reflected a $20 million increase in base management and incentive
management fees, partially offset by $6 million of increased general,
administrative, and other expenses, $3 million of lower owned,
leased, and other revenue net of direct expenses, and $2 million of
lower equity joint venture results. Fiscal year 2006 included $2 mil-
lion of base management fees that were calculated based on prior
periods’ results, but not earned and due until 2006, compared to
no similar fees in 2007. The increase in fees over the prior year
reflects stronger RevPAR driven by rate increases, new properties
added to the system, the receipt in 2007 of $5 million of business
interruption insurance proceeds associated with hurricanes in prior
years, the year-over-year favorable impact associated with the
reopening, late in 2006, of two properties impacted by the same
aforementioned hurricanes and increased branding fees. The $6 mil-
lion increase in general, administrative, and other expenses is pri-
marily attributable to costs related to our unit growth and
development. The $3 million decrease in owned, leased, and other
revenue net of direct expenses reflected charges totaling $8 million
in 2007 for depreciation expense associated with one property that
was reclassified to “held and used,” as the property no longer satis-
fied the criteria to be classified as “held for sale,” partially offset by a
favorable $3 million impact associated with the opening of a new
leased property in 2007.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
our Luxury segment properties totaled $1,307 million in 2007, com-
pared to $1,261 million in 2006.
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Timeshare includes our Marriott Vacation Club, The Ritz-Carlton Club
and Residences, Grand Residences by Marriott, and Horizons by
Marriott Vacation Club brands.

Annual Change

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008/2007 2007/2006

Segment Revenues

Segment revenues $1,750 $2,065 $1,840 —15% 12%

Segment Results

Base management
fee revenue $ 42 $ 43 $ 34

Timeshare sales 
and services, net 89 350 357

Restructuring costs (28) — —
Joint venture equity 11 10 (2)
Minority interest 25 1 —
General, adminis-

trative, and other 
expense (111) (98) (109)

Segment results $ 28 $ 306 $ 280 —91% 9%

Sales and Services 
Revenue

Development $ 953 $1,208 $1,112
Services 336 315 286
Financing 106 195 171
Other revenue 28 29 8

Sales and services
revenue $1,423 $1,747 $1,577 —19% 11%

Contract Sales

Timeshare $1,081 $1,221 $1,207
Fractional 35 44 42
Residential 10 (9) 5

Total company 1,126 1,256 1,254
Timeshare — 33 28
Fractional (6) 54 68
Residential (44) 58 282

Total joint venture (50) 145 378

Total Timeshare 
segment  
contract sales $1,076 $1,401 $1,632 —23% —14%

2008 COMPARED TO 2007
Timeshare segment contract sales, including sales made by our
timeshare joint venture projects, represent sales of timeshare inter-
val, fractional ownership, and residential ownership products before
the adjustment of percentage-of-completion accounting. Timeshare
segment contract sales decreased by $325 million (23 percent)
compared to 2007 to $1,076 million from $1,401 million. The
decrease in Timeshare segment contract sales in 2008, compared
to the prior year, reflected a $173 million decrease in timeshare
sales, an $83 million decrease in residential sales, and a $69 million
decrease in fractional sales. The decrease in timeshare contract
sales reflected the impact of projects approaching sellout and sig-
nificantly lower demand. Sales of residential and fractional units
were significantly impacted by weak demand, as well as increased
cancellation allowances of $115 million recorded in anticipation 

that a portion of contract revenue previously recorded under the
percentage-of-completion method for certain projects will not be
realized due to contract cancellations prior to closing (see the
“Other Charges” caption of Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring Costs
and Other Charges,” for additional information).

The $315 million decrease in Timeshare segment revenues to
$1,750 million from $2,065 million reflected a $324 million decrease
in Timeshare sales and services revenue, and a $1 million decrease
in base management fees, partially offset by a $10 million increase
in cost reimbursements revenue. The decrease in Timeshare sales
and services revenue, compared to the prior year, primarily reflected
lower demand for timeshare interval, fractional, and residential proj-
ects, lower revenue from projects with limited available inventory 
in 2008, a decrease of $65 million in note sale gains in 2008, a 
$32 million impact from the reduced valuation of residual interests,
contract cancellation allowances of $17 million, low reportability in
2008 associated with newer projects that have not yet reached rev-
enue recognition reportability thresholds, as well as the recognition,
in 2007, of revenues received in prior years for several projects 
that reached reportability thresholds in 2007. Partially offsetting 
the decrease was higher revenue associated with the Asia Pacific
points program, revenue that became reportable subsequent to 
the 2007 fiscal year, and increased services revenue. Timeshare
segment revenues for 2008 and 2007 included $68 million and 
$50 million, respectively, of interest income and note sale gains of
$16 million and $81 million for 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Segment results of $28 million in 2008 decreased by $278 mil-
lion from $306 million in 2007, and reflected $261 million of lower
Timeshare sales and services revenue net of direct expenses, 
$28 million of restructuring costs, and $13 million of higher general,
administrative, and other expenses, partially offset by a $24 million
higher minority interest benefit and $1 million in higher joint venture
equity earnings.

The $261 million decrease in Timeshare sales and services rev-
enue net of direct expenses primarily reflected $138 million of lower
development revenue net of product costs and marketing and sell-
ing costs, $95 million of lower financing revenue net of financing
expenses, $34 million of lower reacquired and resales revenue net
of expenses, partially offset by $4 million of higher services revenue
net of expenses, and $2 million of lower joint venture related
expenses. Lower development revenue net of product costs and
marketing and selling costs primarily reflected lower demand for
timeshare interval, fractional, and residential projects, increased
marketing and sales costs, lower revenue from several projects with
limited available inventory in 2008, start-up costs in 2008 for newer
projects, low reportability in 2008 associated with newer projects
that have not yet reached revenue recognition reportability thresh-
olds, revenue recognition for several projects in 2007 that reached
reportability thresholds, a $9 million impact from inventory write-
downs related to the termination of certain phases of timeshare
development in Europe, and a $5 million net impact from contract
cancellation allowances (see the “Other Charges” caption of
Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring Costs and Other Charges,” for
additional information). In addition, development revenue net of
product costs and marketing and selling costs reflected an impair-
ment charge. We recorded a pretax charge of $22 million ($10 mil-
lion net of minority interest benefit) in the 2008 third quarter within
the “Timeshare-direct” caption of our Consolidated Statements of
Income related to the impairment of a fractional and whole owner-
ship real estate project held for development by a joint venture that
we consolidate. We made the adjustment in accordance with FAS
No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
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Assets,” to adjust the carrying value of the real estate to its esti-
mated fair value at year-end 2008. The predominant items we con-
sidered in our analysis were the downturn in market conditions
including contract cancellations, and tightening in the credit markets,
especially for jumbo mortgage loans. We estimated the fair value of
the inventory utilizing a probability weighted cash flow model that
reflected our expectations of future performance discounted at a 
10 year risk-free interest rate determined from the yield curve for
U.S. Treasury instruments (3.68 percent). The $25 million benefit
associated with minority interest reflected our joint venture partner’s
portion of the losses of subsidiaries that we consolidate. The 
$25 million benefit also reflected the impact of the pretax benefit 
of $12 million in 2008, representing our joint venture partner’s pre-
tax share of the $22 million impairment charge.

The $95 million decrease in financing revenue, net of financing
costs, primarily reflected $65 million of lower note sale gains in
2008 compared to 2007, mostly attributable to higher note sale vol-
umes in 2007, $42 million of lower residual interest accretion, and
$6 million of increased financing costs, partially offset by $18 million
of increased interest income. Lower note sale gains of $65 million
reflected a $12 million charge in the 2008 fourth quarter related to
hedge ineffectiveness on note sale hedges and the $42 million of
lower residual interest accretion reflected a $32 million charge in the
2008 fourth quarter related to the reduction in the valuation of resid-
ual interests due to an increase in the market rate of interest at
which future cash flows were discounted to estimate the fair market
value (see the “Other Charges” caption of Footnote No. 20,
“Restructuring Costs and Other Charges,” for more information
regarding these charges). In 2008 and 2007, we sold notes receiv-
able originated by our Timeshare segment in connection with the
sale of timeshare interval and fractional ownership products of 
$300 million and $520 million, respectively. The $34 million of 
lower reacquired and resales revenue net of expenses represented
increased marketing and selling costs coupled with increased prod-
uct cost relative to prior year.

The $28 million of restructuring costs represented $14 million in
severance costs, $9 million in development cancellations, and $5 mil-
lion in facility exit costs incurred as a result of restructuring initiatives
at the segment (see Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring Costs and
Other Charges,” for more information related to these initiatives and
the costs incurred). The $13 million increase in general, administra-
tive, and other expenses reflected increased costs associated with
wages and benefits. Joint venture equity earnings increased $1 mil-
lion and reflected $10 million of start-up losses incurred in 2007 for
three joint ventures, mostly offset by $7 million of contract cancella-
tion allowances recorded at one joint venture in 2008 (see the
“Other Charges” caption of Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring Costs
and Other Charges,” for additional information) and $3 million of
lower earnings in 2008 at one joint venture.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
Timeshare segment properties totaled $285 million in 2008, com-
pared to $275 million in 2007.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
Timeshare segment contract sales decreased by 14 percent com-
pared to 2006, reflecting fewer residential and fractional sales, par-
tially offset by increased timeshare sales. Contract sales in 2006
reflected particularly strong joint venture residential sales associated
with the launch of our San Francisco and Kapalua, Hawaii products.

The $225 million increase in Timeshare segment revenues to
$2,065 million from $1,840 million reflected a $170 million increase
in timeshare sales and services revenue, a $46 million increase in
cost reimbursements revenue, and $9 million of increased base

management fees. The increase in timeshare sales and services
revenue primarily reflected newer projects that reached reportability
thresholds in 2007 and increased services and financing revenue.
Higher base management fees reflect the growing number of time-
share resorts under management. Timeshare segment revenues
include $50 million and $41 million of interest income for 2007 and
2006, respectively, and note sale gains of $81 million and $77 mil-
lion for 2007 and 2006, respectively, recorded in our Consolidated
Statements of Income on the “Timeshare sales and services” rev-
enue line, associated with Timeshare segment notes receivable.

Segment results of $306 million in 2007 increased by $26 million
over 2006 and primarily reflected $9 million of increased base man-
agement fees, $12 million of increased joint venture equity results,
and $11 million of lower general, administrative, and other
expenses, partially offset by $7 million of lower timeshare sales and
services revenue net of expenses. Timeshare sales and services
revenue net of direct expenses of $350 million decreased by $7 mil-
lion, compared to the prior year, primarily reflecting flat development
revenue net of product costs and marketing and selling costs and
$12 million of increased financing revenue net of financing
expenses, partially offset by the $15 million reversal of contingency
reserves in 2006 and $4 million of lower services revenue net of
services expenses. Flat development revenue net of product costs
and marketing and selling costs reflected newer projects that
reached reportability thresholds in 2007, offset by several other
projects that were approaching sell-out. The increase in financing
revenue net of financing costs primarily reflected increased accre-
tion, interest income, and higher note sale gains in 2007, compared
to 2006. Compared to the prior year, the $12 million increase in
joint venture equity results primarily reflected strong demand in
2007 for our products in Kapalua, Hawaii and start-up costs in
2006 associated with that joint venture. The $11 million decrease in
general, administrative, and other expenses reflected lower program
and systems expenses in 2007.

Cost reimbursements revenue and expenses associated with
Timeshare segment properties totaled $275 million in 2007, com-
pared to $229 million in 2006.

HISTORICAL INFORMATION
The following graphs show the number of Timeshare segment owners
and the Timeshare segment results for each of the last five fiscal years.

Investment in Leveraged Lease
Historically, we had a $23 million investment in an aircraft lever-
aged lease with Delta Airlines, which we acquired in 1994. The
gross investment was comprised of rentals receivable and the
residual value of the aircraft offset by unearned income. On
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September 14, 2005, Delta Airlines filed for bankruptcy protection
under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code and informed us
that it wished to restructure the lease. As a result, our investment
was impaired and we had recorded pretax charges of approxi-
mately $17 million in 2005 and $1 million in 2006. We recorded an
additional $5 million loss related to this investment in fiscal 2007,
and have no remaining exposure.

Effective Tax Rate
Tax credits contributed by our synthetic fuel operations have signifi-
cantly reduced our effective tax rate during the last several years.
As we exited the business in November 2007 our effective tax rate
increased significantly, thereby reducing our after-tax profits.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Synthetic Fuel
The tax credits provided under Internal Revenue Code Section 45K
were only available for the production and sale of synthetic fuels
produced from coal through December 31, 2007. Given high oil
prices during 2007 and the anticipated and related phase-out of a
significant portion of tax credits available for synthetic fuel produced
and sold in 2007, we permanently ceased operations at our syn-
thetic fuel facilities on November 3, 2007 and report this business
as a discontinued operation. See Footnote No. 3, “Discontinued
Operations-Synthetic Fuel,” in this report for additional information
regarding the Synthetic Fuel segment.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007
The synthetic fuel operation generated revenue of $1 million in 2008
and $352 million in 2007. Income from the Synthetic Fuel segment
totaled $3 million, net of tax, in 2008, compared to a loss of $1 mil-
lion in 2007. Income from the Synthetic Fuel segment of $3 million
for 2008 primarily reflected the recognition in 2008 of additional tax
credits as a result of the determination by the Secretary of the
Treasury in 2008 of the Reference Price of a barrel of oil for 2007,
partially offset by payments due to third parties based on the
amount of additional tax credits.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006
For 2007, the synthetic fuel operation generated revenue of 
$352 million versus revenue of $165 million for the prior year,
primarily reflecting higher production in 2007. Production in 2006
reflected production suspensions instituted in response to high oil
prices. Income from the Synthetic Fuel segment declined to a loss
of $1 million in 2007 from income of $5 million in 2006, primarily
reflecting increased operating losses associated with higher produc-
tion in 2007, partially offset by increased revenue and increased tax
credits associated with higher production and, on the increased
operating losses, a higher tax benefit. Results for 2007 also reflect
an estimated 70.7 percent phase-out of tax credits due to high oil
prices versus a phase-out that was estimated at year-end 2006 to
be 39 percent for 2006. Additionally, results in 2007 reflect interest
costs of $8 million associated with hedges entered into in response
to high oil prices.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Under our 2002 Comprehensive Stock and Cash Incentive Plan, 
we award: (1) stock options to purchase our Class A Common
Stock (“Stock Option Program”); (2) stock appreciation rights
(“SARs”); (3) restricted stock units of our Class A Common Stock;
and (4) deferred stock units. We grant awards at exercise prices or
strike prices that are equal to the market price of our Class A
Common Stock on the date of grant.

During 2008 we granted 5.6 million restricted stock units (2.6 mil-
lion, most of which were granted in February and had a weighted
average grant-date fair value of $35 per unit and 3.0 million were
granted in August and had a weighted average grant-date fair value
of $26 per unit), 2.7 million Employee SARs (1.8 million, most of
which were granted in February and had a weighted average grant-
date fair value of $13 per right and 0.9 million were granted in
August and had a weighted average grant-date fair value of $10 per
right), and 4,000 Non-employee SARs. During that time period, we
also granted approximately 218,000 stock options and issued
25,000 deferred stock units. The grants made in August would ordi-
narily have been made in February 2009, but were accelerated to
encourage associate retention in a difficult economic climate.
Awards for the most senior executives were not accelerated. See
Footnote No. 4, “Share-Based Compensation,” later in this report
for additional information.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
EITF Issue No. 06-8, “Applicability of the Assessment of a
Buyer’s Continuing Investment under FASB Statement No. 66 for
Sales of Condominiums”
We adopted the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue
No. 06-8, “Applicability of the Assessment of a Buyer’s Continuing
Investment under FASB Statement No. 66 for Sales of
Condominiums” (“EITF 06-8”) on December 29, 2007, the first day
of our 2008 fiscal year. EITF 06-8 states that in assessing the col-
lectibility of the sales price pursuant to paragraph 37(d) of Financial
Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 66, “Accounting for Sales of Real
Estate” (“FAS No. 66”), an entity should evaluate the adequacy of
the buyer’s initial and continuing investment to conclude that the
sales price is collectible. If an entity is unable to meet the criteria of
paragraph 37, including an assessment of collectibility using the ini-
tial and continuing investment tests described in paragraphs 8
through 12 of FAS No. 66, then the entity should apply the deposit
method of accounting as described in paragraphs 65 through 67 of
FAS No. 66.

Although our adoption of EITF 06-8 had no impact on our wholly
owned projects in conjunction with the adoption of EITF 06-8 by
one joint venture in which we are a partner, we recorded the cumu-
lative effect of applying EITF 06-8 as a reduction of $5 million to our
investment in that joint venture, an increase in deferred tax assets of
$2 million, and a reduction of $3 million to the opening balance of
our retained earnings. The application of the continuing investment
criterion in EITF 06-8 on the collectibility of the sales price could in
certain future circumstances delay our ability, or the ability of joint
ventures in which we are a partner, to recognize revenues and
costs using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting.

Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements”
We adopted FAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS No.
157”), on December 29, 2007, the first day of fiscal year 2008.
FAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a methodology for
measuring fair value, and expands the required disclosure for fair
value measurements. On February 12, 2008, the FASB issued
FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB
Statement No. 157,” which amends FAS No. 157 by delaying its
effective date by one year for non-financial assets and non-financial
liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair
value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. Therefore,
beginning on December 29, 2007, this standard applied prospec-
tively to new fair value measurements of financial instruments and
recurring fair value measurements of non-financial assets and non-
financial liabilities. On January 3, 2009, the beginning of our 2009
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fiscal year, the standard will also apply to all other fair value meas-
urements. See Footnote No. 5, “Fair Value Measurements,” for
additional information.

Our servicing assets and residual interests, which are measured
using Level 3 inputs (which are described in Footnote No. 5, “Fair
Value Measurements”) in the FAS No. 157 hierarchy, accounted for
94 percent of the total fair value of our financial assets at year-end
2008, that are required to be measured at fair value using the guid-
ance found in FAS No. 157. We treat the residual interests, includ-
ing servicing assets, as trading securities under the provisions of
FAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities,” and accordingly, we recorded realized and unre-
alized gains or losses related to these assets in the “Timeshare
sales and services” revenue caption in our Consolidated Statements
of Income.

At the dates of sale and at the end of each reporting period, we
estimate the fair value of our residual interests, including servicing
assets, using a discounted cash flow model. The implementation 
of FAS No. 157 did not result in material changes to the models or
processes used to value these assets. These transactions may uti-
lize interest rate swaps to protect the net interest margin associated
with the beneficial interest. The discount rates we use in determin-
ing the fair values of the residual interests are based on the general
level of interest rates in the market and the assumed credit risk of
the interests retained. We adjust these discount rates quarterly as
interest rates and credit spreads in the market vary.

During 2008, we used the following key assumptions to meas-
ure the fair value of the residual interests, including servicing assets,
at the date of sale: average discount rate of 9.23 percent; average
expected annual prepayments, including defaults, of 24.01 percent;
expected weighted average life of prepayable notes receivable,
excluding prepayments and defaults, of 76 months; and expected
weighted average life of prepayable notes receivable, including pre-
payments and defaults, of 35 months. Our key assumptions are
based on experience with notes receivable and servicing assets.

The most significant estimate involved in the measurement
process is the discount rate, followed by the default rate and the
loan repayment rate. Estimates of these rates are based on man-
agement’s expectations of future prepayment rates and default
rates, reflecting our historical experience, industry trends, current
market interest rates, expected future interest rates, and other con-
siderations. Actual repayment rates, default rates, and discount
rates could differ from those projected by management due to
changes in a variety of economic factors, including prevailing inter-
est rates and the availability of alternative financing sources to bor-
rowers. If actual prepayments of the loans being serviced were to
occur more slowly than had been projected, the carrying value of
servicing assets could increase and accretion and servicing income
would exceed previously projected amounts. If actual default rates
or actual discount rates are lower than expected, the carrying value
of retained interests could increase and accretion and servicing
income would exceed previously projected amounts. If actual pre-
payments of the loans being serviced occur at a faster pace than
we have projected, the carrying value of servicing assets could
decrease and accretion and servicing income would be below pre-
viously projected amounts. If actual default rates or actual discount
rates are higher than we expect, the carrying value of retained inter-
ests could decrease and accretion and servicing income would be
below previously projected amounts. Accordingly, the retained inter-
ests, including servicing assets, actually realized, could differ from
the amounts initially recorded.

We completed a stress test on the fair value of the residual inter-
ests, including servicing assets, as of the end of 2008 to measure

the change in value associated with independent changes in indi-
vidual key variables. This methodology applied unfavorable changes
that would be statistically significant for the key variables of prepay-
ment rate, discount rate, and weighted average remaining term.
Before we applied any of these stress test changes, we determined
that the fair value of the residual interests, including servicing
assets, was $221 million as of year-end 2008.

Applying the stress tests, we concluded that each change to a
variable shown in the table below would have the following impact
on the valuation of our residual interests at the end of 2008:

Decrease in Year-
End Valuation Percentage
($ in millions) Decrease

100 basis point increase 
in the prepayment rate $3 1.3%

200 basis point increase 
in the prepayment rate 6 2.6%

100 basis point increase
in the discount rate 4 2.0%

200 basis point increase 
in the discount rate 9 3.9%

Two month decline in the 
weighted average 
remaining term 2 0.8%

Four month decline in the 
weighted average 
remaining term 4 1.7%

We value our derivatives using valuations that are calibrated to
the initial trade prices. Subsequent valuations are based on observ-
able inputs to the valuation model including interest rates and
volatilities. We record realized and unrealized gains and losses on
these derivative instruments in gains from the sale of timeshare
notes receivable, which are recorded within the “Timeshare sales
and services” revenue caption in our Consolidated Statements 
of Income.

Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option
for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities-Including an
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115”
We adopted FAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities-Including an Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 115” (“FAS No. 159”), on December 29, 2007, the
first day of our 2008 fiscal year. This standard permits but does not
require entities to measure many financial instruments and certain
other items at fair value. We did not elect the fair value measure-
ment option for any of our financial assets or liabilities in 2008.

EITF Issue No. 07-6, “Accounting for Sales of Real Estate Subject
to the Requirements of FASB Statement No. 66, ‘Accounting 
for Sales of Real Estate,’ When the Agreement Includes a 
Buy-Sell Clause”
We adopted EITF Issue No. 07-6, “Accounting for Sales of Real
Estate Subject to the Requirements of FASB Statement No. 66,
‘Accounting for Sales of Real Estate,’ When the Agreement Includes
a Buy-Sell Clause” (“EITF 07-6”), on December 29, 2007, the first
day of our 2008 fiscal year. EITF 07-6 clarifies whether a buy-sell
clause is a prohibited form of continuing involvement that would
preclude partial sales treatment under FAS No. 66. EITF 07-6 is
effective for new arrangements entered into and assessments of
existing transactions originally accounted for under the deposit,
profit sharing, leasing, or financing methods for reasons other than
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the exercise of a buy-sell clause performed in fiscal years 2008 and
thereafter. The adoption of EITF 07-6 did not have a material impact
on our financial statements.

FASB Staff Position FAS No. 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 “Disclosures
by Public Entities (Enterprises) about Transfers of Financial
Assets and Interests in Variable Interest Entities”
We adopted FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS No. 140-4 and FIN
46(R)-8 “Disclosures by Public Entities (Enterprises) about Transfers
of Financial Assets and Interests in Variable Interest Entities” in con-
junction with our 2008 fiscal year-end. FSP FAS No. 140-4 and FIN
46(R)-8 amends FAS No. 140 to require public entities to provide
additional disclosures about transferors’ continuing involvements
with transferred financial assets. It also amends FIN 46(R) to require
public enterprises, including sponsors that have a variable interest
in a variable interest entity, to provide additional disclosures about
their involvement with variable interest entities. The FSP also
requires disclosures by a public enterprise that is a sponsor of a
qualifying special-purpose entity (“SPE”) that holds a variable inter-
est in the qualifying SPE but was not the transferor of financial
assets to the qualifying SPE and a servicer of a qualifying SPE that
holds a significant variable interest in the qualifying SPE but was not
the transferor of financial assets to the qualifying SPE. FSP FAS No.
140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 is effective for year-end 2008 disclosures.
The adoption of FSP FAS No. 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 did not have 
a material impact on our financial statements.

FSP EITF 99-20-1 “Amendments to the Impairment Guidance of
EITF Issue No. 99-20, ‘Recognition of Interest Income and
Impairment on Purchased Beneficial Interests and Beneficial
Interests That Continue to be Held by a Transferor in Securitized
Financial Assets’”
We adopted FSP EITF 99-20-1 “Amendments to the Impairment
Guidance of EITF Issue No. 99-20, ‘Recognition of Interest Income
and Impairment on Purchased Beneficial Interests and Beneficial
Interests That Continue to be Held by a Transferor in Securitized
Financial Assets,’” (“FSP EITF 99-20-1”) in conjunction with our
2008 fiscal year-end. FSP EITF 99-20-1 amends EITF Issue 
No. 99-20 to align the impairment guidance in EITF Issue No. 99-20
with that of FAS No. 115. FAS No. 115 measures impairment based
on a determination of whether an other-than-temporary impairment
has occurred. Our residual interests in our asset securitizations 
are recorded at fair value each reporting period. Therefore, the
adoption of FSP EITF 99-20-1 did not have a material impact on
our financial statements.

Future Adoption of Accounting Standards
Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (Revised 2007),
“Business Combinations”
On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 141 (Revised
2007), “Business Combinations” (“FAS No. 141(R)”). FAS No.
141(R) will significantly change the accounting for business combi-
nations. Under FAS No. 141(R), an acquiring entity will be required
to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a
transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions.
Transaction costs will no longer be included in the measurement of
the business acquired. Instead, these costs will be expensed as
they are incurred. FAS No. 141(R) also includes a substantial num-
ber of new disclosure requirements. FAS No. 141(R) applies
prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which for us begins with
our 2009 fiscal year.

Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, “Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements-an Amendment
of ARB No. 51”
On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 160,
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements-an
Amendment of ARB No. 51” (“FAS No. 160”). FAS No. 160 estab-
lishes new accounting and reporting standards for a noncontrolling
interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
Specifically, this statement requires the recognition of a noncontrol-
ling interest (minority interest) as equity in the consolidated financial
statements separate from the parent’s equity. The amount of net
income attributable to the noncontrolling interest will be included in
consolidated net income on the face of the income statement. FAS
No. 160 clarifies that changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation are equity transac-
tions if the parent retains its controlling financial interest. In addition,
this statement requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net
income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. Such gain or loss will
be measured using the fair value of the noncontrolling equity invest-
ment on the deconsolidation date. FAS No. 160 also includes
expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of the
parent and its noncontrolling interest. FAS No. 160 must be applied
prospectively for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which for us
begins with our 2009 fiscal year, except for the presentation and
disclosure requirements, which must be applied retrospectively for
all periods presented. We are currently evaluating the impact that
FAS No. 160 will have on our financial statements.

Financial Accounting Standards No. 161, “Disclosures about
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities-an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 133”
In March 2008, the FASB issued FAS No. 161, “Disclosures about
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities-an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 133” (“FAS No. 161”). FAS No. 161 requires
enhanced disclosure related to derivatives and hedging activities
and thereby seeks to improve the transparency of financial report-
ing. Under FAS No. 161, entities are required to provide enhanced
disclosures relating to: (a) how and why an entity uses derivative
instruments; (b) how derivative instruments and related hedge items
are accounted for under FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“FAS No. 133”), and its related
interpretations; and (c) how derivative instruments and related
hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial perform-
ance, and cash flows. FAS No. 161 must be applied prospectively
to all derivative instruments and non-derivative instruments that are
designated and qualify as hedging instruments and related hedged
items accounted for under FAS No. 133 for all financial statements
issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November
15, 2008, which for us begins with our 2009 fiscal year. We are cur-
rently evaluating the impact that FAS No. 161 will have on our finan-
cial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Requirements and Our Credit Facilities
Although we are predominantly a manager and franchisor of hotel
properties, we depend on capital to buy, develop, and improve
hotels and to develop timeshare properties. Events over the past
several months, including recent failures and near failures of a num-
ber of large financial services companies have made the capital
markets increasingly volatile. We monitor the status of the capital
markets and regularly evaluate the effect that changes in capital
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market conditions may have on our ability to execute our announced
growth plans. We also periodically evaluate opportunities to issue
and sell additional debt or equity securities, obtain credit facilities
from lenders, or repurchase, refinance, or otherwise restructure our
long-term debt for strategic reasons, or to further strengthen our
financial position.

We are party to a multicurrency revolving credit agreement (the
“Credit Facility”) that provides for borrowings and letters of credit
and has supported our commercial paper program. The Credit
Facility provides for $2.5 billion of aggregate borrowings at any one
time, and expires on May 14, 2012. Borrowings under the Credit
Facility bear interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)
plus a fixed spread. Additionally, we pay quarterly fees on the Credit
Facility at a rate based on our public debt rating. For additional
information regarding our Credit Facility, including participating
financial institutions, see Exhibit 10, “Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement,” to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on May 16, 2007.

The Credit Facility contains certain covenants, including a single
financial covenant that limits the Company’s maximum leverage
(defined in the credit agreement as Adjusted Total Debt to
Consolidated EBITDA) to not more than 4 to 1. Our outstanding
public debt does not contain a corresponding financial covenant or
a requirement that we maintain certain financial ratios. We currently
satisfy the covenants in our Credit Facility and public debt instru-
ments, including being well within the limits under the Credit Facility
leverage covenant, and do not expect the covenants to restrict our
ability to increase our anticipated borrowing and guarantee levels
should we need to do so in the future.

Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc. (“LCPI”), a subsidiary of
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., which filed for bankruptcy on
October 5, 2008, is one of the lenders under the Credit Facility, with
a total aggregate funding commitment of $96 million (3.8 percent) 
of the $2.5 billion in total commitments. LCPI did not fund its share
of our fourth quarter 2008 draws under the Credit Facility, and we
have no reason to expect that it will do so in the future. Accordingly,
the total current effective size of the Credit Facility is approximately
$2.4 billion. The loss of $96 million in effective capacity is not mate-
rial to us, and the Credit Facility, together with cash we expect to
generate from operations, remains adequate to meet our short-term
and long-term liquidity requirements, finance our long-term growth
plans, meet debt service, and fulfill other cash requirements.

At year-end 2008, our available borrowing capacity amounted 
to $1.443 billion and reflected borrowing capacity of $2.404 billion
under our Credit Facility, and our cash balance of $134 million, less
letters of credit outstanding totaling $126 million, and less Credit
Facility borrowings outstanding of $969 million. We anticipate that
this available capacity is adequate to fund our liquidity needs as
noted above. In addition, as noted previously, we continue to have
ample flexibility under the Credit Facility’s covenants, and accord-
ingly expect undrawn bank commitments under the Credit Facility
to remain available to us even if business conditions were to deteri-
orate considerably more than we anticipate.

Until early in the 2008 fourth quarter, we regularly issued short-
term commercial paper primarily in the United States and, to a
much lesser extent, in Europe. Our commercial paper issuances 
are subject to the then-current demand for our commercial paper in
each of these markets, as we do not have purchase commitments
from buyers. Disruptions in the financial markets in September 2008
significantly reduced liquidity in the commercial paper market.
Accordingly, in September 2008 we borrowed under the Credit
Facility to fund anticipated short-term commercial paper maturities
and, to a lesser extent, other general corporate needs, including
working capital and capital expenditures, and suspended issuing

commercial paper. All of our previously issued commercial paper
has matured and been repaid. We anticipate issuing commercial
paper when that market stabilizes and issuances can be made on
favorable terms. We classify commercial paper as long-term debt
based on our ability and intent to refinance it on a long-term basis.
We reserve unused capacity under our Credit Facility to repay out-
standing commercial paper borrowings in the event that the com-
mercial paper market is not available to us for any reason when
outstanding borrowings mature. Fluctuations in the commercial
paper market have not affected our liquidity and we do not expect
them to do so in the future, given our borrowing capacity under the
Credit Facility.

In November 2008 Standard & Poor’s changed the outlook on
our BBB credit rating to “negative,” which resulted in an automatic
downgrade in our commercial paper rating from A2 to A3. The mar-
ket for A3 commercial paper is currently very limited. This limited
availability, together with the higher interest costs associated with
A3 issuances, currently makes it difficult and expensive for us to
access the commercial paper market. Any future downgrades of
our debt ratings by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investor Service, or
other similar rating agencies could increase our cost of capital. We
cannot assure you that downgrades will not occur in the future.

Cash from Operations
Cash from operations, depreciation expense, and amortization
expense for the last three fiscal years are as follows:

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Cash from operations $641 $778 $970
Depreciation expense 155 162 155
Amortization expense 35 35 33

Our ratio of current assets to current liabilities was roughly 1.3 to
1.0 at year-end 2008 and 1.2 to 1.0 at year-end 2007. We minimize
working capital through cash management, strict credit-granting
policies, aggressive collection efforts, and high inventory turnover.
We also have significant borrowing capacity under our Credit Facility
should we need additional working capital.

Our ratios of earnings to fixed charges for the last five fiscal
years, the calculations of which are detailed in Exhibit 12 to our
2008 Form 10-K, are as follows:

Fiscal Years

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

3.1x 4.3x 5.3x 4.6x 4.9x

In response to significantly lower demand for our timeshare
products, we have correspondingly reduced our projected capital
expenditures for 2009. While our Timeshare segment historically
generates positive operating cash flow, year-to-year cash flow
varies based on the timing of both cash outlays for the acquisition
and development of new resorts and cash received from purchaser
financing. We include timeshare reportable sales we finance in
cash from operations when we collect cash payments or the notes
are sold for cash. The following table shows the net operating
activity from our Timeshare segment (which does not include the
portion of income from continuing operations from our Timeshare
segment). As discussed in the second and third paragraphs follow-
ing the table, the turmoil in the credit markets hurt the asset secu-
ritization market in 2008. Accordingly, we completed only one note
sale transaction in 2008, compared with two such transactions in
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each of 2006 and 2007, and accordingly, note sale proceeds and
note sale gains were both significantly lower in 2008 than in the
prior two years.

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Timeshare segment development 
in excess of cost of sales $(299) $ (55) $ (83)

New Timeshare segment mortgages, 
net of collections (525) (559) (537)

Note repurchases (56) (30) (55)
Financially reportable sales less than 

(in excess of) closed sales 126 (16) 61
Note sale gains (16) (81) (77)
Note sale proceeds 237 515 508
Collection on retained interests in notes 

sold and servicing fees 102 106 96
Other cash inflows (outflows) 33 (35) (17)

Net cash outflows from Timeshare 
segment activity $(398) $(155) $(104)

In June 2008, prior to the end of our second quarter, we sold
to a newly formed trust $300 million of notes receivable originated
by our Timeshare segment in connection with the sale of timeshare
interval and fractional products. On the same day, the trust issued
$246 million of the trust’s notes. In connection with the sale of
notes receivable, we received net proceeds of $237 million. We
retained residual interests with a fair value on the day of sale of
$93 million. We used the following key assumptions to measure
the fair value of the residual interests, including servicing assets, 
at the date of sale: average discount rate of 9.23 percent; average
expected annual prepayments, including defaults, of 24.01 per-
cent; expected weighted average life of prepayable notes receiv-
able, excluding prepayments and defaults, of 76 months; and
expected weighted average life of prepayable notes receivable,
including prepayments and defaults, of 35 months. Our key
assumptions are based on our experience with Timeshare segment
notes receivable that we originate. We recorded note sale gains
totaling $16 million in 2008, which was net of a $12 million charge
related to hedge ineffectiveness.

Less favorable conditions in the asset securitization markets
have reduced our gain from Timeshare segment note sales during
the past year, as the trusts that purchased our mortgage notes
have had to issue debt at higher relative interest rates and, in the
second quarter 2008 transaction, we retained a larger residual inter-
est in the trust. For example, in the 2008 second quarter note sale,
the trust that purchased our mortgage notes issued AAA rated
asset backed notes at a spread of 325 basis points over the 
3.935 percent interest swap rate on LIBOR, compared to AAA note
spreads of 100 basis points over the 4.782 percent interest swap
rate on LIBOR for the 2007 fourth quarter note sale and 30 basis
points over the 5.192 percent interest swap rate on LIBOR for the
2007 second quarter note sale. In addition, while the trusts in the
fourth and second quarter 2007 securitizations each also issued
15.5 percent of the total principal amount of their asset backed
notes at less than AAA ratings, we believed that the market for
lower rated notes during the second quarter of 2008 was insuffi-
cient to permit issuance of AA, A, and BBB+ rated notes at attrac-
tive spreads. Accordingly, we decided to retain a larger residual
interest in the trust for the second quarter 2008 transaction rather
than having the trust offer lower rated notes. Given the further dete-
rioration in the credit markets during the fourth quarter of 2008, we
decided to postpone our planned note sale until 2009.

As of the date this annual report on Form 10-K is filed, the secu-
ritization market remains extremely uncertain, and very limited cur-
rent demand for securitized loans makes that market much more
difficult to access than it has been in the past. We believe, nonethe-
less, that alternatives remain available to us to sell our timeshare
notes, record note sale gains, and thereby reduce our timeshare
notes receivable balances and improve our cash flow. However, we
expect any transaction that we may be able to complete in the near
term will be more costly to us, and result in lower note sale gains, if
any, relative to the size of the transaction, than those we have expe-
rienced in previous years.

Investing Activities Cash Flows
Capital Expenditures and Other Investments. We made capital
expenditures of $357 million in 2008, $671 million in 2007, and
$529 million in 2006 that included expenditures related to the
development and construction of new hotels and acquisitions of
hotel properties, as well as improvements to existing properties
and systems initiatives. Timeshare segment development expendi-
tures, which are included in “Cash from Operations,” as noted in
that section, are not reflected in these numbers. Capital expendi-
tures decreased primarily due to a reduction in development
spending. We expect that near-term capital expenditures will be
lower than 2008 levels. See the discussion of “Development and
Financing Risks” within the Risk Factors section of this document
for possible impacts of this reduction. Over time, we have sold
lodging properties under development subject to long-term man-
agement agreements. The ability of third-party purchasers to raise
the necessary debt and equity capital depends in part on the per-
ceived risks inherent in the lodging industry and other constraints
inherent in the capital markets as a whole. Although we expect to
continue to consummate such real estate sales, if we were unable
to do so, our liquidity could decrease and we could have increased
exposure to the operating risks of owning real estate. We monitor
the status of the capital markets and regularly evaluate the poten-
tial impact on our business operations of changes in capital market
conditions. We also expect to continue to make other selective
and opportunistic investments in connection with adding units to
our lodging business. These investments include loans and minor-
ity equity investments.

Fluctuations in the values of hotel real estate generally have little
impact on the overall results of our Lodging and Timeshare seg-
ments because: (1) we own less than 1 percent of the total number
of hotels that we operate or franchise; (2) management and fran-
chise fees are generally based upon hotel revenues and profits
rather than current hotel property values; and (3) our management
agreements generally do not terminate upon hotel sale.

Dispositions. Property and asset sales generated cash pro-
ceeds of $38 million in 2008, $745 million in 2007, and $798 million
in 2006. In 2008, we closed on the sales of two properties, two
land parcels, and an interest in an entity that leases four hotels.

Loan Activity. We have made loans to owners of hotels that we
operate or franchise, typically to facilitate the development of a new
hotel. Based on historical experience, over time we expect these
owners to repay the loans in accordance with the loan agreements,
or earlier as the hotels mature and capital markets permit. Loan col-
lections and sales, net of advances during 2008 and 2007, amounted
to net loan advances of $17 million in 2008 and net loan collections
and sales of $75 million in 2007. Lodging senior loans outstanding
totaled $2 million, all of which was long-term, at year-end 2008 and
$7 million (which included a current portion of $4 million) at year-end
2007. Lodging mezzanine and other loans totaled $236 million (which
included a current portion of $15 million) at year-end 2008 and 
$206 million (which included a current portion of $17 million) at 
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year-end 2007. In 2008, our notes receivable balance associated 
with Lodging senior loans and Lodging mezzanine and other loans,
increased by $25 million and primarily reflected the funding and col-
lection of several loans offset by the reserve against one loan.

Equity and Cost Method Investments. Cash outflows of 
$25 million in 2008, $40 million in 2007, and $95 million in 2006
associated with equity and cost method investments primarily
reflects our investments in a number of joint ventures.

Cash from Financing Activities
Debt. Debt increased by $130 million in 2008, to $3,095 million at
year-end 2008 from $2,965 million, and reflected $969 million of
borrowings under our Credit Facility, mostly offset by the decrease
in commercial paper outstanding of $585 million, the repayment,
upon maturity, of $91 million of Series E Senior Notes in the 2008
first quarter, repurchase of $109 million of Senior Notes across
multiple series, and other debt decreases of $54 million. Debt
increased by $1,132 million in 2007, to $2,965 million at year-end
2007 from $1,833 million, due to the issuance of $346 million (book
value at issuance) of Series I Senior Notes (described more fully in
our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K), the issuance of $397 mil-
lion (book value at issuance) of Series J Senior Notes (described
more fully in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K), a net increase
in commercial paper outstanding of $270 million and other debt
increases of $119 million.

Our financial objectives include diversifying our financing
sources, optimizing the mix and maturity of our long-term debt and
reducing our working capital. At year-end 2008, our long-term debt
had an average interest rate of 4.8 percent and an average maturity
of approximately 4.6 years. The ratio of fixed-rate long-term debt to
total long-term debt was 0.7 to 1.0 at year-end 2008. At the end of
2008, we had long-term public debt ratings of BBB from Standard
and Poor’s and Baa2 from Moody’s.

See the “Cash Requirements and Our Credit Facilities,” caption
within this “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section for additional
information on our Credit Facility.

In 2008, we repurchased, in the open market, $109 million of
our Senior Notes, across multiple series. The debt extinguishment
resulted in a gain of $28 million that was recorded for the difference
between the purchase price of $77 million and the respective carry-
ing amount of $105 million of the debt.

Share Repurchases. We purchased 11.9 million shares of our
Class A Common Stock in 2008 at an average price of $31.18 per
share, 41.0 million shares of our Class A Common Stock in 2007 at
an average price of $43.32 per share, and 41.5 million shares of our
Class A Common Stock in 2006 at an
average price of $38.13 per share. We
purchase shares in the open market
and in privately negotiated transactions.
We did not repurchase any shares in
the fourth quarter of 2008. As of year-
end 2008, 21.3 million shares remained
available for repurchase under authori-
zations from our Board of Directors. We
do not expect share repurchase activity
in 2009.

The adjacent graph shows our
diluted weighted average shares count
at year-end for each of the last five fis-
cal years.
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Dividends. In April 2008, our Board of Directors increased 
the quarterly cash dividend by 17 percent to $0.0875 per share.
Dividends of $115 million were paid in 2008, a 10 percent increase
over 2007.

Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet
Arrangements
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of
year-end 2008:

Payments Due by Period
Less
Than 1–3 3–5 After

Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

($ in millions)

Debt (1) $3,815 $238 $305 $1,910 $1,362
Capital lease obligations (1) 11 1 2 2 6
Operating leases where we 

are the primary obligor:
Recourse 1,335 137 248 212 738
Non-recourse 382 16 29 28 309

Operating leases where we 
are secondarily liable 131 29 54 25 23

Other long-term liabilities 104 — 2 6 96

Total contractual obligations $5,778 $421 $640 $2,183 $2,534

(1) Includes principal as well as interest payments.

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of year-end
2008 and year-end 2007 was $141 million and $132 million,
respectively, and is not reflected in the Contractual Obligations
table. As a large taxpayer, we are under continual audit by the IRS
and other taxing authorities. It is possible that the amount of the lia-
bility for unrecognized tax benefits could change during the next
52-week period, but we do not anticipate that a significant impact
to the unrecognized tax benefit balance will occur. See Footnote
No. 2, “Income Taxes,” for additional information.

The following table summarizes our commitments as of 
year-end 2008:

Amount of Commitment 
Expiration Per Period

Other Total Less
Commercial Amounts Than 1–3 3–5 After
Commitments Committed 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

($ in millions)

Total guarantees where we 
are the primary obligor $298 $— $ 75 $ 65 $158

Total guarantees where we 
are secondarily liable 273 — 57 119 97

Total other commercial 
commitments $571 $— $132 $184 $255
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Our guarantees where we are the primary obligor of $298 million
listed in the preceding table include $33 million of operating profit
guarantees that will not be in effect until the underlying properties
open and we begin to operate the properties, along with $3 million
of debt service guarantees that will not be in effect until the underly-
ing debt has been funded.

The guarantees in the preceding table for which we are second-
arily liable include $206 million of guarantees that we anticipate will
expire in the years 2011 through 2013, related to Senior Living
Services lease obligations totaling $145 million and lifecare bonds of
$61 million for which we are secondarily liable. Sunrise Senior Living,
Inc. (“Sunrise”) is the primary obligor of the leases and $9 million of
the lifecare bonds, and CNL Retirement Properties, Inc. (“CNL”),
which subsequently merged with Health Care Property Investors,
Inc., is the primary obligor of $50 million of the lifecare bonds. Five
Star is the primary obligor of the remainder of the lifecare bonds.
Prior to our sale of the Senior Living Services business in 2003,
these preexisting guarantees were guarantees by us of obligations
of consolidated Senior Living Services subsidiaries. Sunrise and
CNL have indemnified us for any guarantee fundings we may be
called on to make in connection with these lease obligations and
lifecare bonds. While we currently do not expect to fund under the
guarantees, according to recent SEC filings made by Sunrise there
has been a significant deterioration in Sunrise’s financial position
and access to liquidity; accordingly, Sunrise’s continued ability to
meet these guarantee obligations cannot be assured.

The guarantees in the preceding table for which we are second-
arily liable include lease obligations for which we became secondar-
ily liable when we acquired the Renaissance Hotel Group N.V. in
1997, consisting of annual rent payments of approximately $6 mil-
lion and total remaining rent payments through the initial term of
approximately $67 million. Most of these obligations expire at the
end of 2023. CTF Holdings Ltd. (“CTF”) had originally made avail-
able €35 million in cash collateral in the event that we are required
to fund under such guarantees (approximately €7 million [$10 mil-
lion] remained at year-end 2008). As CTF obtains releases from the
landlords and these hotels exit the system, our contingent liability
exposure of approximately $67 million will decline. Since the time
we assumed these guarantees, we have not funded any amounts
and we do not expect to fund any amounts under these guarantees
in the future.

In addition to the guarantees noted in the preceding table, we
have provided a project completion guarantee to a lender for a
project with an estimated aggregate total cost of $586 million.
Payments for cost overruns for this project will be satisfied by the
joint venture through contributions from the partners, and we are
liable on a several basis with our partners in an amount equal to our
pro rata ownership in the joint venture, which is 34 percent. We do
not expect to fund under the guarantee. At year-end 2008, the car-
rying value of the liabilities associated with this project completion
guarantee was $6 million. We have provided a project completion
guarantee to another lender for a project with an estimated aggre-
gate total cost of $460 million. Payments for cost overruns for this
project will be satisfied by the joint venture through contributions
from the partners, and we are liable on a several basis with our
partners in an amount equal to our pro rata ownership in the joint

venture, which is 20 percent. We do not expect to fund under the
guarantee. At year-end 2008, the carrying value of the liabilities
associated with this project completion guarantee was $3 million.

In addition to the guarantees described in the preceding para-
graphs, in conjunction with financing obtained for specific projects
or properties owned by joint ventures in which we are a party, we
may provide industry standard indemnifications to the lender for
loss, liability or damage occurring as a result of the actions of the
other joint venture owner or our own actions.

In addition to the guarantees noted previously, as of year-end
2008, we had extended approximately $10 million of loan commit-
ments to owners of lodging properties, under which we expect to
fund approximately $8 million, which expire within one year. We do
not expect to fund the remaining $2 million of commitments, which
expire in one year.

At year-end 2008, we also had commitments to invest up to
$44 million of equity for minority interests in partnerships that plan
to purchase North American full-service and limited-service proper-
ties or purchase or develop hotel-anchored mixed-use real estate
projects, which expire as follows: $34 million within three years;
and $10 million after three years. Of the $44 million in commit-
ments, we expect to fund $29 million within one to two years and
$15 million within three years. In addition, as of year-end 2008, we
had commitments, with no expiration date, to fund up to $25 mil-
lion in joint ventures for development of new properties of which
we expect to fund $13 million within one year and $12 million in
one to two years. Also, as of year-end 2008, we had a commit-
ment, with no expiration date, to invest up to $8 million in a joint
venture of which we have funded $1 million and have $7 million
remaining that we do not expect to fund. And, as of year-end
2008, we had a commitment to invest up to $28 million (€20 mil-
lion) in a joint venture in which we are a partner. We do not expect
to fund under this commitment.

At year-end 2008, we had $126 million of letters of credit out-
standing, the majority of which related to our self-insurance pro-
grams. Surety bonds issued as of year-end 2008 totaled $465
million, the majority of which were requested by federal, state or
local governments related to our lodging operations, including our
Timeshare segment and self-insurance programs.

In the normal course of the hotel management business, we
enter into purchase commitments to manage the daily operating
needs of hotels we manage for owners. Since we are reimbursed
from the cash flows of the hotels, these obligations have minimal
impact on our net income and cash flow.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Equity Method Investments
We have equity method investments in entities that own properties
for which we provide management and/or franchise services and
receive fees. In addition, in some cases we provide loans, preferred
equity or guarantees to these entities. Our ownership interest in
these equity method investments generally varies from 10 to 50 per-
cent. The amount of consolidated retained earnings that represents
undistributed earnings attributable to our equity investments totaled
$3 million at year-end 2008.
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The following tables present financial data resulting from trans-
actions with these related parties:

Income Statement Data

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Base management fees $ 49 $ 56 $ 62
Franchise fees — 1 2
Incentive management fees 11 26 22
Cost reimbursements 340 510 649

Total revenue $400 $593 $735

General, administrative, and other $ (1) $ (4) $ (1)
Reimbursed costs (340) (510) (649)
Gains and other income 12 25 28
Interest expense 4 1 1
Interest income 3 4 4
(Provision for) reversal of provision for 

loan losses — (12) 1
Equity in earnings 15 15 3
Provision for income taxes 1 — —

Balance Sheet Data

At Year- At Year-
End End

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Current assets-accounts and 
notes receivable $ 23 $ 42

Deferred development 3 2
Contract acquisition costs 28 33
Equity and cost method investments 309 316
Loans to equity method investees 50 21
Other long-term receivables 7 —
Long-term deferred tax assets, net — 1

Current liabilities:
Other payables and accruals (9) (2)

Other long-term liabilities (15) (16)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported
amounts and related disclosures. Management considers an
accounting estimate to be critical if:

3 it requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at
the time the estimate was made; and

3 changes in the estimate, or different estimates that could
have been selected, could have a material effect on our
consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

Management has discussed the development and selection of
its critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee has reviewed the dis-
closure presented below relating to them.

Marriott Rewards
Marriott Rewards is our frequent guest loyalty program. Marriott
Rewards members earn points based on their monetary spending
at our lodging operations, purchases of timeshare interval, frac-
tional ownership, and residential products and, to a lesser degree,
through participation in affiliated partners’ programs, such as
those offered by car rental and credit card companies. Points,
which we track on members’ behalf, can be redeemed for stays
at most of our lodging operations, airline tickets, airline frequent
flyer program miles, rental cars, and a variety of other awards;
however, points cannot be redeemed for cash. We provide
Marriott Rewards as a marketing program to participating proper-
ties. We charge the cost of operating the program, including the
estimated cost of award redemption, to properties based on
members’ qualifying expenditures.

We defer revenue received from managed, franchised, and
Marriott-owned/leased hotels and program partners equal to the 
fair value of our future redemption obligation. We determine the fair
value of the future redemption obligation based on statistical formu-
las that project timing of future point redemption based on historical
levels, including an estimate of the “breakage” for points that will
never be redeemed, and an estimate of the points that will eventu-
ally be redeemed. These judgment factors determine the required
liability for outstanding points.

Our management and franchise agreements require that we 
be reimbursed currently for the costs of operating the program,
including marketing, promotion, communication with, and per-
forming member services for the Marriott Rewards members. Due
to the requirement that properties reimburse us for program oper-
ating costs as incurred, we receive and recognize the balance 
of the revenue from properties in connection with the Marriott
Rewards program at the time such costs are incurred and
expensed. We recognize the component of revenue from program
partners that corresponds to program maintenance services over
the expected life of the points awarded. Upon the redemption of
points, we recognize as revenue the amounts previously deferred
and recognize the corresponding expense relating to the costs of
the awards redeemed.

Valuation of Goodwill
We evaluate the fair value of goodwill to assess potential impair-
ments on an annual basis, or during the year if an event or other
circumstance indicates that we may not be able to recover the car-
rying amount of the asset. We evaluate the fair value of goodwill at
the reporting unit level and make that determination based upon
future cash flow projections that assume certain growth projections,
which may or may not occur. We record an impairment loss for
goodwill when the carrying value of the intangible asset is greater
than its estimated fair value.

Loan Loss Reserves
Lodging Senior Loans and Lodging Mezzanine and Other Loans
We measure loan impairment based on the present value of
expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective
interest rate or the estimated fair value of the collateral. For impaired
loans, we establish a specific impairment reserve for the difference
between the recorded investment in the loan and the present value
of the expected future cash flows, that assumes certain growth pro-
jections that may or may not occur, or the estimated fair value of
the collateral. We apply our loan impairment policy individually to all
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loans in the portfolio and do not aggregate loans for the purpose of
applying such policy. When we determine that a loan is impaired,
we recognize interest income on a cash basis. At year-end 2008,
our recorded investment in impaired loans was $157 million. We
had a $113 million notes receivable reserve representing an
allowance for credit losses, leaving $44 million of our investment in
impaired loans for which there was no related allowance for credit
losses. At year-end 2007, our recorded investment in impaired
loans was $112 million. We had a $92 million allowance for credit
losses, leaving $20 million of our investment in impaired loans for
which there was no related allowance for credit losses. During 2008
and 2007, our average investment in impaired loans totaled $135 mil-
lion and $102 million, respectively.

Loans to Timeshare Owners
In accordance with the adoption of SOP 04-2 in 2006, we record
an estimate of expected uncollectibility on notes receivable that
we receive from timeshare purchasers as a reduction of revenue
at the time we recognize profit on a timeshare sale. We assess
uncollectibility based on pools of receivables, because we hold
large numbers of homogeneous timeshare notes receivable. We
estimate uncollectibles based on historical activity for similar time-
share notes receivable from 2004 to the current year. We use a
technique referred to as static pool analysis, which tracks uncol-
lectibles for each year’s sales over the life of those notes. At year-
end 2008 and year-end 2007, our allowance for credit losses
associated with “Loans to timeshare owners” totaled $35 million
and $19 million, respectively.

Legal Contingencies
We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, the out-
comes of which are subject to significant uncertainty. We record an
accrual for loss contingencies when a loss is probable and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We review these
accruals each reporting period and make revisions based on
changes in facts and circumstances.

Income Taxes
We record the current year amounts payable or refundable, as well
as the consequences of events that give rise to deferred tax assets
and liabilities based on differences in how those events are treated
for tax purposes. We base our estimate of deferred tax assets and
liabilities on current tax laws and rates and, in certain cases, busi-
ness plans and other expectations about future outcomes.

Changes in existing tax laws and rates, their related interpreta-
tions, as well as the uncertainty generated by the current economic
environment may affect the amount of deferred tax liabilities or the
valuation of deferred tax assets over time. Our accounting for
deferred tax consequences represents management’s best estimate
of future events that can be appropriately reflected in the account-
ing estimates.

OTHER MATTERS

Inflation
Inflation has been moderate in recent years and has not had a sig-
nificant impact on our businesses.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK.
We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates, for-
eign exchange rates, and debt and equity prices. We manage our

exposure to these risks by monitoring available financing alterna-
tives, through development and application of credit granting poli-
cies and by entering into derivative arrangements. We do not
foresee any significant changes in either our exposure to fluctua-
tions in interest rates or foreign exchange rates or how such expo-
sure is managed in the future.

We are exposed to interest rate risk on our floating-rate notes
receivable, our residual interests retained in connection with the sale
of Timeshare segment notes receivable and the fair value of our
fixed-rate notes receivable. Changes in interest rates also impact
our floating-rate long-term debt and the fair value of our fixed-rate
long-term debt.

We are also subject to risk from changes in debt and equity
prices from our investments in debt securities. We are also subject
to risk from changes in equity prices from an investment in com-
mon stock, which has a carrying value of $10 million at year-end
2008, which we account for as available-for-sale securities under
FAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities.”

We use derivative instruments as part of our overall strategy
to manage our exposure to market risks associated with fluctua-
tions in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. As a
matter of policy, we do not use derivatives for trading or specula-
tive purposes.

At year-end 2008, we were party to the following derivative
instruments:

3 An interest rate swap agreement under which we receive a
floating rate of interest and pay a fixed rate of interest. The
swap modifies our interest rate exposure by effectively con-
verting a note receivable with a fixed rate to a floating rate.
The aggregate notional amount of the swap was $92 million
and it matures in 2010.

3 Four outstanding interest rate swap agreements to manage
interest rate risk associated with the residual interests we
retain in conjunction with our timeshare note sales.
Historically, we have been required by purchasers and/or rat-
ing agencies to utilize interest rate swaps to protect the
excess spread within our sold note pools. The aggregate
notional amount of the swaps was $111 million, and they
expire through 2022.

3 Two interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk associ-
ated with forecasted timeshare note sales. The aggregate
dollar equivalent of the notional amounts was $149 million at
year-end 2008, and they expire in 2012.

3 Forward contracts to hedge forecasted transactions for con-
tracts and fees denominated in foreign currencies. The
aggregate dollar equivalent of the notional amounts was
approximately $89 million, and they expire in 2009 and 2010.

3 Forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the foreign
currency exposure related to certain monetary assets. The
aggregate dollar equivalent of the notional amounts of the
forward contracts was $190 million at year-end 2008 and
they expire in 2009.

3 Forward foreign exchange contracts to manage currency
exchange rate volatility associated with certain investments in
foreign operations. The contracts offset the gains and losses
associated with translation adjustments for various invest-
ments in foreign operations. The aggregate dollar equivalent
of the notional amounts of the investments remaining at year-
end 2008 was $15 million and they expire in 2009.
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The following table sets forth the scheduled maturities and the total fair value of our derivatives and other financial instruments as of year-
end 2008:

Maturities by Period
Total Total 

Carrying Fair
($ in millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Amount Value

Assets — Maturities represent expected principal 
receipts, fair values represent assets.

Timeshare segment notes receivable $ 81 $ 62 $ 60 $ 58 $ 59 $ 368 $ 688 $ 688
Average interest rate 12.71%

Fixed-rate notes receivable $ 5 $ 92 $ — $ — $ — $ 60 $ 157 $ 128
Average interest rate 9.88%

Floating-rate notes receivable $ 10 $ 2 $ 12 $ 25 $ — $ 32 $ 81 $ 83
Average interest rate 4.27%

Residual interests $ 87 $ 52 $ 32 $ 20 $ 13 $ 17 $ 221 $ 221
Average interest rate 16.8%

Liabilities — Maturities represent expected principal 
payments, fair values represent liabilities.

Fixed-rate debt $(115) $(66) $(16) $(352) $(403) $(1,136) $(2,088) $(1,751)
Average interest rate 5.79%

Floating-rate debt $ — $ — $ — $(969) $ — $ — $ (969) $ (969)
Average interest rate 2.41%

Derivatives — Maturities represent notional amounts; 
fair values represent assets (liabilities).

Interest Rate Swaps:

Fixed to variable $ — $ 93 $ — $ 149 $ — $ 88 $ (21) $ (21)
Average pay rate 4.17%
Average receive rate 1.89%

Variable to fixed $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 23 $ 1 $ 1
Average pay rate 3.26%
Average receive rate 4.01%

Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts:

Fixed (EUR) to Fixed (USD) $ 141 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 1 $ 1
Average Exchange Rate 1.41

Fixed (GBP) to Fixed (USD) $ 25 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 3 $ 3
Average Exchange Rate 1.44

Fixed (HKD) to Fixed (USD) $ 21 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Average Exchange Rate 0.13

Fixed (MXN) to Fixed (USD) $ 15 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Average Exchange Rate 0.07

Fixed (JPY) to Fixed (USD) $ 5 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Average Exchange Rate 0.01

Fixed (CAD) to Fixed (USD) $ 40 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 2 $ 2
Average Exchange Rate 0.82

Fixed (THB) to Fixed (USD) $ 6 $ 24 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (2) $ (2)
Average Exchange Rate 0.03
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Fiscal Years 2008, 2007, and 2006 2008 2007 2006

($ in millions, except per share amounts)

REVENUES
Base management fees (1) $ 635 $ 620 $ 553
Franchise fees (1) 451 439 390
Incentive management fees (1) 311 369 281
Owned, leased, corporate housing, and other revenue 1,225 1,240 1,119
Timeshare sales and services (including net note sale gains of 

$16 million for 2008, $81 million for 2007, and $77 million for 2006) 1,423 1,747 1,577
Cost reimbursements (1) 8,834 8,575 8,075

12,879 12,990 11,995

OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES
Owned, leased, and corporate housing-direct 1,088 1,062 936
Timeshare-direct 1,334 1,397 1,220
Reimbursed costs (1) 8,834 8,575 8,075
Restructuring costs 55 — —
General, administrative, and other (1) 783 768 677

12,094 11,802 10,908

OPERATING INCOME 785 1,188 1,087
Gains and other income (including gain on debt extinguishment in 2008 of $28 million) (1) 38 97 74
Interest expense (1) (163) (184) (124)
Interest income (1) 39 38 49
(Provision for) reversal of provision for loan losses (1) (20) (17) 3
Equity in earnings (1) 15 15 3

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
INCOME TAXES AND MINORITY INTEREST 694 1,137 1,092

Provision for income taxes (1) (350) (441) (380)
Minority interest in losses of consolidated subsidiaries, net of tax 15 1 —

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 359 697 712
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax — — (109)
Discontinued operations, net of tax 3 (1) 5

NET INCOME $ 362 $ 696 $ 608

EARNINGS PER SHARE-Basic
Earnings from continuing operations $ 1.02 $ 1.85 $ 1.76
Losses from cumulative effect of accounting change — — (0.27)
Earnings from discontinued operations 0.01 — 0.01

Earnings per share $ 1.03 $ 1.85 $ 1.50

EARNINGS PER SHARE-Diluted
Earnings from continuing operations $ 0.98 $ 1.75 $1.65
Losses from cumulative effect of accounting change — — (0.25)
Earnings from discontinued operations 0.01 — 0.01

Earnings per share $ 0.99 $ 1.75 $ 1.41

DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER SHARE $0.3375 $0.2875 $0.2400

(1) See Footnote No. 23, “Related Party Transactions,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosure of related party amounts.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
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Fiscal Year-End 2008 and 2007 2008 2007

($ in millions)

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and equivalents $ 134 $ 332
Accounts and notes receivable (1) 898 1,148
Inventory 1,981 1,557
Current deferred taxes, net 186 185
Assets held for sale — 123
Discontinued operations — 53
Other 169 174

3,368 3,572

Property and equipment 1,443 1,329

Intangible assets
Goodwill 875 921
Contract acquisition costs (1) 710 635

1,585 1,556

Equity and cost method investments (1) 346 343

Notes receivable
Loans to equity method investees (1) 50 21
Loans to timeshare owners 607 408
Other notes receivable 173 171

830 600

Other long-term receivables (1) 158 176
Deferred taxes, net (1) 727 678
Other 446 688

$ 8,903 $ 8,942

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt $ 120 $ 175
Accounts payable (1) 704 789
Accrued payroll and benefits 633 642
Liability for guest loyalty program 446 421
Timeshare segment deferred revenue 70 101
Other payables and accruals (1) 560 748

2,533 2,876

Long-term debt 2,975 2,790
Liability for guest loyalty program 1,090 971
Self-insurance reserves 204 182
Other long-term liabilities (1) 710 661
Minority interest 11 33

Shareholders’ equity
Class A Common Stock 5 5
Additional paid-in-capital 3,590 3,531
Retained earnings 3,565 3,332
Treasury stock, at cost (5,765) (5,490)
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (15) 51

1,380 1,429

$ 8,903 $ 8,942

(1) See Footnote No. 23, “Related Party Transactions,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosure of related party amounts.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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Fiscal Years 2008, 2007, and 2006 2008 2007 2006

($ in millions)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income $ 362 $ 696 $ 608

Adjustments to reconcile to cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 190 197 188

Minority interest (24) (3) (7)

Income taxes 110 (150) (76)

Timeshare activity, net (398) (155) (104)

Liability for guest loyalty program 116 122 113

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — — 109

Restructuring costs, net 51 — —

Asset impairments and write-offs 62 13 24

Working capital changes and other 172 58 115

Net cash provided by operating activities 641 778 970

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures (357) (671) (529)

Dispositions 38 745 798

Loan advances (53) (31) (59)

Loan collections and sales 36 106 121

Equity and cost method investments (25) (40) (95)

Purchase of available-for-sale securities — — (27)

Contract acquisition costs (133) (59) (93)

Sale of available-for-sale securities 22 43 —

Other (11) 32 3

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (483) 125 119

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Commercial paper/credit facility, net 384 258 (188)

Issuance of long-term debt 17 820 352

Repayment of long-term debt (275) (153) (17)

Issuance of Class A Common Stock 51 203 378

Dividends paid (115) (105) (93)

Purchase of treasury stock (434) (1,757) (1,546)

Other 16 (28) 15

Net cash used in financing activities (356) (762) (1,099)

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS (198) 141 (10)

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 332 191 201

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, end of year $ 134 $ 332 $ 191

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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Fiscal Years 2008, 2007, and 2006 2008 2007 2006

($ in millions)

Net income $362 $696 $608
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (59) 35 28
Other derivative instrument adjustments 12 (2) —
Unrealized (losses) gains on available-for-sale securities (21) (8) 27
Reclassification of losses (gains) upon sale of available-for-sale securities 2 (18) —

Total other comprehensive (loss) income (66) 7 55

Comprehensive income $296 $703 $663

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Fiscal Years 2008, 2007, and 2006

(in millions, except per share amounts) Accumulated
Common Class A Additional Treasury Other
Shares Common Paid-in- Deferred Retained Stock, at Comprehensive

Outstanding Stock Capital Compensation Earnings Cost Income (Loss)

411.8 Balance at year-end 2005 $5 $3,562 $(137) $2,500 $(2,667) $(11)
— Net income — — — 608 — —
— Dividends ($0.2400 per share) — — — (96) — —

19.2 Employee stock plan issuance and other — 192 — (152) 343 55
— Impact of adoption of FAS No. 123(R) — (137) 137 — — —

(41.5) Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (1,584) —

389.5 Balance at year-end 2006 5 3,617 — 2,860 (3,908) 44
— Impact of adoption of FAS No. 156 — — — 1 — —
— Impact of adoption of FIN 48 — (121) — (34) — —

389.5 Opening balance fiscal year 2007 5 3,496 — 2,827 (3,908) 44
— Net income — — — 696 — —
— Dividends ($0.2875 per share) — — — (107) — —

8.6 Employee stock plan issuance and other — 35 — (84) 195 7
(41.0) Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (1,777) —

357.1 Balance at year-end 2007 5 3,531 — 3,332 (5,490) 51
— Impact of adoption of EITF 06-8 — — — (3) — —

357.1 Opening balance for fiscal year 2008 5 3,531 — 3,329 (5,490) 51
— Net income — — — 362 — —
— Dividends ($0.3375 per share) — — — (118) — —

4.4 Employee stock plan issuance and other — 59 — (8) 96 (66)
(11.9) Purchase of treasury stock — — — — (371) —

349.6 Balance at year-end 2008 $5 $3,590 $   — $3,565 $(5,765) $(15)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements present the results of opera-
tions, financial position, and cash flows of Marriott International, Inc.
(together with its subsidiaries, “we,” “us,” or the “Company”).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial state-
ments, the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods, and the disclosures of contingent liabilities.
Accordingly, ultimate results could differ from those estimates.

As a result of the discontinuation of our synthetic fuel business
on November 3, 2007, the balances and activities of the synthetic
fuel reportable segment have been segregated and reported as dis-
continued operations for all periods presented.

We have reclassified certain prior year amounts to conform to
our 2008 presentation. In our opinion, the accompanying consoli-
dated financial statements reflect all normal and recurring adjust-
ments necessary to present fairly our financial position at fiscal
year-end 2008 and fiscal year-end 2007 and the results of our oper-
ations and cash flows for fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006. We
have eliminated all material intercompany transactions and balances
between entities consolidated in these financial statements.

Fiscal Year
Our fiscal year ends on the Friday nearest to December 31. The
fiscal years in the following table encompass a 52-week period,
except for 2002 and 2008, which both encompass a 53-week
period. Unless otherwise specified, each reference to a particular
year means the fiscal year ended on the date shown in the following
table, rather than the corresponding calendar year:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
Year Year-End Date Year Year-End Date

2008 January 2, 2009 2003 January 2, 2004
2007 December 28, 2007 2002 January 3, 2003
2006 December 29, 2006 2001 December 28, 2001
2005 December 30, 2005 2000 December 29, 2000
2004 December 31, 2004 1999 December 31, 1999

Revenue Recognition
Our revenues include: (1) base management and incentive manage-
ment fees; (2) franchise fees; (3) revenues from lodging properties
and other businesses owned or leased by us; (4) timeshare sales
and services, which also includes resort rental revenue, interest
income associated with our “Loans to timeshare owners,” Timeshare
segment note securitization gains, and revenue from our points-
based use system; and (5) cost reimbursements. Management 
fees comprise a base fee, which is a percentage of the revenues of
hotels, and an incentive fee, which is generally based on hotel prof-
itability. Franchise fees comprise initial application fees and continu-
ing royalties generated from our franchise programs, which permit
the hotel owners and operators to use certain of our brand names.
Cost reimbursements include direct and indirect costs that are reim-
bursed to us by lodging properties that we manage or franchise.

Base Management and Incentive Management Fees: We recog-
nize base management fees as revenue when earned in accordance

with the contract. In interim periods and at year-end, we recognize
incentive management fees that would be due as if the contract were
to terminate at that date, exclusive of any termination fees payable or
receivable by us.

Franchise Fee Revenue: We recognize franchise fees as revenue
in each accounting period as fees are earned from the franchisee.

Owned and Leased Units: We recognize room sales and rev-
enues from other guest services for our owned and leased units
when rooms are occupied and services have been rendered.

Timeshare and Fractional Intervals and Condominiums: We rec-
ognize sales when: (1) we have received a minimum of 10 percent of
the purchase price; (2) the purchaser’s period to cancel for a refund has
expired; (3) we deem the receivables to be collectible; and (4) we have
attained certain minimum sales and construction levels. We defer all
revenue using the deposit method for sales that do not meet all four of
these criteria. For sales that do not qualify for full revenue recognition as
the project has progressed beyond the preliminary stages but has not
yet reached completion, all revenue and profit are deferred and recog-
nized in earnings using the percentage of completion method.

Timeshare Points-Based Use System Revenue: As sales under
this points-based use system are considered to be the sale of real
estate, we recognize these sales when the criteria noted in the “Time-
share and Fractional Intervals and Condominiums” caption are met.

Timeshare Residential (Stand-Alone Structures): We recognize
sales under the full accrual method of accounting when we receive
our proceeds and transfer title at settlement.

Cost Reimbursements: We recognize cost reimbursements
from managed, franchised, and timeshare properties when we incur
the related reimbursable costs.

Other Revenue includes third-party licensing fees, other brand-
ing fees, land rental income, and other revenue.

Ground Leases
We are both the lessor and lessee of land under long-term operat-
ing leases, which include scheduled increases in minimum rents.
We recognize these scheduled rent increases on a straight-line
basis over the initial lease term.

Real Estate Sales
We account for the sales of real estate in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 66, “Accounting for Sales of Real
Estate” (“FAS No. 66”). We reduce gains on sales of real estate by
the maximum exposure to loss if we have continuing involvement
with the property and do not transfer substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership. In sales transactions where we retain a
management contract, the terms and conditions of the manage-
ment contract are generally comparable to the terms and conditions
of the management contracts obtained directly with third-party
owners in competitive bid processes.

Profit Sharing Plan
We contribute to a profit sharing plan for the benefit of employees
meeting certain eligibility requirements and electing participation in
the plan. Contributions are determined based on a specified per-
centage of salary deferrals by participating employees. We recog-
nized compensation costs from profit sharing of $111 million in
2008, $107 million in 2007, and $86 million in 2006.

Self-Insurance Programs
We are self-insured for certain levels of property, liability, workers’
compensation and employee medical coverage. We accrue estimated
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costs of these self-insurance programs at the present value of pro-
jected settlements for known and incurred but not reported claims.
We use a discount rate of 3.0 percent to determine the present
value of the projected settlements, which we consider to be reason-
able given our history of settled claims, including payment patterns
and the fixed nature of the individual settlements.

We are subject to a variety of assessments related to our insur-
ance activities, including those by state guaranty funds and workers’
compensation second-injury funds. Our liabilities recorded for assess-
ments are reflected within the amounts shown in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets on the self-insurance reserves line, are not dis-
counted, and totaled $4 million and $5 million for year-end 2008 and
year-end 2007, respectively. Our liability of $4 million as of year-end
2008 for assessments is expected to be paid by the end of 2009.

Marriott Rewards
Marriott Rewards is our frequent guest loyalty program. Marriott
Rewards members earn points based on their monetary spending 
at our lodging operations, purchases of timeshare interval, fractional
ownership, and residential products and, to a lesser degree, through
participation in affiliated partners’ programs, such as those offered
by car rental and credit card companies. Points, which we track on
members’ behalf, can be redeemed for stays at most of our lodging
operations, airline tickets, airline frequent flyer program miles, rental
cars, and a variety of other awards; however, points cannot be
redeemed for cash. We provide Marriott Rewards as a marketing
program to participating properties. We charge the cost of operating
the program, including the estimated cost of award redemption, to
properties based on members’ qualifying expenditures.

We defer revenue received from managed, franchised, and
Marriott-owned/leased hotels and program partners equal to the 
fair value of our future redemption obligation. We determine the fair
value of the future redemption obligation based on statistical formu-
las that project timing of future point redemption based on historical
levels, including an estimate of the “breakage” for points that will
never be redeemed, and an estimate of the points that will eventu-
ally be redeemed. These judgment factors determine the required
liability for outstanding points.

Our management and franchise agreements require that we be
reimbursed currently for the costs of operating the program, includ-
ing marketing, promotion, communication with, and performing
member services for the Marriott Rewards members. Due to the
requirement that hotels reimburse us for program operating costs
as incurred, we receive and recognize the balance of the revenue
from properties in connection with the Marriott Rewards program at
the time such costs are incurred and expensed. We recognize the
component of revenue from program partners that corresponds to
program maintenance services over the expected life of the points
awarded. Upon the redemption of points, we recognize as revenue
the amounts previously deferred and recognize the corresponding
expense relating to the costs of the awards redeemed. Our liability
for the Marriott Rewards program was $1,536 million at year-end
2008 and $1,392 million at year-end 2007.

Guarantees
We record a liability for the fair value of a guarantee on the date a
guarantee is issued or modified. The offsetting entry depends on
the circumstances in which the guarantee was issued. Funding
under the guarantee reduces the recorded liability. When no funding
is forecasted, the liability is amortized into income on a straight-line
basis over the remaining term of the guarantee. On a quarterly
basis, we evaluate all material estimated liabilities based on the
operating results and the terms of the guarantee. If we conclude
that it is probable that we will be required to fund a greater amount
than previously estimated, we will record a loss.

Rebates and Allowances
We participate in various vendor rebate and allowance arrangements
as a manager of hotel properties. There are three types of programs
that are common in the hotel industry that are sometimes referred to
as “rebates” or “allowances,” including unrestricted rebates, market-
ing (restricted) rebates and sponsorships. The primary business pur-
pose of these arrangements is to secure favorable pricing for our
hotel owners for various products and services or enhance
resources for promotional campaigns co-sponsored by certain ven-
dors. More specifically, unrestricted rebates are funds returned to 
the buyer, generally based upon volumes or quantities of goods
purchased. Marketing (restricted) allowances are funds allocated by
vendor agreements for certain marketing or other joint promotional
initiatives. Sponsorships are funds paid by vendors, generally used
by the vendor to gain exposure at meetings and events, which are
accounted for as a reduction of the cost of the event.

We account for rebates and allowances as adjustments of the
prices of the vendors’ products and services. We show vendor
costs and the reimbursement of those costs as reimbursed costs
and cost reimbursements revenue, respectively; therefore, rebates
are reflected as a reduction of these line items.

Cash and Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of
three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash, totaling $103 million and $153 million at year-end
2008 and year-end 2007, respectively, is recorded in the “Other
long-term assets” line in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Restricted cash primarily consists of cash held internation-
ally that has not been repatriated due to accounting, statutory, tax
and foreign currency risks, and deposits received on timeshare
interval, fractional ownership, and residential sales that are held in
escrow until the contract is closed.

Assets Held for Sale
We consider properties (other than Timeshare segment interval,
fractional ownership, and residential products, which we classify as
inventory) to be assets held for sale when all of the following criteria
are met:

3 management commits to a plan to sell a property;

3 it is unlikely that the disposal plan will be significantly modi-
fied or discontinued;

3 the property is available for immediate sale in its present con-
dition;

3 actions required to complete the sale of the property have
been initiated;

3 sale of the property is probable and we expect the com-
pleted sale will occur within one year; and

3 the property is actively being marketed for sale at a price that
is reasonable given its current market value.

Upon designation as an asset held for sale, we record the carry-
ing value of each property at the lower of its carrying value or its
estimated fair value, less estimated costs to sell, and we cease
depreciation.

At year-end 2008, we had no assets held for sale or liabilities
related to assets held for sale.

Assets held for sale totaled $123 million at year-end 2007 
and consisted of property and equipment. The $123 million total
reflected the following segment composition: North American Full-
Service-$17 million; North American Limited-Service-$17 million;
and Luxury-$89 million. There were no liabilities of assets held for
sale at year-end 2007.

48 Marriott International, Inc. 2008



In 2007, we reclassified the balances associated with one property,
in conformity with other “held and used” properties, as the property 
no longer satisfied the criteria to be classified as “held for sale.” In con-
junction with that reclassification, we recorded depreciation expense 
of $4 million in 2007 that would have been recognized in 2006 and 
$4 million in late 2007 that would have been recognized earlier in 2007
had the asset been continuously classified as “held and used.”

Loan Loss Reserves
Lodging Senior Loans and Lodging Mezzanine and Other Loans
We measure loan impairment based on the present value of
expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original effective
interest rate or the estimated fair value of the collateral. For impaired
loans, we establish a specific impairment reserve for the difference
between the recorded investment in the loan and the present value
of the expected future cash flows or the estimated fair value of the
collateral. We apply our loan impairment policy individually to all
loans in the portfolio and do not aggregate loans for the purpose 
of applying such policy. For loans that we have determined to be
impaired, we recognize interest income on a cash basis.

Loans to Timeshare Owners
We record an estimate of expected uncollectibility on notes receiv-
able that we receive from timeshare purchasers as a reduction of
revenue at the time we recognize profit on a timeshare sale. We
assess uncollectibility based on pools of receivables because we
hold large numbers of homogeneous timeshare notes receivable.
We estimate uncollectibles based on historical activity for similar
timeshare notes receivable from 2004 forward. We use a technique
referred to as static pool analysis, which tracks uncollectibles for
each year’s sales over the life of those notes.

Valuation of Goodwill
We evaluate the fair value of goodwill to assess potential impairments
on an annual basis, or during the year if an event or other circumstance
indicates that we may not be able to recover the carrying amount of
the asset. We evaluate the fair value of goodwill at the reporting unit
level and make that determination based upon future cash flow projec-
tions that assume certain growth projections, which may or may not
occur. We record an impairment loss for goodwill when the carrying
value of the intangible asset is greater than its estimated fair value.

Investments
We consolidate entities that we control. We account for investments
in joint ventures using the equity method of accounting when we
exercise significant influence over the venture. If we do not exercise
significant influence, we account for the investment using the cost
method of accounting. We account for investments in limited part-
nerships and limited liability companies using the equity method 
of accounting when we own more than a minimal investment. Our
ownership interest in these equity method investments varies gener-
ally from 10 percent to 50 percent.

The fair value of our available-for-sale securities totaled $10 million
and $55 million at year-end 2008 and year-end 2007, respectively. We
included net unrealized holding (losses) gains on available-for-sale
securities of ($10) million at year-end 2008 and $9 million at year-end
2007 in accumulated other comprehensive income. The amount of 
net (losses) gains reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive
income as a result of the sale of available-for-sale securities totaled
($2) million and $18 million for 2008 and 2007, respectively. We deter-
mined the cost basis of the securities sold using specific identification.

Costs Incurred to Sell Real Estate Projects
We charge the majority of sales and marketing costs we incur to
sell timeshares to expense when incurred. Selling and marketing

costs deferred were $7 million at year-end 2008 and $6 million at
year-end 2007 and are included in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets in the “Other” caption within the “Current assets”
section. If a contract is canceled, we charge unrecoverable direct
selling and marketing costs to expense and record deposits for-
feited as income.

Residual Interests
We periodically sell notes receivable originated by our Timeshare
segment in connection with the sale of timeshare interval and frac-
tional products. We continue to service the notes and transfer all
proceeds collected to special purpose entities. We retain servicing
assets and other interests in the notes and account for these assets
and interests as residual interests. The interests are limited to the
present value of cash available after paying financing expenses and
program fees and absorbing credit losses. We measure our servic-
ing assets using the fair value method. Under the fair value method,
we carry servicing assets on the balance sheet at fair value and
report the changes in fair value, primarily due to changes in valua-
tion inputs and assumptions and to the collection or realization of
expected cash flows, in earnings in the period in which the change
occurs. We treat the residual interests, including servicing assets, 
as “trading” securities under the provisions of FAS No. 115. At the
dates of sale and at the end of each reporting period, we estimate
the fair value of the residual interests, including servicing assets,
using a discounted cash flow model. We report changes in the fair
values of these residual interests, including servicing assets, through
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

The most significant estimate involved in the measurement
process is the discount rate, followed by the default rate and the
loan repayment rate. Estimates of these rates are based on man-
agement’s expectations of future prepayment rates and default
rates, reflecting our historical experience, industry trends, current
market interest rates, expected future interest rates, and other con-
siderations. Actual repayment rates, default rates, and discount
rates could differ from those projected by management due to
changes in a variety of economic factors, including prevailing inter-
est rates and the availability of alternative financing sources to bor-
rowers. If actual prepayments of the loans being serviced occur
s more slowly than we project, the carrying value of servicing assets
could increase and accretion and servicing income would exceed
previously projected amounts. If actual default rates or actual dis-
count rates are lower than we expect, the carrying value of retained
interests could increase and accretion and servicing income would
exceed previously projected amounts. Accordingly, the residual
interests, including servicing assets, actually realized, could differ
from the amounts initially recorded.

For additional information regarding residual interests, see
Footnote No. 5, “Fair Value Measurements,” and Footnote No. 12,
“Asset Securitizations.”

Derivative Instruments
We use derivative instruments as part of our overall strategy to man-
age our exposure to market risks associated with fluctuations in
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. As a matter of
policy, we do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

We record all derivatives at fair value either as assets or liabili-
ties. We recognize, currently in earnings, changes in fair value of
derivatives not designated as hedging instruments and of deriva-
tives designated as fair value hedging instruments. We record
changes in the fair value of the hedged item in a fair value hedge as
an adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item and rec-
ognize the change in the fair value of the derivative in earnings in
the same income statement line item.
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We record the effective portion of changes in fair value of deriva-
tives designated as cash flow hedging instruments as a component
of other comprehensive income and report the ineffective portion
currently in earnings. We reclassify amounts included in other com-
prehensive income into earnings in the same period during which
the hedged item affects earnings.

Foreign Operations
The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of our consolidated and
unconsolidated entities operating in the United States. The functional
currency for our consolidated and unconsolidated entities operating
outside of the United States is generally the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity primarily generates and
expends cash. For consolidated entities whose functional currency 
is not the U.S. dollar, we translate their financial statements into U.S.
dollars, and we do the same, as needed, for unconsolidated entities
whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar. We translate assets
and liabilities at the exchange rate in effect as of the financial state-
ment date, and income statement accounts are translated using the
weighted average exchange rate for the period. We include transla-
tion adjustments from foreign exchange and the effect of exchange
rate changes on intercompany transactions of a long-term investment
nature as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. We report
gains and losses from foreign exchange rate changes related to inter-
company receivables and payables that are not of a long-term invest-
ment nature, as well as gains and losses from foreign currency
transactions, currently in operating costs and expenses, and those
amounted to a $6 million loss in 2008, a $2 million loss in 2007, and
a $6 million gain in 2006. Gains and other income for 2007 included
$6 million attributable to currency translation adjustment gains, net of
losses, from the sale or complete or substantially complete liquidation
of investments. There were no similar gains or losses in 2008.

New Accounting Standards
EITF Issue No. 06-8, “Applicability of the Assessment of a
Buyer’s Continuing Investment under FASB Statement No. 66 for
Sales of Condominiums”
We adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”)
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 06-8, “Applicability 
of the Assessment of a Buyer’s Continuing Investment under FASB
Statement No. 66 for Sales of Condominiums” (“EITF 06-8”) on
December 29, 2007, the first day of our 2008 fiscal year. EITF 06-8
states that in assessing the collectibility of the sales price pursuant to
paragraph 37(d) of FAS No. 66, an entity should evaluate the ade-
quacy of the buyer’s initial and continuing investment to conclude that
the sales price is collectible. If an entity is unable to meet the criteria of
paragraph 37, including an assessment of collectibility using the initial
and continuing investment tests described in paragraphs 8 through 12
of FAS No. 66, then the entity should apply the deposit method of
accounting as described in paragraphs 65 through 67 of FAS No. 66.

Although our adoption of EITF 06-8 had no impact on our wholly
owned projects, in conjunction with the adoption of EITF 06-8 by
one joint venture in which we are a partner, we recorded the cumu-
lative effect of applying EITF 06-8 as a reduction of $5 million to our
investment in that joint venture, an increase in deferred tax assets of
$2 million, and a reduction of $3 million to the opening balance of
our retained earnings. The application of the continuing investment
criterion in EITF 06-8 on the collectibility of the sales price could in
certain future circumstances delay our ability, or the ability of joint
ventures in which we are a partner, to recognize revenues and
costs using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting.

Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”
We adopted FAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS No.
157”), on December 29, 2007, the first day of fiscal year 2008.

FAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a methodology for
measuring fair value, and expands the required disclosure for fair
value measurements. On February 12, 2008, the FASB issued
FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB
Statement No. 157,” which amends FAS No. 157 by delaying its
effective date by one year for non-financial assets and non-financial
liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair
value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. Therefore,
beginning on December 29, 2007, this standard applied prospec-
tively to new fair value measurements of financial instruments and
recurring fair value measurements of non-financial assets and non-
financial liabilities. On January 3, 2009, the beginning of our 2009
fiscal year, the standard will also apply to all other fair value meas-
urements. See Footnote No. 5, “Fair Value Measurements,” for
additional information.

Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option
for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities-Including an
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115”
We adopted FAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities-Including an Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 115” (“FAS No. 159”), on December 29, 2007, the
first day of our 2008 fiscal year. This standard permits but does not
require entities to measure many financial instruments and certain
other items at fair value. We did not elect the fair value measure-
ment option for any of our financial assets or liabilities in 2008.

EITF Issue No. 07-6, “Accounting for Sales of Real Estate Subject to
the Requirements of FASB Statement No. 66, ‘Accounting for Sales
of Real Estate,’ When the Agreement Includes a Buy-Sell Clause”
We adopted EITF Issue No. 07-6, “Accounting for Sales of Real
Estate Subject to the Requirements of FASB Statement No. 66,
‘Accounting for Sales of Real Estate,’ When the Agreement Includes
a Buy-Sell Clause” (“EITF 07-6”), on December 29, 2007, the first
day of our 2008 fiscal year. EITF 07-6 clarifies whether a buy-sell
clause is a prohibited form of continuing involvement that would
preclude partial sales treatment under FAS No. 66. EITF 07-6 is
effective for new arrangements entered into and assessments of
existing transactions originally accounted for under the deposit,
profit sharing, leasing, or financing methods for reasons other than
the exercise of a buy-sell clause performed in 2008 and thereafter.
The adoption of EITF 07-6 did not have a material impact on our
financial statements.

FASB Staff Position FAS No. 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 “Disclosures
by Public Entities (Enterprises) about Transfers of Financial
Assets and Interests in Variable Interest Entities”
We adopted FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS No. 140-4 and FIN
46(R)-8 “Disclosures by Public Entities (Enterprises) about Transfers
of Financial Assets and Interests in Variable Interest Entities” in con-
junction with our 2008 fiscal year-end. FSP FAS No. 140-4 and FIN
46(R)-8 amends FAS No. 140 to require public entities to provide
additional disclosures about transferors’ continuing involvements
with transferred financial assets. It also amends FIN 46(R) to require
public enterprises, including sponsors that have a variable interest
in a variable interest entity, to provide additional disclosures about
their involvement with variable interest entities. The FSP also
requires disclosures by a public enterprise that is a sponsor of a
qualifying special-purpose entity (“SPE”) that holds a variable inter-
est in the qualifying SPE but was not the transferor of financial
assets to the qualifying SPE and a servicer of a qualifying SPE that
holds a significant variable interest in the qualifying SPE but was not
the transferor of financial assets to the qualifying SPE. FSP FAS No.
140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 is effective for year-end 2008 disclosures.
The adoption of FSP FAS No. 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 did not have 
a material impact on our financial statements.
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FSP EITF 99-20-1 “Amendments to the Impairment Guidance of
EITF Issue No. 99-20, ‘Recognition of Interest Income and
Impairment on Purchased Beneficial Interests and Beneficial
Interests That Continue to be Held by a Transferor in Securitized
Financial Assets’”
We adopted FSP EITF 99-20-1 “Amendments to the Impairment
Guidance of EITF Issue No. 99-20, ‘Recognition of Interest Income
and Impairment on Purchased Beneficial Interests and Beneficial
Interests That Continue to be Held by a Transferor in Securitized
Financial Assets,’” (“FSP EITF 99-20-1”) in conjunction with our
2008 fiscal year-end. FSP EITF 99-20-1 amends EITF Issue No.
99-20 to align the impairment guidance in EITF Issue No. 99-20
with that of FAS No. 115. FAS No. 115 measures impairment
based on a determination of whether an other-than-temporary
impairment has occurred. Our residual interests in our asset securi-
tizations are recorded at fair value each reporting period. Therefore,
the adoption of FSP EITF 99-20-1 did not have a material impact
on our financial statements.

Future Adoption of Accounting Standards
Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (Revised 2007),
“Business Combinations”
On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 141 (Revised
2007), “Business Combinations” (“FAS No. 141(R)”). FAS No.
141(R) will significantly change the accounting for business combi-
nations. Under FAS No. 141(R), an acquiring entity will be required
to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a
transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions.
Transaction costs will no longer be included in the measurement 
of the business acquired. Instead, these costs will be expensed 
as they are incurred. FAS No. 141(R) also includes a substantial
number of new disclosure requirements. FAS No. 141(R) applies
prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which for us begins with
our 2009 fiscal year.

Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, “Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements-an Amendment
of ARB No. 51”
On December 4, 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 160,
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements-an
Amendment of ARB No. 51” (“FAS No. 160”). FAS No. 160 estab-
lishes new accounting and reporting standards for a noncontrolling
interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
Specifically, this statement requires the recognition of a noncontrol-
ling interest (minority interest) as equity in the consolidated financial
statements separate from the parent’s equity. The amount of net
income attributable to the noncontrolling interest will be included in
consolidated net income on the face of the income statement. FAS
No. 160 clarifies that changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation are equity transac-
tions if the parent retains its controlling financial interest. In addition,
this statement requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net
income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. Such gain or loss will
be measured using the fair value of the noncontrolling equity invest-
ment on the deconsolidation date. FAS No. 160 also includes
expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of the
parent and its noncontrolling interest. FAS No. 160 must be applied
prospectively for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which for us
begins with our 2009 fiscal year except for the presentation and
disclosure requirements, which must be applied retrospectively for
all periods presented. We are currently evaluating the impact that
FAS No. 160 will have on our financial statements.

Financial Accounting Standards No. 161, “Disclosures about
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities-an amendment 
of FASB Statement No. 133”
In March 2008, the FASB issued FAS No. 161, “Disclosures about
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities-an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 133” (“FAS No. 161”). FAS No. 161 requires enhanced
disclosure related to derivatives and hedging activities and thereby
seeks to improve the transparency of financial reporting. Under FAS
No. 161, entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures relat-
ing to: (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments; (b) how
derivative instruments and related hedge items are accounted for
under FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” (“FAS No. 133”), and its related interpretations;
and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an
entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. FAS
No. 161 must be applied prospectively to all derivative instruments
and non-derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as
hedging instruments and related hedged items accounted for under
FAS No. 133 for all financial statements issued for fiscal years and
interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008, which for us
begins with our 2009 fiscal year. We are currently evaluating the
impact that FAS No. 161 will have on our financial statements.

INCOME TAXES

We adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”), on
December 30, 2006, the first day of fiscal year 2007. As a result 
of the implementation of FIN 48, we recorded a $155 million
increase in the net liability for unrecognized tax positions, which was
recorded as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earn-
ings and additional paid-in-capital on December 30, 2006. The total
amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of year-end 2008 and year-
end 2007 was $141 million and $132 million, respectively. Included
in the balances at year-end 2008 and year-end 2007 were $87 mil-
lion and $97 million, respectively, of tax positions that, if recognized,
would impact the effective tax rate.

The unrecognized tax benefit reconciliation from the beginning
balance to the ending balance is as follows:

($ in millions) Amount

Unrecognized tax benefit at beginning of year 
(December 30, 2006) $244
Change attributable to tax positions taken during a 

prior period 163
Change attributable to tax positions taken during the 

current period 5
Decrease attributable to settlements with taxing authorities (279)
Decrease attributable to lapse of statute of limitations (1)

Unrecognized tax benefit at end of year 
(December 29, 2007) 132
Change attributable to tax positions taken during a 

prior period 92
Change attributable to tax positions taken during the 

current period 5
Decrease attributable to settlements with taxing authorities (86)
Decrease attributable to lapse of statute of limitations (2)

Unrecognized tax benefit at end of year 
(January 2, 2009) $141
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In accordance with our accounting policy, we recognize accrued
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a com-
ponent of tax expense. This policy did not change as a result of the
adoption of FIN 48. Our Consolidated Statement of Income for the
year ended January 2, 2009, and our Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as of that date include interest of $42 million and $29 million, respec-
tively. Our Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended
December 28, 2007, and our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of that
date include interest of $18 million and $8 million, respectively.

We file income tax returns, including returns for our subsidiaries,
with federal, state, local, and foreign jurisdictions. We are participat-
ing in the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) Compliance Assurance
Program (“CAP”) for the 2008 and 2007 tax years and we intend to
participate for 2009. This program accelerates the examination of
key transactions with the goal of resolving any issues before the tax
return is filed. Our federal income tax returns have been examined
and we have settled all issues for tax years through 2004 with the
exception of one 1994 transaction discussed below. The 2005 and
2006 examinations have been completed, and the issues from
those years are now at the IRS Appeals Division. Various state,
local, and foreign income tax returns are also under examination 
by taxing authorities.

In 2008, we recorded a $24 million income tax expense prima-
rily related to the treatment of funds received from certain foreign
subsidiaries. We are contesting the issue with the IRS for tax years
2005 and 2006. In addition, we recorded a $19 million tax expense
in 2008 due primarily to prior years’ tax adjustments, including a
settlement with the IRS that resulted in a lower than expected
refund of taxes associated with a 1995 leasing transaction. The
settlement resulted in a $26 million tax refund, which we received
during 2008.

We also recorded, in 2008, a $29 million income tax expense
primarily related to an unfavorable U.S. Court of Federal Claims
decision involving a refund claim associated with a 1994 tax plan-
ning transaction. The tax had been paid, and we had filed a refund
claim to recover the taxes. We have appealed the ruling.

For 2008, we increased unrecognized tax benefits by $97 mil-
lion, including increases for the foreign subsidiaries issue as well as
the 1994 tax planning transaction issue. For the same period, we
decreased unrecognized tax benefits by $88 million related primarily
to the settlement of the 1995 leasing transaction. The balance of
unrecognized tax benefits was $141 million at year-end 2008.

In 2007, we reached a settlement of issues raised during the
IRS’ and Department of Labor’s examination of the employee stock
ownership plan (“ESOP”) feature of the Company’s Employees’
Profit Sharing, Retirement and Savings Plan (the “Plan”). The settle-
ment resulted in an after-tax charge in 2007 totaling $54 million and
a reduction in shareholders’ equity of $115 million. The $54 million
charge included $35 million of excise taxes (impacting general,
administrative, and other expense), $13 million of interest expense
on those excise taxes, and $6 million of income tax expense prima-
rily reflecting additional interest. As a result of the settlement, we
have made cash payments to the U.S. Treasury and state tax juris-
dictions of $206 million through year-end 2008. The payments
reflect income taxes, excise taxes, and interest charges. No penal-
ties were assessed. For additional information regarding the Plan
and the ESOP settlement, see Footnote No. 3, “Income Taxes,” in
our 2007 Form 10-K.

As a large taxpayer, we are under continual audit by the IRS and
other taxing authorities. It is possible that the amount of the liability

for unrecognized tax benefits could change during the next 52-
week period, but we do not anticipate that a significant impact to
the unrecognized tax benefit balance will occur.

Total deferred tax assets and liabilities as of year-end 2008 and
year-end 2007, were as follows:

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Deferred tax assets $1,048 $1,013
Deferred tax liabilities (135) (150)

Net deferred taxes $ 913 $ 863

The tax effect of each type of temporary difference and carry-for-
ward that gives rise to a significant portion of deferred tax assets and
liabilities as of year-end 2008 and year-end 2007, were as follows:

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Self-insurance $ 25 $ 27
Employee benefits 280 282
Deferred income 24 30
Other reserves 82 52
Frequent guest program 113 105
Tax credits 237 300
Net operating loss carry-forwards 170 139
Timeshare financing (22) (47)
Property, equipment, and intangible assets (41) (45)
Other, net 83 58

Deferred taxes 951 901
Less: valuation allowance (38) (38)

Net deferred taxes $913 $863

We claimed approximately $6 million of tax credits in 2008
(treated them as a reduction of 2008 Federal and Hawaii income
taxes) associated with investment tax credits that arose in 2008 
that we account for using the flow-through method in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 4, “Accounting for the Investment Credit.” 
At year-end 2008, we had approximately $10 million of tax credits
that expire through 2028, of which $3 million are investment tax
credits and $226 million of tax credits that do not expire. We
recorded $24 million of net operating loss benefits in 2008. At 
year-end 2008, we had approximately $749 million of net operating
losses, of which $447 million expire through 2028.

We have made no provision for U.S. income taxes or additional
foreign taxes on the cumulative unremitted earnings of non-U.S.
subsidiaries ($911 million as of year-end 2008) because we con-
sider these earnings to be permanently invested. These earnings
could become subject to additional taxes if remitted as dividends,
loaned to us or a U.S. affiliate or if we sold our interests in the affili-
ates. We cannot practically estimate the amount of additional taxes
that might be payable on the unremitted earnings. We conduct
business in countries that grant a “holiday” from income taxes for
10- and 30-year periods. The holidays expire through 2034. The
aggregate amount of taxes not incurred due to tax “holidays” and
the related earnings per share impacts are $14 million ($0.04 per
diluted share), $14 million ($0.04 per diluted share), and $22 million
($0.05 per diluted share) for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.
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The (provision for) benefit from income taxes consists of:

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Current — Federal $(275) $(303) $(287)
— State (40) (59) (61)
— Foreign (85) (61) (56)

(400) (423) (404)
Deferred — Federal 7 (10) 5

— State 8 1 1
— Foreign 35 (9) 18

50 (18) 24

$(350) $(441) $(380)

The current tax provision does not reflect the benefits attributable
to us relating to the exercise or vesting of employee share-based
awards of $21 million in 2008, $114 million in 2007, and $194 million
in 2006. Included in the preceding table are tax credits of $9 million in
2008 and $4 million in each of 2007 and 2006. The taxes applicable
to other comprehensive income are not material.

A reconciliation of the U.S. statutory tax rate to our effective
income tax rate for continuing operations follows:

2008 2007 2006

U.S. statutory tax rate 35.0)% 35.0)% 35.0)%
State income taxes, net of U.S. 

tax benefit 2.6 2.8 2.9
Nondeductible expenses 0.6 1.4 0.3
Foreign income (1.6) (0.9) (1.8)
IRS activity 11.2 — —
Company owned life insurance 2.7 (0.6) (0.6)
Change in valuation allowance — — (1.9)
Tax credits (1.2) (0.3) (0.4)
Other, net 1.1 1.4 0.7

Effective rate 50.4)% 38.8)% 34.2)%

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds, was $220 million in
2008, $350 million in 2007, and $169 million in 2006.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS-SYNTHETIC
FUEL

Our synthetic fuel operations consisted of four coal-based synthetic
fuel production facilities (the “Facilities”). Because tax credits under
Section 45K of the Internal Revenue Code are not available for the
production and sale of synthetic fuel produced from coal after cal-
endar year-end 2007, and because we estimated that high oil
prices during 2007 would result in the phase-out of a significant
portion of the tax credits available for synthetic fuel produced and
sold in 2007, on November 3, 2007, we shut down the Facilities
and permanently ceased production of synthetic fuel. Accordingly,
we now report this business as a discontinued operation.

The tax credits available under the Internal Revenue Code for the
production and sale of synthetic fuels were established by Congress 
to encourage the development of alternative domestic energy sources.
Congress deemed that the incentives provided by the tax credits would
not be necessary if the price of oil increased beyond certain thresholds
as prices would then provide a more natural market for these alterna-
tive fuels. As a result, the tax credits available under the Internal
Revenue Code for the production and sale of synthetic fuel in any given
calendar year were phased out if the Reference Price of a barrel of oil
for that year fell within a specified range. The Reference Price of a

barrel of oil is an estimate of the annual average wellhead price per bar-
rel of domestic crude oil and was determined for each calendar year by
the Secretary of the Treasury by April 1 of the following year. The price
range within which the credit was phased out was set in 1980 and was
adjusted annually for inflation. In 2007, the Reference Price phase-out
range was $56.78 to $71.27. Because the Reference Price of a barrel
of oil for 2007 was within that range, at $66.52, there was a 67.2 per-
cent reduction of the tax credits available for synthetic fuel produced
and sold in 2007. Income from discontinued operations of $3 million in
2008, primarily reflected the recognition in 2008 of additional tax credits
as a result of the determination by the Secretary of the Treasury in 2008
of the Reference Price of a barrel of oil for 2007, partially offset by obli-
gations based on the amount of additional tax credits. The determina-
tion resulted in a 67.2 percent reduction of tax credits for the 2007
fiscal year, compared to the reduction of 70.7 percent that had been
estimated and recorded in the 2007 fiscal year.

The following tables provide additional income statement and
balance sheet information relating to the discontinued synthetic fuel
operations.

Income Statement Summary

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Revenue $ 1 $ 352 $165

Operating loss $ (4) $(113) $ (76)
Gains and other expense — (6) (15)
Interest expense — (8) (4)

Loss from discontinued operations 
before income taxes and 
minority interest (4) (127) (95)

Tax (provision) benefit (3) 46 32
Tax credits 10 80 62

Total tax benefit 7 126 94

Income (loss) before minority interest 3 (1) (1)
Minority interest — — 6

Income (loss) from 
discontinued operations $ 3 $ (1) $ 5

Balance Sheet Summary

At At 
Year-End Year-End 

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Other current assets $— $ 53
Current liabilities-other 

payables and accruals (3) (13)

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Under our 2002 Comprehensive Stock and Cash Incentive Plan, we
award: (1) stock options to purchase our Class A Common Stock
(“Stock Option Program”); (2) stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) for
our Class A Common Stock; (3) restricted stock units of our Class
A Common Stock; and (4) deferred stock units. We grant awards at
exercise prices or strike prices that are equal to the market price of
our Class A Common Stock on the date of grant.

For all share-based awards FAS No. 123(R) requires that we
measure compensation costs related to our share-based payment
transactions at fair value on the grant date and that we recognize
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those costs in the financial statements over the vesting period dur-
ing which the employee provides service in exchange for the award.

During 2008 we granted 5.6 million restricted stock units (2.6 million
most of which were granted in February and had a weighted average
grant-date fair value of $35 per unit and 3.0 million were granted in
August and had a weighted average grant-date fair value of $26 per
unit), 2.7 million Employee SARs (1.8 million most of which were granted
in February and had a weighted average grant-date fair value of $13 per
right and 0.9 million were granted in August and had a weighted aver-
age grant-date fair value of $10 per right), and 4,000 Non-employee
SARs. During that time period, we also granted approximately 218,000
stock options and issued 25,000 deferred stock units. The grants made
in August would ordinarily have been made in February 2009, but were
accelerated to encourage associate retention in a difficult economic
climate. Awards for the most senior executives were not accelerated.

Under FAS No. 123(R), we recorded share-based compensation
expense related to award grants of $112 million in 2008, $104 mil-
lion in 2007, and $108 million in 2006. Deferred compensation
costs related to unvested awards totaled $215 million at year-end
2008 and $162 million at year-end 2007, and the weighted average
period over which we expect the deferred compensation costs at
year-end 2008 to be recognized is two years.

For share-based compensation grants that occur after the adoption
of FAS No. 123(R), (which for us was the first day of fiscal year 2006),
FAS No. 123(R) requires that share-based compensation expense be
recognized over the period from the grant date to the date on which
the award is no longer contingent on the employee providing additional
service (the “substantive vesting period”). We continue to follow the
stated vesting period for the unvested portion of awards granted prior
to adoption of FAS No. 123(R) and follow the substantive vesting
period for awards granted after the adoption of FAS No. 123(R).

In accordance with FAS No. 123(R), we present the tax benefits
resulting from the exercise or vesting of share-based awards as
financing cash flows. Tax benefits resulting from the exercise of
share-based awards totaled $21 million, $114 million, and $194 mil-
lion for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

The aggregate amount of cash we received from the exercise of
stock options granted under share-based payment arrangements
was $30 million, $89 million, and $184 million for 2008, 2007, and
2006, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units
We issue restricted stock units under the Comprehensive Plan to cer-
tain officers and key employees and those units vest generally over
four years in annual installments commencing one year after the date
of grant. We recognize compensation expense for the restricted stock
units over the service period equal to the fair market value of the stock
units on the date of issuance. Upon vesting, restricted stock units
convert to shares and are distributed from treasury shares. At year-end
2008 and year-end 2007, we had approximately $192 million and
$145 million, respectively, in deferred compensation costs related to
restricted stock units. Share-based compensation expense associated

with restricted stock units was $85 million, $82 million, and $77 million
for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The weighted average remain-
ing term for restricted stock unit grants outstanding at year-end 2008
was two years. Restricted stock units converted and distributed during
2008, 2007, and 2006, had aggregate intrinsic values of $90 million,
$147 million, and $78 million, respectively. The weighted average
grant-date fair values of restricted stock units granted in 2008, 2007,
and 2006 were $30, $49, and $35, respectively.

Changes in our outstanding restricted stock unit grants in 2008
were as follows:

Number of Weighted
Restricted Average

Stock Units Grant-Date
(in millions) Fair Value

Outstanding at year-end 2007 6.7 $37
Granted during 2008 5.6 30
Distributed during 2008 (2.6) 34
Forfeited during 2008 (0.4) 36

Outstanding at year-end 2008 9.3 34

Stock Options and SARs
Employee stock options may be granted to officers and key employ-
ees at exercise prices or strike prices equal to the market price of
our Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. Non-qualified
options generally expire 10 years after the date of grant, except
those issued from 1990 through 2000, which expire 15 years after
the date of the grant. Most stock options under the Stock Option
Program are exercisable in cumulative installments of one quarter 
at the end of each of the first four years following the date of grant.

We recognized compensation expense associated with employee
stock options of $6 million in 2008, $12 million in 2007, and $22 mil-
lion in 2006. At year-end 2008 and year-end 2007, there was
approximately $2 million and $6 million, respectively, in deferred
compensation costs related to employee stock options. Upon the
exercise of stock options, we issue shares from treasury shares.

Changes in our outstanding Stock Option Program awards in
2008 were as follows:

Number of Weighted
Options Average

(in millions) Exercise Price

Outstanding at year-end 2007 37.7 $17
Granted during 2008 0.2 31
Exercised during 2008 (2.4) 13
Forfeited during 2008 (0.2) 25

Outstanding at year-end 2008 35.3 17

Stock options issued under the Stock Option Program awards
outstanding at year-end 2008, were as follows:
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Outstanding Exercisable
Number of Weighted Average Weighted Number of Weighted Weighted Average

Range of Stock Options Remaining Life Average Stock Options Average Remaining Life
Exercise Prices (in millions) (in years) Exercise Price (in millions) Exercise Price (in years)

$ 6 to $  8 1.8 1 $ 7 1.8 $ 7 1
9 to 12 1.4 3 10 1.4 10 3

13 to  18 20.7 5 15 20.6 15 5
19 to   25 9.9 6 22 9.8 22 6
26 to   50 1.5 7 32 1.0 32 7

6 to   50 35.3 5 17 34.6 17 5
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The number of options granted in the last three fiscal years 
and the associated weighted average grant-date fair values and
weighted average exercise prices are noted in the following table:

2008 2007 2006

Options granted 218,000 33,000 24,000
Weighted average grant-date fair value $12 $19 $13
Weighted average exercise price $31 $49 $34

The total intrinsic value of options outstanding at year-end 2008
and year-end 2007 was $88 million and $636 million, respectively,
and the total intrinsic value for stock options exercisable as of year-
end 2008 and year-end 2007 was $95 million and $624 million,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised dur-
ing 2008, 2007, and 2006 was approximately $42 million, $206 mil-
lion, and $309 million, respectively.

Employee SARs may be granted to officers and key employees
at exercise prices or strike prices equal to the market price of our
Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. SARs generally expire
10 years after the date of grant and both vest and are exercisable in
cumulative installments of one quarter at the end of each of the first
four years following the date of grant. Non-employee SARs may be
granted to directors at exercise prices or strike prices equal to the
market price of our Class A Common Stock on the date of grant.
Non-employee SARs generally expire 10 years after the date of
grant and vest upon grant; however, they are generally not exercis-
able until one year after grant. We first began issuing SARs in 2006.
On exercise of SARs, employees or Non-employee directors receive
the number of shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the num-
ber of SARs that are being exercised multiplied by the quotient of
(a) the final value minus the base value, divided by (b) the final value.

We recognized compensation expense associated with
Employee SARs and Non-employee SARs of $18 million in 2008,
$5 million in 2007, and $3 million in 2006. At the end of 2008 and
2007, we had approximately $19 million and $7 million, respectively,
in deferred compensation costs related to SARs. Upon the exercise
of SARs, shares are issued from treasury shares.

The number of Employee SARs granted in the last three fiscal
years and the associated weighted average base values and weighted
average grant-date fair values are noted in the following table:

2008 2007 2006

Employee SARs granted (in millions) 2.7 0.4 0.5
Weighted average base value $33 $49 $34
Weighted average grant-date fair value $12 $19 $13

The number of Non-employee SARs granted in the last three fiscal
years and the associated weighted average base values and weighted
average grant-date fair values are noted in the following table:

2008 2007 2006

Non-employee SARs granted 4,000 4,000 8,000
Weighted average base value $36 $46 $37
Weighted average grant-date fair value $15 $20 $18

The number of SARs forfeited in 2008 was 184,000. No SARs
were forfeited in 2007. The total intrinsic value of SARs outstanding
was zero at year-end 2008 and year-end 2007, and the total intrinsic

value of SARs exercisable was zero as of year-end 2008 and year-
end 2007. No SARs were exercised in 2008. The total intrinsic
value of SARs exercised during 2007 was $100,000. No SARs were
exercised in 2006.

We use a binomial method to estimate the fair value of each
stock option or SAR granted. The assumptions for stock options
and employee SARs for 2008, 2007, and 2006 are noted in the fol-
lowing table:

2008 2007 2006

Expected volatility 29% 28% 30%
Dividend yield 0.80-0.95% 0.60% 0.60%
Risk-free rate 3.4-3.9% 4.8% 4.5%
Expected term (in years) 6-9 7 7

The risk-free rates are based on the corresponding U.S. Treasury
spot rates for the expected duration at the date of grant, converted
to a continuously compounded rate. Non-employee SARs were val-
ued using assumptions within the ranges shown above for Employee
SARs, except using an expected term of 10 years.

For Non-employee SARs issued in 2008, 2007, and 2006, the
only differences in the assumptions versus employee SARs were
the use of risk-free interest rates of 3.9 percent, 4.6 percent, and
5.0 percent, respectively, and for each year’s issuances, an
expected life of 10 years.

Estimated volatilities for 2008, 2007, and 2006 were based on
the historical share-price volatility for a period equal to the stock
option’s or SAR’s expected lives, ending on the day of grant, and
calculated based on weekly data. The weighted average expected
stock option or SARs terms for 2008, 2007, and 2006 were a prod-
uct of the lattice-based binomial valuation model that uses subopti-
mal exercise factors to calculate the expected terms.

Deferred Stock Units
We also issue deferred stock units to Non-employee directors.
These Non-employee director deferred stock units vest within one
year and are distributed upon election. At year-end 2008 and year-
end 2007, there was approximately $203,000 and $227,000,
respectively, in deferred costs related to Non-employee director
deferred stock units.

The share-based compensation expense, number of deferred
stock units granted, weighted average grant-date fair value, and
aggregate intrinsic value of Non-employee director deferred stock
units are noted in the following table:

2008 2007 2006

Share-based compensation 
expense $684,000 $666,000 $492,000

Non-employee director  
deferred stock units granted 25,000 20,000 18,000

Weighted average grant-date 
fair value (per share) $ 33 $ 46 $ 37

Aggregate intrinsic value 
(in millions) $ 0.4 $ 0.3 $ 1.7

At year-end 2008 and year-end 2007, there were 233,000 and
218,000, respectively, Non-employee deferred stock units outstand-
ing, and the weighted average grant-date fair value of those out-
standing deferred stock units was $24 for each of 2008 and 2007.



Other Information
Although the Comprehensive Plan also provides for issuance of
deferred stock bonus awards, deferred stock awards, and restricted
stock awards, our Compensation Policy Committee indefinitely sus-
pended the issuance of deferred bonus stock commencing with our
2001 fiscal year and the issuance of both deferred stock awards
and restricted stock awards commencing with the 2003 fiscal year.
At year-end 2008 and year-end 2007, there was approximately $2 mil-
lion and $4 million, respectively, in deferred compensation costs
related to these suspended award programs, and the weighted
average remaining term was one year for such award grants out-
standing at year-end 2008. Share-based compensation expense
associated with these suspended award programs was $2 million,
$4 million, and $6 million for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

At year-end 2008, 58 million shares were reserved under the
Comprehensive Plan including 39 million shares under the Stock
Option Program and Stock Appreciation Right Program.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We adopted FAS No. 157 on December 29, 2007, the first day of
fiscal year 2008. FAS No. 157 defines fair value as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measure-
ment date (an exit price). The standard outlines a valuation frame-
work and creates a fair value hierarchy in order to increase the
consistency and comparability of fair value measurements and the
related disclosures. Under GAAP, certain assets and liabilities must
be measured at fair value, and FAS No. 157 details the disclosures
that are required for items measured at fair value.

We have various financial instruments we must measure under
FAS No. 157 including: certain marketable securities; derivatives;
and servicing assets and residual interests related to our asset
securitizations. None of our current non-financial assets or non-
financial liabilities must be measured at fair value on a recurring
basis. We measure our financial assets and liabilities using inputs
from the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy. The three
levels are as follows:

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active mar-
kets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability 
to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or simi-
lar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or
liability (i.e., interest rates, yield curves, etc.), and inputs that
are derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data by correlation or other means (market corrobo-
rated inputs).

Level 3 includes unobservable inputs that reflect our
assumptions about the assumptions that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability. We develop these
inputs based on the best information available, including our
own data.

In accordance with the fair value hierarchy, the following table
shows the fair value as of year-end 2008, of those financial assets and
liabilities that we must measure at fair value and that we classify as
“Other current assets,” “Other assets,” and “Other long-term liabilities”:

($ in millions) Fair Value Measurements 
as of Year-End 2008

Balance at
Year-End

Description 2008 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:

Servicing assets and  
other residual interests $221 $— $— $221

Marketable securities 10 10 — —
Derivative instruments 4 4 — —

Liabilities:

Derivative instruments (20) — (5) (15)

As discussed in Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring Costs and
Other Charges,” we recorded impairment charges during 2008 for
some of our inventory and intangible assets. In accordance with the
guidance found in FSP No. FAS 157-2, we did not apply the provi-
sions of FAS No. 157 to these impairments.

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value of our
Level 3 assets and liabilities for year-end 2008:

Fair Value Measurements
of Assets and Liabilities

Using Level 3 Inputs

Servicing Assets
and Other Derivative

($ in millions) Residual Interests Instruments

Beginning balance at 
December 29, 2007 $238 $ (5)

Total losses (realized or unrealized)
Included in earnings (9) (26)
Included in other comprehensive 

income — 6
Transfers in or out of Level 3 — —
Purchases, sales, issuances, 

and settlements (8) 10

Ending balance at January 2, 2009 $221 $(15)

Gains (losses) for 2008 included 
in earnings attributable to the 
change in unrealized gains or 
losses relating to assets still 
held at the reporting date $ (9) $(26)

At the dates of sale and at the end of each reporting period, we
estimate the fair value of our residual interests, including servicing
assets, using a discounted cash flow model. The implementation 
of FAS No. 157 did not result in material changes to the models or
processes used to value these assets. These transactions may uti-
lize interest rate swaps to protect the net interest margin associated
with the beneficial interest. The discount rates we use in determin-
ing the fair values of the residual interests are based on the general
level of interest rates in the market and the assumed credit risk of
the interests retained. We adjust these discount rates quarterly as
interest rates and credit spreads in the market vary.
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We treat the residual interests, including servicing assets, as
trading securities under the provisions of FAS No. 115, “Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and accord-
ingly, we recorded realized and unrealized gains or losses related to
these assets in the “Timeshare sales and services” revenue caption
in our Consolidated Statements of Income. During 2008 we
recorded trading losses of $9 million, and in 2007 and 2006, we
recorded trading gains of $30 million and $19 million, respectively.

During 2008, 2007, and 2006, we used the following key
assumptions to measure, at the date of sale, the fair value of the
residual interests, including servicing assets: average discount rates
of 9.23 percent, 9.02 percent, and 9.22 percent, respectively; aver-
age expected annual prepayments, including defaults, of 24.01 per-
cent, 25.02 percent, and 25.22 percent, respectively; expected
weighted average life of prepayable notes receivable, excluding pre-
payments and defaults, of 76 months, 75 months, and 70 months
respectively; and expected weighted average life of prepayable 
notes receivable, including prepayments and defaults, of 35 months, 
34 months, and 32 months, respectively. Our key assumptions are
based on experience with notes receivable and servicing assets.

We used the following key assumptions in measuring the fair
value of the residual interests, including servicing assets, in our 
12 outstanding Timeshare note sales as of year-end 2008: an aver-
age discount rate of 16.87 percent; an average expected annual
prepayment rate, including defaults, of 18.08 percent; an expected
weighted average life of prepayable notes receivable, excluding pre-
payments and defaults, of 59 months; and an expected weighted
average life of prepayable notes receivable, including prepayments
and defaults, of 35 months.

The most significant estimate involved in the measurement
process is the discount rate, followed by the default rate and the loan
repayment rate. Estimates of these rates are based on management’s
expectations of future prepayment rates and default rates, reflecting
our historical experience, industry trends, current market interest
rates, expected future interest rates, and other considerations. Actual
repayment rates, default rates, and discount rates could differ from
those projected by management due to changes in a variety of eco-
nomic factors, including prevailing interest rates and the availability of
alternative financing sources to borrowers. If actual prepayments of
the loans being serviced were to occur more slowly than had been
projected, the carrying value of servicing assets could increase and
accretion and servicing income would exceed previously projected
amounts. If actual default rates or actual discount rates are lower
than expected, the carrying value of retained interests could increase
and accretion and servicing income would exceed previously pro-
jected amounts. Accordingly, the retained interests, including servic-
ing assets, actually realized, could differ from the amounts initially
recorded. If actual prepayments of the loans being serviced occur at
a faster pace than we have projected, the carrying value of servicing
assets could decrease and accretion and servicing income would be
below previously projected amounts. If actual default rates or actual
discount rates are higher than we expect, the carrying value of
retained interests could decrease and accretion and servicing income
would be below previously projected amounts. Accordingly, the
retained interests, including servicing assets, actually realized, could
differ from the amounts initially recorded.

We completed a stress test on the fair value of the residual inter-
ests, including servicing assets, as of the end of 2008 to measure
the change in value associated with independent changes in indi-
vidual key variables. This methodology applied unfavorable changes
that would be statistically significant for the key variables of prepay-
ment rate, discount rate, and weighted average remaining term.
Before we applied any of these stress test changes, we determined
that the fair value of the residual interests, including servicing
assets, was $221 million as of year-end 2008.

Applying the stress tests, we concluded that each change to a
variable shown in the table below would have the following impact
on the valuation of our residual interests at year-end:

Decrease in Year-
End Valuation Percentage
($ in millions) Decrease

100 basis point increase 
in the prepayment rate $3 1.3%

200 basis point increase 
in the prepayment rate 6 2.6%

100 basis point increase 
in the discount rate 4 2.0%

200 basis point increase 
in the discount rate 9 3.9%

Two month decline in the weighted 
average remaining term 2 0.8%

Four month decline in the weighted 
average remaining term 4 1.7%

We value our derivatives using valuations that are calibrated to
the initial trade prices. Subsequent valuations are based on observ-
able inputs to the valuation model including interest rates and volatili-
ties. We record realized and unrealized gains and losses on these
derivative instruments in gains from the sale of timeshare notes
receivable, which are recorded within the “Timeshare sales and serv-
ices” revenue caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we impaired one equity method
investment and three other investments for a total of $25 million.
Impairment charges of $9 million were recorded in “Equity in earn-
ings” and $16 million were recorded in “Gains and other income.”
We used level three inputs in a discounted cash flow model to
determine the fair value of these assets. For additional information,
see the “Other Charges” caption of Footnote No. 20, “Restructuring
Costs and Other Charges.”

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The table below illustrates the reconciliation of the earnings and
number of shares used in the basic and diluted earnings per share
calculations.

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2008 2007 2006

Computation of Basic Earnings Per Share

Income from continuing operations $ 359 $ 697 $ 712
Weighted average shares outstanding 351.8 376.1 404.1

Basic earnings per share from 
continuing operations $1.02 $1.85 $1.76

Computation of Diluted Earnings Per Share

Income from continuing operations $ 359 $ 697 $ 712

Weighted average shares outstanding 351.8 376.1 404.1
Effect of dilutive securities

Employee stock option and SARs plan 11.7 16.8 20.2
Deferred stock incentive plan 1.6 1.9 3.4
Restricted stock units 1.8 2.5 2.5

Shares for diluted earnings per share 366.9 397.3 430.2

Diluted earnings per share from 
continuing operations $0.98 $1.75 $1.65
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We compute the effect of dilutive securities using the treasury
stock method and average market prices during the period. We
determine dilution based on earnings from continuing operations.

In accordance with FAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share,” we have
not included the following stock options and SARs in our calculation
of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices were
greater than the average market prices for the applicable periods:

(a) for the year ended January 2, 2009, 3.9 million options and
SARs, with exercise prices ranging from $31.05 to $49.03;

(b) for the year ended December 28, 2007, 0.4 million options
and SARs, with exercise prices ranging from $45.91 to
$49.03; and

(c) for the year ended December 29, 2006, no options or SARs.

INVENTORY

Inventory, totaling $1,981 million and $1,557 million as of January 2,
2009, and December 28, 2007, respectively, consists primarily of
Timeshare segment interval, fractional ownership, and residential
products totaling $1,959 million and $1,536 million as of January 2,
2009, and December 28, 2007, respectively. Inventory totaling 
$22 million and $21 million as of January 2, 2009, and December 28,
2007, respectively, primarily relates to hotel operating supplies for
the limited number of properties we own or lease. We value
Timeshare segment interval, fractional ownership, and residential
products at the lower of cost or net realizable value and generally
value operating supplies at the lower of cost (using the first-in, first-
out method) or market. Consistent with recognized industry prac-
tice, we classify Timeshare segment interval, fractional ownership,
and residential products inventory, which has an operating cycle
that exceeds 12 months, as a current asset.

We recorded a pretax charge of $22 million in 2008 within the
“Timeshare-direct” caption of our Consolidated Statements of
Income related to the impairment of a fractional and whole owner-
ship real estate project held for development by a joint venture that
we consolidate. We recorded a pretax benefit of $12 million in 2008
within the “Minority interest” caption of our Consolidated
Statements of Income representing our joint venture partner’s pretax
share of the $22 million impairment charge. Accordingly, the impact
to our Timeshare segment was $10 million. We made the adjust-
ment in accordance with FAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” to adjust the carry-
ing value of the real estate to our estimate of its fair value at year-
end 2008. The downturn in market conditions including contract
cancellations and tightening in the credit markets, especially for
jumbo mortgage loans, were the predominant items considered in
our analysis. We estimated the fair value of the inventory utilizing a
probability weighted cash flow model containing our expectations 
of future performance discounted at a 10-year risk-free interest 
rate determined from the yield curve for U.S. Treasury instruments 
(3.68 percent).

We also recorded a pretax charge of $9 million in 2008 in the
“Timeshare-direct” caption of our Consolidated Statement of
Income for write-downs of inventory due to the termination of cer-
tain phases of timeshare development in Europe (see the “Other
Charges” caption of Footnote No. 20 “Restructuring Costs and
Other Charges,” for additional information).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The following table details the composition of our property and
equipment balances at year-end 2008 and year-end 2007.

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Land $ 469 $ 399
Buildings and leasehold improvements 852 833
Furniture and equipment 954 900
Construction in progress 244 216

2,519 2,348
Accumulated depreciation (1,076) (1,019)

$1,443 $1,329

We record property and equipment at cost, including interest
and real estate taxes incurred during development and construc-
tion. Interest capitalized as a cost of property and equipment
totaled $55 million in 2008, $49 million in 2007, and $32 million in
2006. We capitalize the cost of improvements that extend the use-
ful life of property and equipment when incurred. These capitalized
costs may include structural costs, equipment, fixtures, floor, and
wall coverings. We expense all repair and maintenance costs as
incurred. We compute depreciation using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets (three to 40 years), and
we amortize leasehold improvements over the shorter of the asset
life or lease term. Depreciation expense totaled $155 million in
2008, $162 million in 2007, and $155 million in 2006.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

2008 Acquisitions
At year-end 2007, we were party to a venture that developed and
marketed fractional ownership and residential products. In 2008, 
we purchased our partner’s interest in that joint venture together 
with additional land. Cash consideration for this transaction totaled
$42 million and we acquired assets and liabilities totaling $80 million
and $38 million, respectively, on the date of purchase. In 2008, we
also purchased real estate for a timeshare project for a total pur-
chase price of approximately $63 million. Cash consideration totaled
approximately $39 million, and non-current liabilities recorded as a
result of this transaction were $24 million. In addition, in 2008, we
purchased real estate for another timeshare project for cash consid-
eration of $47 million. Also in 2008, we purchased units in an exist-
ing building for our timeshare operations for cash consideration of
approximately $14 million. We also purchased real estate for another
timeshare project for $28 million. Cash consideration totaled approxi-
mately $27 million, and we acquired assets and liabilities totaling 
$28 million and $1 million, respectively, on the date of purchase.

2008 Dispositions
In 2008, we sold, at book value, two limited-service properties and
two land parcels for cash proceeds of $33 million, and we received
a $22 million equity interest in the entity that purchased one of the
land parcels. We accounted for each of the sales under the full
accrual method in accordance with FAS No. 66 and each property
will continue to operate under our brands pursuant to management
or franchise agreements. Also, in 2008, we sold our interest in an
entity that leases four hotels. In conjunction with that transaction,
we received cash proceeds totaling $5 million, and the sales price
of the investment approximated its book value.

58 Marriott International, Inc. 2008

9

7

8



2007 Acquisitions
During 2007, we acquired one full-service property, one limited-serv-
ice property, and one extended-stay property for cash consideration
of $199 million. These three properties were acquired in conjunction
with a land assemblage for a large hotel complex that is still in the
formative development stage. In addition, we acquired certain land
parcels in 2007 for cash consideration of $52 million. Also during
2007, we acquired the fee simple interest in the improvements of
three properties and the leasehold interest in the ground underlying
the three properties for cash consideration of $58 million. The pur-
chase included one full-service property and two limited-service
properties, which were each sold later in the same year.

During the first half of 2007, we were party to a venture that
developed and marketed fractional ownership and residential inter-
ests. In the second half of 2007, we purchased our partner’s inter-
est in the joint venture for $6 million. In conjunction with that
transaction, we acquired assets and liabilities totaling $90 million
and $84 million, respectively, on the date of the purchase. During
the first half of 2007, we were party to another venture that was
established to develop and market timeshare and residential inter-
ests. In the second half of 2007, we purchased our partner’s inter-
est in that joint venture, and concurrent with this transaction, we
purchased additional land and assets from our partner as well.
Aggregate cash and notes payable issued for these transactions
totaled $106 million, and we acquired assets and liabilities totaling
$182 million and $76 million, respectively, on the date of purchase.

2007 Dispositions
In 2007, we sold nine properties for cash proceeds of $601 million
and recognized gains totaling $24 million. We continue to operate
eight of the nine properties under long-term agreements. We sold
two parcels of land for $55 million in cash proceeds that were
under development and recognized a gain of $2 million. We also
sold the fee simple interest in the improvements of three properties
and the leasehold interest in the ground underlying the three prop-
erties, initially acquired in early 2007, for book value and received
$58 million in cash proceeds. We continue to manage the proper-
ties under long-term agreements. We accounted for each of the
foregoing sales under the full accrual method in accordance with
FAS No. 66. During the year, we also sold our interests in five joint
ventures for cash proceeds of $30 million and recognized gains
totaling $13 million. We had other asset sales during the year, which
generated proceeds totaling $1 million. Cash flows totaling $745
million for all the preceding dispositions in 2007 are reflected in the
“Dispositions” line in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

In 2007, we also sold land that was under development. Due 
to a contingency in the sales contract, we accounted for this sale
under the deposit method of FAS No. 66. Accordingly, the cash
proceeds, totaling $90 million, were reflected in “Other investing
activities” in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. In 2008,
the contingency was resolved and we recorded a gain of $1 million.

2006 Acquisitions
During 2006, we acquired one full-service property for $130 million
including aggregate cash consideration of $46 million plus the
assumption of debt. In addition we acquired three other full-service
properties for aggregate cash consideration of $134 million. We
sold each of the four properties to third-party owners during the
2007 fiscal year.

2006 Dispositions
In 2006 we sold our interest in the 50/50 joint venture with
Whitbread PLC (“Whitbread”), which held 46 hotels consisting of
more than 8,000 rooms and we received approximately $164 million

in cash, net of transaction costs, which was approximately equal 
to the investment’s book value. We continue to manage the hotels
under the Marriott Hotels & Resorts and Renaissance Hotels &
Resorts brands. We also sold our minority interest in five other joint
ventures during 2006 for cash proceeds of $64 million and recog-
nized gains of $43 million. Additionally, one cost method investee
redeemed the preferred stock we held for $81 million in cash consid-
eration and we recognized income of $25 million on the redemption.

During 2006 we also sold 10 full-service properties for cash pro-
ceeds of $487 million and recognized gains totaling $14 million. We
accounted for each of the sales under the full accrual method in
accordance with FAS No. 66 and continue to operate eight of the
properties under long-term management agreements. The sold
properties included eight properties purchased in 2005 from CTF
Holdings Ltd. and certain of its affiliates (collectively “CTF”). For addi-
tional information regarding the CTF transaction, see the “2005
Acquisitions” caption in Footnote No. 8, “Acquisitions and
Dispositions,” in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Prior to the
sale of one property, we reclassified balances associated with that
property in conformity with other “held and used” properties, in the
first half of 2006 as the property was not expected to be sold within
one year of its classification as “held for sale.” In conjunction with
that reclassification, we recorded depreciation expense of $2 million
in the first half of 2006 that would have been recognized had the
asset been continuously classified as “held and used.” Cash pro-
ceeds of $26 million for one hotel sold in 2006 are not reflected in
the disposition proceeds of $487 million, as the proceeds were ini-
tially recorded as a deposit because of a contingency, and impacted
the “Other investing activities” section of our Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows rather than “Dispositions.” The contin-
gency was subsequently resolved and sale accounting was achieved
in 2006. Other asset sales generated cash proceeds of $2 million.

Late in 2006, we sold a 75 percent interest in a joint venture to 
a third party for its book value of $14 million. At the time of the sale,
the joint venture’s only asset was a parcel of land. In conjunction
with the sale, we made a $25 million bridge loan to the joint ven-
ture, which matured in early 2007. Following the guidance found 
in EITF 98-8, “Accounting for Transfers of Investments That Are 
in Substance Real Estate,” and FAS No. 66 due to our continuing
involvement with the joint venture, we consolidated the joint venture
for the period of time that the bridge loan was outstanding. The
bridge loan was subsequently repaid and we account for our
remaining interest in the joint venture under the equity method as
required by APB Opinion No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting
for Investments in Common Stock.”

In 1988, the Company as landlord, entered into a 59-year
ground lease with a lessee for land that was improved with a hotel
that is owned by the lessee. The hotel was previously branded a
Marriott property. The lease contained contractual rental increases
over the term of the lease and annual ground rent on the land
totaled approximately $5 million in 2006. The lease also contained a
provision that permitted the lessee, under certain circumstances, to
purchase the land for a fixed price. We and the lessee had various
discussions in 2006 concerning the land as well as the hotel. During
the 2006 second quarter, it became probable that none of the pro-
posed transactions were acceptable to both parties and the lessee
indicated its intent to exercise its option to purchase the land.
Accordingly, in the 2006 second quarter, we reclassified the land
from the “Property and equipment” caption in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets to the “Assets held for sale” caption and recorded
a $37 million non-cash charge to adjust the carrying amount to net
realizable value. We completed the sale of the land, at book value,
to the lessee in 2007 and this transaction is reflected in the figures
noted earlier for dispositions in 2007.
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GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table details the composition of our goodwill and
other intangible assets at year-end 2008 and year-end 2007.

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Contract acquisition costs and other $1,004 $ 899
Accumulated amortization (294) (264)

$ 710 $ 635

Goodwill $1,003 $1,049
Accumulated amortization (128) (128)

$ 875 $ 921

We capitalize costs incurred to acquire management, franchise,
and license agreements that are both direct and incremental. We
amortize these costs on a straight-line basis over the initial term of
the agreements, ranging from 15 to 30 years. We evaluate the car-
rying values of intangible assets for impairment under the provisions
of FAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
Amortization expense totaled $35 million for each of 2008 and 2007
and $33 million in 2006. Our estimated aggregate amortization
expense for each of the next five fiscal years is as follows: $29 mil-
lion for 2009; $29 million for 2010; $28 million for 2011; $28 million
for 2012; and $28 million for 2013. In 2008, following the guidance
found in EITF 93-7, “Uncertainties Related to Income Taxes in a
Purchase Business Combination,” we recorded a net $46 million
reduction of goodwill and a corresponding change to the related net
deferred tax liability due to the resolution of tax-related matters and
a change in management’s estimate of tax basis related to the pur-
chase method of accounting for the Renaissance brand acquisition
in 1997.

NOTES RECEIVABLE

The following table details the composition of our notes receivable
balances at year-end 2008 and year-end 2007.

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Loans to timeshare owners $688 $476
Lodging senior loans 2 7
Lodging mezzanine and other loans 236 206

926 689
Less current portion (96) (89)

$830 $600

We classify notes receivable due within one year as current
assets in the caption “Accounts and notes receivable” in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, including $81 million
and $68 million, as of year-end 2008 and year-end 2007, respec-
tively, related to “Loans to timeshare owners.”

Notes receivable at year-end 2008 were due to us as follows:
$96 million in 2009; $156 million in 2010; $72 million in 2011; 
$83 million in 2012; $59 million in 2013; and $460 million thereafter.
The 2008 notes receivable balance is net of unamortized discounts
totaling $21 million. The 2007 notes receivable balance is net of

unamortized discounts totaling $25 million. Gains from the sale of
notes receivable totaled approximately $16 million, $82 million, and
$79 million during 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

Lodging Senior Loans and Lodging Mezzanine and
Other Loans
We reflect interest income associated with “Lodging senior loans”
and “Lodging mezzanine and other loans” in the “Interest income”
caption in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.
For financial statement purposes we do not accrue interest on
“Lodging senior loans” and “Lodging mezzanine and other loans”
that are impaired. At year-end 2008, our recorded investment in
impaired “Lodging senior loans” and “Lodging mezzanine and other
loans” was $157 million. We had a $113 million notes receivable
reserve representing an allowance for credit losses, leaving $44 mil-
lion of our investment in impaired loans for which there was no
related allowance for credit losses. At year-end 2007, our recorded
investment in impaired “Lodging senior loans” and “Lodging mezza-
nine and other loans” was $112 million and we had a $92 million
allowance for credit losses, leaving $20 million of our investment in
impaired loans for which there was no related allowance for credit
losses. During 2008 and 2007, our average investment in impaired
loans totaled $135 million and $102 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the activity related to our
“Lodging senior loans” and “Lodging mezzanine and other loans”
notes receivable reserve for 2006, 2007, and 2008:

($ in millions) Notes Receivable Reserve

Year-end 2005 balance $103
Additions —
Reversals (5)
Write-offs (38)
Transfers and other 10

Year-end 2006 balance 70
Additions 11
Reversals —
Write-offs —
Transfers and other 11

Year-end 2007 balance 92
Additions 22
Reversals (5)
Write-offs (3)
Transfers and other 7

Year-end 2008 balance $113

Loans to Timeshare Owners
At year-end 2008, the weighted average interest rate for our “Loans
to timeshare owners” was 12.7 percent and the stated interest
rates associated with these loans ranged from zero to 19.5 percent.
We reflect interest income associated with “Loans to timeshare
owners” of $68 million, $50 million, and $41 million for 2008, 
2007, and 2006, respectively, in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Income in the “Timeshare sales and services” rev-
enue caption. We do not record accrued interest on “Loans to
timeshare owners” that are over 90 days past due. Our recorded
investment in “Loans to timeshare owners” on nonaccrual status 
at year-end 2008 and year-end 2007 totaled $74 million and 
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$59 million, respectively. We established the reserve for “Loans to
timeshare owners” notes receivable in 2006 in conjunction with the
adoption of SOP 04-2.

The following table summarizes the activity related to our “Loans to
timeshare owners” notes receivable reserve for 2006, 2007, and 2008:

($ in millions) Notes Receivable Reserve

Year-end 2005 balance $—
Establishment of reserve 25
Additions for current year sales 20
Write-offs (16)

Year-end 2006 balance 29
Additions for current year sales 29
Write-offs (24)
Other (15)

Year-end 2007 balance 19
Additions for current year sales 36
Write-offs (20)

Year-end 2008 balance $35

ASSET SECURITIZATIONS

We periodically sell, without recourse, through special purpose enti-
ties, notes receivable originated by our Timeshare segment in con-
nection with the sale of timeshare interval and fractional products.
We continue to service the notes and transfer all proceeds collected
to special purpose entities. We retain servicing assets and other
interests in the notes and account for these assets and interests as
residual interests. The interests are limited to the present value of
cash available after paying financing expenses and program fees
and absorbing credit losses. The executed transactions typically
include minimal cash reserves established at time of sale as well as
default and delinquency triggers, which are monitored on a monthly
basis. These special purpose entities are specifically excluded from
the scope of FIN 46(R). As such, we have not assessed if we would
be deemed the primary beneficiary of these entities and thus be
required to consolidated them. Prior to the start of the 2007 fiscal
year, we measured servicing assets at the date of sale at their allo-
cated previous carrying amount based on relative fair value, classi-
fied those assets as held to maturity under the provisions of FAS
No. 115, and recorded those assets at amortized cost.

On December 30, 2006, the first day of fiscal year 2007, we
adopted FAS No. 156. In conjunction with the adoption of FAS No.
156, we elected to subsequently measure our servicing assets
using the fair value method. Under the fair value method, we carry
servicing assets on the balance sheet at fair value, and report the
changes in fair value, primarily due to changes in valuation inputs
and assumptions and to the collection or realization of expected
cash flows, in earnings in the period in which the change occurs.

To determine the fair value of servicing assets, we use a valuation
model that calculates the present value of estimated future net servic-
ing income, which is based on the monthly fee we receive for servicing
the securitized notes. We use market assumptions in the valuation
model, including estimates of prepayment speeds, default rates, and
discount rates. We have inherent risk for changes in the fair value of
the servicing asset but do not deem the risk significant and therefore,
do not use other financial instruments to mitigate this risk.

Effective December 30, 2006, upon the remeasurement
of our servicing assets at fair value, we recorded a cumula-
tive-effect adjustment to the 2007 beginning balance of
retained earnings of $1 million after-tax ($2 million pretax) 
in our Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity.
Accordingly, servicing assets totaled $11 million at year-end
2006 and $13 million on the first day of fiscal year 2007. At
year-end 2008 and year-end 2007, servicing assets totaled
$12 million and $15 million, respectively.

The table below reconciles the servicing assets balance at year-
end 2006, to the beginning balance on December 30, 2006.

($ in millions) Servicing Assets

Balance at year-end 2006 (December 29, 2006) $11
Remeasurement upon adoption of FAS No. 156 2

Beginning balance at December 30, 2006 $13

The changes in servicing assets for year-end 2007 and year-end
2008, measured using the fair value method were:

($ in millions) Servicing Assets

Fair value, beginning of period (December 30, 2006) $13
Servicing from securitizations 6
Changes in fair value (1) (4)

Fair value, end of period (December 28, 2007) 15
Servicing from securitizations 3
Changes in fair value (1) (6)

Fair value, end of period (January 2, 2009) $12

(1) Principally represents changes due to collection/realization of expected cash flows
over time and changes in fair value due to changes in key variables listed below.

Contractually specified servicing fees, late fees, and ancillary
fees earned for 2008, 2007, and 2006 totaled $6 million, $6 million,
and $5 million, respectively, and were reflected within the changes
in fair value to the servicing assets noted above.

In 2008, 2007, and 2006, we sold notes receivable originated by
our Timeshare segment in connection with the sale of timeshare
interval and fractional ownership products of $300 million, $520 mil-
lion, and $530 million, respectively. The 2008, 2007, and 2006 note
sales were made to newly formed trusts that, on the same day,
issued $246 million, $520 million, and $530 million of the trust’s
notes, respectively. In connection with the sale of the notes receiv-
able, we received net proceeds of $237 million in 2008, $515 mil-
lion in 2007, and $508 million in 2006. We have included gains from
the sales of timeshare notes receivable totaling $16 million, net of
$12 million of hedge ineffectiveness, in 2008, $81 million in 2007,
and $77 million in 2006 within the “Timeshare sales and services”
revenue caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Our maximum exposure to loss as a result of our involvement
with these special purpose entities is the value of our residual inter-
ests and servicing assets.

We had residual interests of $221 million and $238 million,
respectively, at year-end 2008 and year-end 2007, which are
recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as
other long-term receivables of $134 million and $157 million,
respectively, and other current assets of $87 million and $81 million,
respectively.
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Cash flows between us and third-party purchasers during 2008,
2007, and 2006, were as follows: net proceeds to us from new
timeshare note sales of $237 million, $515 million, and $508 million,
respectively; repurchases by us of defaulted loans (over 150 days
overdue) of $56 million, $30 million, and $24 million, respectively;
repurchases by us of other loans in 2006 of $31 million; servicing
fees received by us of $6 million, $6 million, and $5 million, respec-
tively; and cash flows received from our retained interests of 
$96 million, $100 million, and $91 million, respectively.

At year-end 2008, $1,181 million of principal remained outstand-
ing in 12 special purpose entities formed in connection with our
timeshare note sales. Delinquencies of more than 90 days at year-
end 2008 amounted to $12 million. The impact to us from delin-
quencies is limited to our residual interests, which we value based
on a discounted cash flow model, as discussed in Footnote No. 5,
“Fair Value Measurements.” In cases where we choose to repur-
chase defaulted loans, we have been able to resell timeshare units
underlying the defaulted loans without incurring material losses.

See our discussion regarding asset securitizations in the “Cash
from Operations” caption of the “Liquidity and Capital Resources”
section of this report and, also, see Footnote No. 5, “Fair Value
Measurements,” in this report for further discussion of our servicing
assets and residual interests.

Due to the deterioration in the credit markets during the fourth
quarter of 2008, we decided to postpone our planned note sale
until 2009.

LONG-TERM DEBT

Our long-term debt at year-end 2008 and year-end 2007 consisted
of the following:

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Senior Notes:
Series C, interest rate of 7.875%, face amount 

of $76, maturing September 15, 2009 
(effective interest rate of 8.022%) $ 76 $ 76

Series E, matured January 15, 2008 — 91

Series F, interest rate of 4.625%, face amount 
of $348, maturing June 15, 2012 
(effective interest rate of 5.014%) 347 349

Series G, interest rate of 5.810%, face amount 
of $368, maturing November 10, 2015 
(effective interest rate of 6.620%) 349 402

Series H, interest rate of 6.200%, face amount 
of $314, maturing June 15, 2016 
(effective interest rate of 6.311%) 314 349

Series I, interest rate of 6.375%, face amount 
of $338, maturing June 15, 2017 
(effective interest rate of 6.454%) 335 346

Series J, interest rate of 5.625%, face amount 
of $400, maturing February 15, 2013 
(effective interest rate of 5.709%) 397 397

Commercial paper — 585

$2.5B Credit Facility, average interest rate of 
2.412% at January 2, 2009 969 —

Other 308 370

3,095 2,965
Less current portion (120) (175)

$2,975 $2,790

As of year-end 2008, all debt was unsecured.
We are party to a multicurrency revolving credit agreement (the

“Credit Facility”) that provides for borrowings and letters of credit
and supported our commercial paper program. The Credit Facility
provides for $2.5 billion of aggregate borrowings at any one time,
and expires on May 14, 2012. Borrowings under the Credit Facility
bear interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a
fixed spread. Additionally, we pay quarterly fees on the Credit
Facility at a rate based on our public debt rating.

Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. (“LCPI”), a subsidiary of
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., which filed for bankruptcy on
October 5, 2008, is one of the lenders under the Credit Facility,
with a total aggregate funding commitment of $96 million (3.8 per-
cent) of the $2.5 billion in total commitments. LCPI did not fund its
share of our fourth quarter 2008 draws under the Credit Facility,
and we have no reason to expect that it will do so in the future.
Accordingly, the total current effective size of the Credit Facility is
approximately $2.4 billion.

Until early in the 2008 fourth quarter, we regularly issued short-
term commercial paper primarily in the United States and, to a
much lesser extent, in Europe. Our commercial paper issuances 
are subject to the then-current demand for our commercial paper in
each of these markets, as we do not have purchase commitments
from buyers. Disruptions in the financial markets in September 2008
significantly reduced liquidity in the commercial paper market.
Accordingly, in September 2008, we borrowed under the Credit
Facility to fund anticipated short-term commercial paper maturities
and, to a lesser extent, other general corporate needs, including
working capital and capital expenditures, and suspended issuing
commercial paper. All of our previously issued commercial paper
has matured and been repaid. We anticipate issuing commercial
paper when that market stabilizes and issuances can be made on
favorable terms. We classify commercial paper as long-term debt
based on our ability and intent to refinance it on a long-term basis.
We reserve unused capacity under our Credit Facility to repay out-
standing commercial paper borrowings in the event that the com-
mercial paper market is not available to us for any reason when
outstanding borrowings mature. Fluctuations in the commercial
paper market have not affected our liquidity and we do not expect
them to do so in the future, given our borrowing capacity under the
Credit Facility.

Although we are predominantly a manager and franchisor of
hotel properties, we depend on capital to buy, develop, and
improve hotels and also to develop timeshare properties. Events
over the past several months, including recent failures and near fail-
ures of a number of large financial service companies, have made
the capital markets increasingly volatile. See the “Cash
Requirements and Our Credit Facilities” discussion in the “Liquidity
and Capital Resources” section of this report for additional informa-
tion regarding our Credit Facility.

In early 2008, we made a $94 million cash payment of principal
and interest to retire, at maturity, all of our outstanding Series E Senior
Notes. In the fourth quarter of 2008, we repurchased $109 million
of our Senior Notes in the open market, across multiple series. We
recorded a gain of $28 million for the debt extinguishment repre-
senting the difference between the acquired debt’s purchase price
of $77 million and its carrying amount of $105 million. The weighted
average interest rate on the senior debt that was paid down in 2008
was 6.4 percent.

Aggregate debt maturities at year-end 2008 were: $120 million
in 2009; $71 million in 2010; $22 million in 2011; $1,327 million in
2012; $409 million in 2013; and $1,146 million thereafter.

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized, was $110 mil-
lion in 2008, $115 million in 2007, and $73 million in 2006.
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SELF-INSURANCE RESERVE FOR LOSSES AND
LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES

The activity in the reserve for losses and loss adjustment expenses
is summarized as follows:

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Balance at beginning of year $274 $271
Less: reinsurance recoverable (14) (16)

Net balance at beginning of year 260 255

Incurred related to:
Current year 117 120
Prior year (4) (34)

Total incurred 113 86

Paid related to:
Current year (36) (31)
Prior year (53) (50)

Total paid (89) (81)

Net balance at end of year 284 260
Add: reinsurance recoverable 12 14

Balance at end of year $296 $274

The provision for unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses
decreased by $4 million and $34 million in 2008 and 2007, respec-
tively, as a result of changes in estimates from insured events of 
the prior years due to changes in underwriting experience and fre-
quency and severity trends. The year-end 2008 self-insurance
reserve of $296 million is comprised of a current portion of $92 mil-
lion and long-term portion of $204 million. The year-end 2007 self-
insurance reserve of $274 million is comprised of a current portion
of $92 million and long-term portion of $182 million.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Eight hundred million shares of our Class A Common Stock, with a
par value of $.01 per share, are authorized, and 10 million shares of
preferred stock, without par value, are authorized. As of year-end
2008, there were 349.6 million shares of our Class A Common Stock
outstanding and no shares of our preferred stock were outstanding.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss of $15 million at year-
end 2008 primarily consisted of losses totaling $10 million associ-
ated with available-for-sale securities and losses totaling $13 million
associated with foreign currency translation adjustments, partially
offset by net gains of $8 million associated with interest rate swap
agreement cash flow hedges. Accumulated other comprehensive
income of $51 million at year-end 2007 primarily consisted of gains
totaling $9 million associated with available-for-sale securities and
gains totaling $46 million associated with foreign currency transla-
tion adjustments, partially offset by net losses of $4 million associ-
ated with interest rate swap agreement cash flow hedges.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

We believe that the fair values of current assets and current liabili-
ties approximate their reported carrying amounts. The fair values of
non-current financial assets, liabilities, and derivatives are shown in
the following table.

At Year-End 2008 At Year-End 2007
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

($ in millions) Amount Value Amount Value

Notes and other 
long-term assets $ 1,138 $ 1,125 $ 1,012 $ 1,018

Long-term debt and other 
long-term liabilities $(2,982) $(2,761) $(2,967) $(3,050)

Long-term derivative 
instruments $ (20) $ (20) $ (7) $ (7)

We value notes and other receivables based on the expected
future cash flows discounted at risk-adjusted rates. We determine
valuations for long-term debt and other long-term liabilities based
on quoted market prices or expected future payments discounted
at risk-adjusted rates.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

We use derivative instruments as part of our overall strategy to man-
age our exposure to market risks associated with fluctuations in
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. As a matter of
policy, we do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

During 2007, we entered into interest rate swap agreements to
manage the volatility of the U.S. Treasury component of the interest
rate risk associated with the forecasted issuance of our Series I and
Series J Senior Notes. During 2006, we entered into an interest rate
swap agreement to manage the volatility of the U.S. Treasury com-
ponent of the interest rate risk associated with the forecasted
issuance of our Series H Notes. All three swaps were designated 
as cash flow hedges under FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“FAS No. 133”) and were termi-
nated upon pricing of the notes. All three swaps were highly effective
in offsetting fluctuations in the U.S. Treasury component. Thus, there
was no net gain or loss reported in earnings during 2007, or 2006.
The net losses for these swaps were $4 million in 2007 associated
with the Series I and Series J Senior Notes, and zero in 2006 associ-
ated with the Series H notes. The net losses were recorded in other
comprehensive income and are being amortized to interest expense
using the interest method over the life of the notes.

At year-end 2008, we had four outstanding interest rate swap
agreements to manage interest rate risk associated with the resid-
ual interests we retain in conjunction with our timeshare note sales.
Historically, we were required by purchasers and/or rating agencies
to utilize interest rate swaps to protect the excess spread within our
sold note pools. The aggregate notional amount of the swaps is
$111 million, and they expire through 2022. These swaps are not
accounted for as hedges under FAS No. 133. The fair value of the
swaps was a net liability of $2 million at year-end 2008 and a net
asset of $2 million at year-end 2007. For the outstanding interest
rate swaps, we recorded a $4 million net loss during 2008, a $3 mil-
lion net loss during 2007, and a $1 million net loss during 2006.
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During 2008, 2007, and 2006, we entered into interest rate
swaps to manage interest rate risk associated with forecasted time-
share note sales. During 2008, eleven swaps were designated as
cash flow hedges under FAS No. 133. The swaps were highly effec-
tive in offsetting interest rate fluctuations through the third quarter. 
In 2008, we terminated nine of those eleven swaps and recognized
a $6 million loss in Timeshare sales and services revenue. During 
the fourth quarter, two of the hedges became ineffective and we
recorded a $12 million charge in Timeshare sales and services rev-
enue. The aggregate notional amount of the remaining two swaps is
$149 million at year-end 2008 and they expire in 2012. The fair value
of the remaining two swaps was a net liability of $13 million at year-
end 2008. During 2007, five swaps were designated as cash flow
hedges under FAS No. 133 and were highly effective in offsetting
interest rate fluctuations. The amount of the ineffectiveness was
immaterial. In 2007, we terminated two of those five swaps and rec-
ognized no gain or loss from the sales of Timeshare segment notes
receivable. The fair value of the remaining three swaps was a net lia-
bility of $7 million at year-end 2007. For the outstanding interest rate
swaps, we recorded in 2007 a $7 million net loss in other compre-
hensive income. During 2006, two swaps (the “2006 swaps”) were
designated as cash flow hedges under FAS No. 133 and were highly
effective in offsetting interest rate fluctuations. In 2006, we termi-
nated the 2006 swaps and recognized a net gain of $1 million in 
the gains from the sales of Timeshare segment notes receivable.

During 2008, 2007, and 2006, we entered into forward foreign
exchange contracts to manage the foreign currency exposure
related to certain monetary assets. The aggregate dollar equivalent
of the notional amount of the contracts was $190 million at year-end
2008 and they expire in 2009. The forward exchange contracts do
not qualify as hedges in accordance with FAS No. 133. The fair
value of the forward contracts to hedge monetary assets was zero 
at year-end 2008 and an asset of $2 million at year-end 2007. We
recorded a $7 million gain during 2008, a $10 million loss during
2007, and a $34 million loss in 2006, relating to these forward for-
eign exchange contracts. The net gains and losses for all years were
recorded as general, administrative, and other expense and were off-
set by income and losses recorded from translating the related mon-
etary assets denominated in foreign currencies into U.S. dollars.

During 2007 and 2006, we entered into foreign exchange option
contracts to hedge the potential volatility of earnings and cash flows
associated with variations in foreign exchange rates. These con-
tracts have terms of less than one year and are classified as cash
flow hedges. Changes in their fair values are recorded as a compo-
nent of other comprehensive income. The fair value of the option
contracts was approximately $1 million at year-end 2007. During
2008, we recognized a $1 million loss related to the termination of
contracts that we entered into during prior years. The hedges were
highly effective and there was no net gain or loss reported in earn-
ings for 2007 and 2006 due to ineffectiveness.

During 2008 and 2007, we entered into forward foreign
exchange contracts to hedge forecasted transactions for contracts
and fees denominated in foreign currencies. The aggregate dollar
equivalent of the notional amounts of the contracts was $89 million
at year-end 2008. These contracts have terms of less than three
years and are classified as cash flow hedges. Changes in their 
fair value are recorded as a component of other comprehensive
income. The fair value of the forward contracts was $4 million at
year-end 2008 and zero at year-end 2007. The hedges were highly
effective and there was no gain or loss, impacting our general,
administrative, and other expenses, reported in earnings for 2008 or
2007 due to ineffectiveness. During 2008, we recorded a $1 million
loss, impacting general, administrative, and other expenses, related
to points paid to enter into these contracts. As of year-end 2008,
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the deferred gains and losses on existing contracts accumulated in
other comprehensive income that we expect to reclassify into earn-
ings over future periods is $6 million.

During 2008, 2007, and 2006, we entered into forward foreign
exchange contracts to manage currency exchange rate volatility
associated with certain investments in foreign operations. The con-
tracts offset the gains and losses associated with translation adjust-
ments for various investments in foreign operations. Certain
contracts were designated as hedges in the net investment of a for-
eign operation under FAS No. 133. These hedges were highly effec-
tive and resulted in a net gain of $1 million for 2008, a net loss of
$1 million for 2007, and no net gain or loss for 2006 in the foreign
currency translation adjustment section of other comprehensive
income. Due to contract terminations in 2008, $1 million that was
originally recorded in other comprehensive income was recognized
through earnings as a loss. The investments remaining at year-end
2008 had an aggregate dollar equivalent of the notional amount of
$15 million and a fair value of zero. No contracts remained at year-
end 2007. One contract remained at year-end 2006, which had an
aggregate dollar equivalent of the notional amount of $43 million
and a fair value of zero. Certain other contracts did not qualify as
hedges under FAS No. 133 and resulted in no gain or loss for 2007
and a loss of $17 million for 2006, impacting our general, adminis-
trative, and other expenses.

During 2007 and 2006, in response to high oil prices and uncer-
tainty surrounding the potential phase out of tax credits, we entered
into oil price hedges in conjunction with our synthetic fuel operation.
These hedges do not qualify as cash flow hedges under FAS No.
133. Therefore, changes in the fair values of these instruments are
marked-to-market through interest income at each reporting period.
Correspondingly, we recorded a net loss of $8 million during 2007
and a net loss of $2 million during 2006. At year-end 2007, hedges
with a total fair value of $4 million remained outstanding.

During 2003, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement
under which we receive a floating rate of interest and pay a fixed
rate of interest. The swap modifies our interest rate exposure by
effectively converting a note receivable with a fixed rate to a floating
rate. The aggregate notional amount of the swap is $92 million and
it matures in 2010. The swap is classified as a fair value hedge
under FAS No. 133 and we recognize the change in the fair value 
of the swap, as well as the change in the fair value of the underlying
note receivable, in interest income. The fair value of the swap was a
$5 million liability at year-end 2008, a $2 million liability at year-end
2007, and a $1 million asset at year-end 2006. The hedge is highly
effective and, therefore, no net gain or loss was reported during
2008, 2007, and 2006.

CONTINGENCIES

Guarantees
We issue guarantees to certain lenders and hotel owners primarily
to obtain long-term management contracts. The guarantees gener-
ally have a stated maximum amount of funding and a term of three
to 10 years. The terms of guarantees to lenders generally require us
to fund if cash flows from hotel operations are inadequate to cover
annual debt service or to repay the loan at the end of the term. 
The terms of the guarantees to hotel owners generally require us 
to fund if the hotels do not attain specified levels of operating profit.
Guarantee fundings to lenders and hotel owners are generally
recoverable as loans repayable to us out of future hotel cash flows
and/or proceeds from the sale of hotels. We also enter into project
completion guarantees with certain lenders in conjunction with
hotels and Timeshare segment properties that we or our joint ven-
ture partners are building.
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The maximum potential amount of future fundings for guarantees
where we are the primary obligor and the carrying amount of the lia-
bility for expected future fundings at year-end 2008, are as follows:

($ in millions) Maximum Liability for Expected
Potential Amount Future Fundings 

Guarantee Type of Future Fundings at Year-End 2008

Debt service $ 38 $ 1
Operating profit 165 27
Other 95 7

Total guarantees where we 
are the primary obligor $298 $35

The liability for expected future fundings at year-end 2008, is
included in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as follows: $3 million 
in the “Other payables and accruals” line item and $32 million in 
the “Other long-term liabilities” line item.

Our guarantees of $298 million listed in the preceding table
include $33 million of operating profit guarantees that will not be in
effect until the underlying properties open and we begin to operate
the properties, along with $3 million of debt service guarantees that
will not be in effect until the underlying debt has been funded.

The guarantees of $298 million in the preceding table do not
include $206 million of guarantees that we anticipate will expire in
the years 2011 through 2013, related to Senior Living Services
lease obligations totaling $145 million and lifecare bonds of $61 mil-
lion for which we are secondarily liable. Sunrise Senior Living, Inc.
(“Sunrise”) is the primary obligor of the leases and $9 million of the
lifecare bonds, and CNL Retirement Properties, Inc. (“CNL”), which
subsequently merged with Health Care Property Investors, Inc., is
the primary obligor of $50 million of the lifecare bonds. Five Star is
the primary obligor of the remainder of the lifecare bonds. Prior to
our sale of the Senior Living Services business in 2003, these pre-
existing guarantees were guarantees by us of obligations of consoli-
dated Senior Living Services subsidiaries. Sunrise and CNL have
indemnified us for any guarantee fundings we may be called on to
make in connection with these lease obligations and lifecare bonds.
While we currently do not expect to fund under the guarantees,
according to recent SEC filings made by Sunrise there has been a
significant deterioration in Sunrise’s financial position and access to
liquidity; accordingly, Sunrise’s continued ability to meet these guar-
antee obligations cannot be assured.

The table also does not include lease obligations for which we
became secondarily liable when we acquired the Renaissance Hotel
Group N.V. in 1997, consisting of annual rent payments of approxi-
mately $6 million and total remaining rent payments through the ini-
tial term of approximately $67 million. Most of these obligations
expire at the end of 2023. CTF Holdings Ltd. (“CTF”) had originally
made available €35 million in cash collateral in the event that we
are required to fund under such guarantees (approximately €7 mil-
lion [$10 million] remained at year-end 2008). As CTF obtains
releases from the landlords and these hotels exit the system, our
contingent liability exposure of approximately $67 million will decline.
Since the time we assumed these guarantees, we have not funded
any amounts and we do not expect to fund any amounts under
these guarantees in the future.

In addition to the guarantees noted in the preceding table, we
have provided a project completion guarantee to a lender for a
project with an estimated aggregate total cost of $586 million.
Payments for cost overruns for this project will be satisfied by the
joint venture through contributions from the partners, and we are
liable on a several basis with our partners in an amount equal to our

pro rata ownership in the joint venture, which is 34 percent. We do
not expect to fund under the guarantee. At year-end 2008, the car-
rying value of the liabilities associated with this project completion
guarantee was $6 million. We have provided a project completion
guarantee to another lender for a project with an estimated aggre-
gate total cost of $460 million. Payments for cost overruns for this
project will be satisfied by the joint venture through contributions
from the partners, and we are liable on a several basis with our
partners in an amount equal to our pro rata ownership in the joint
venture, which is 20 percent. We do not expect to fund under the
guarantee. At year-end 2008, the carrying value of the liabilities
associated with this project completion guarantee was $3 million.

In addition to the guarantees described in the preceding para-
graphs, in conjunction with financing obtained for specific projects
or properties owned by joint ventures in which we are a party, we
may provide industry standard indemnifications to the lender for
loss, liability, or damage occurring as a result of the actions of the
other joint venture owner or our own actions.

Commitments and Letters of Credit
In addition to the guarantees noted previously, as of year-end 2008,
we had extended approximately $10 million of loan commitments to
owners of lodging properties, under which we expect to fund
approximately $8 million, which expire within one year. We do not
expect to fund the remaining $2 million of commitments, which
expire in one year.

At year-end 2008, we also had commitments to invest up to
$44 million of equity for minority interests in partnerships that plan
to purchase North American full-service and limited-service proper-
ties or purchase or develop hotel-anchored mixed-use real estate
projects, which expire as follows: $34 million within three years;
and $10 million after three years. Of the $44 million in commit-
ments, we expect to fund $29 million within one to two years and
$15 million within three years. In addition, as of year-end 2008, we
had commitments, with no expiration date, to fund up to $25 mil-
lion in joint ventures for development of new properties of which
we expect to fund $13 million within one year and $12 million in
one to two years. Also, as of year-end 2008, we had a commit-
ment, with no expiration date, to invest up to $8 million in a joint
venture of which we have funded $1 million and have $7 million
remaining that we do not expect to fund. And, as of year-end
2008, we had a commitment to invest up to $28 million (€20 mil-
lion) in a joint venture in which we are a partner. We do not expect
to fund under this commitment.

At year-end 2008, we had $126 million of letters of credit 
outstanding, the majority of which related to our self-insurance pro-
grams. Surety bonds issued as of year-end 2008, totaled $465 mil-
lion, the majority of which were requested by federal, state or local
governments related to our lodging operations, including our
Timeshare segment and self-insurance programs.

Investment in Leveraged Lease
Historically, we had a $23 million investment in an aircraft leveraged
lease with Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta Airlines”), which we acquired
in 1994. The gross investment was comprised of rentals receivable
and the residual value of the aircraft offset by unearned income. On
September 14, 2005, Delta Airlines filed for bankruptcy protection
under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code and informed us
that it wished to restructure the lease. As a result, our investment
was impaired and we had recorded pretax charges of approxi-
mately $17 million in 2005 and $1 million in 2006. We recorded an
additional $5 million loss related to this investment in fiscal 2007,
and have no remaining exposure.

Marriott International, Inc. 2008 65



BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We are a diversified hospitality company with operations in five busi-
ness segments:

3 North American Full-Service Lodging, which includes the
Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Marriott Conference Centers, JW
Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels & Resorts,
and Renaissance ClubSport properties located in the conti-
nental United States and Canada;

3 North American Limited-Service Lodging, which includes
the Courtyard, Fairfield Inn, SpringHill Suites, Residence Inn,
TownePlace Suites, and Marriott ExecuStay properties
located in the continental United States and Canada;

3 International Lodging, which includes the Marriott Hotels &
Resorts, JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts, Renaissance Hotels &
Resorts, Courtyard, Fairfield Inn, Residence Inn, and Marriott
Executive Apartments properties located outside the conti-
nental United States and Canada;

3 Luxury Lodging, which includes The Ritz-Carlton and Bulgari
Hotels & Resorts properties worldwide (together with adja-
cent residential projects associated with some Ritz-Carlton
hotels), as well as Edition, for which no properties are yet
open; and

3 Timeshare, which includes the development, marketing,
operation, and sale of Marriott Vacation Club, The Ritz-
Carlton Club and Residences, Grand Residences by Marriott,
and Horizons by Marriott Vacation Club timeshare, fractional
ownership, and residential properties worldwide.

In addition to the segments above, in 2007, we exited the syn-
thetic fuel business, which was formerly a separate segment but
which we now report under discontinued operations.

We evaluate the performance of our segments based primarily
on the results of the segment without allocating corporate
expenses, interest expense, income taxes, or indirect general,
administrative, and other expenses. With the exception of the
Timeshare segment, we do not allocate interest income to our seg-
ments. Because note sales are an integral part of the Timeshare
segment, we include note sale gains in our Timeshare segment
results. We also include interest income associated with Timeshare
segment notes in our Timeshare segment results because financing
sales are an integral part of that segment’s business. Additionally,
we allocate other gains or losses, equity in earnings or losses from
our joint ventures, divisional general, administrative, and other
expenses, and minority interests in income or losses of consoli-
dated subsidiaries to each of our segments. “Other unallocated
corporate” represents that portion of our revenues, general, admin-
istrative, and other expenses, equity in earnings or losses, and
other gains or losses that are not allocable to our segments.

We aggregate the brands presented within our North American
Full-Service, North American Limited-Service, International, Luxury,
and Timeshare segments considering their similar economic charac-
teristics, types of customers, distribution channels, the regulatory
business environment of the brands and operations within each seg-
ment and our organizational and management reporting structure.

Revenues

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $ 5,631 $ 5,476 $ 5,196

North American Limited-Service 
Segment 2,233 2,198 2,060

International Segment 1,544 1,594 1,411
Luxury Segment 1,659 1,576 1,423
Timeshare Segment 1,750 2,065 1,840

Total segment revenues 12,817 12,909 11,930
Other unallocated corporate 62 81 65

$12,879 $12,990 $11,995

Income from Continuing 
Operations

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $ 419 $ 478 $ 455

North American Limited-Service 
Segment 395 461 380

International Segment 246 271 237
Luxury Segment 78 72 63
Timeshare Segment 28 306 280

Total segment financial results 1,166 1,588 1,415
Other unallocated corporate (304) (287) (251)
Interest income, provision for loan

losses, and interest expense (144) (163) (72)
Income taxes (359) (441) (380)

$ 359 $ 697 $ 712

We allocate net minority interest in losses of consolidated sub-
sidiaries to our segments. Accordingly, as of year-end 2008, we
allocated net minority interest in losses of consolidated subsidiaries
as reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Income as shown in
the following table:

Minority Interest

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $ — $ — $ 1

International Segment (1) (1) (1)
Luxury Segment — 1 —
Timeshare Segment 25 1 —

Total segment minority interest 24 1 —
Provision for income taxes (9) — —

$ 15 $ 1 $ —
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Equity in Earnings (Losses) of 
Equity Method Investees

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $ 3 $ 3 $ 2

North American Limited-Service 
Segment — 2 —

International Segment (2) 3 —
Luxury Segment (12) (4) (2)
Timeshare Segment 11 10 (2)

Total segment equity in 
earnings (losses) — 14 (2)

Other unallocated corporate 15 1 5

$ 15 $ 15 $ 3

Depreciation and Amortization

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $ 29 $ 25 $ 24

North American Limited-Service 
Segment 20 23 24

International Segment 24 23 23
Luxury Segment 16 17 7
Timeshare Segment 46 39 39

Total segment depreciation 
and amortization 135 127 117

Other unallocated corporate 55 62 61
Discontinued operations — 8 10

$ 190 $ 197 $ 188

Assets

At At At
Year-End Year-End Year-End

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $1,287 $1,322 $1,104

North American Limited-Service 
Segment 467 486 565

International Segment 832 855 1,225
Luxury Segment 715 748 755
Timeshare Segment 3,636 3,142 2,560

Total segment assets 6,937 6,553 6,209
Other unallocated corporate 1,966 2,336 2,288
Discontinued operations — 53 91

$8,903 $8,942 $8,588

Equity Method Investments

At At At
Year-End Year-End Year-End

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $ 16 $ 16 $ 18

North American Limited-Service 
Segment 97 75 35

International Segment 56 62 73
Luxury Segment 50 41 17
Timeshare Segment 80 99 168

Total segment equity method 
investments 299 293 311

Other unallocated corporate 10 23 21

$309 $316 $332

Goodwill

At At At
Year-End Year-End Year-End

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $335 $406 $406

North American Limited-Service 
Segment 72 72 72

International Segment 298 273 273
Luxury Segment 170 170 170

Total segment goodwill $875 $921 $921

Capital Expenditures

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

North American Full-Service 
Segment $117 $446 $ 75

North American Limited-Service 
Segment 13 36 38

International Segment 45 44 215
Luxury Segment 6 35 104
Timeshare Segment 105 56 28

Total segment capital 
expenditures 286 617 460

Other unallocated corporate 71 54 69

$357 $671 $529

Segment expenses include selling expenses directly related to
the operations of the businesses, aggregating $629 million in 2008,
$616 million in 2007, and $600 million in 2006. Approximately 
89 percent for each of 2008 and 2007 and 90 percent for 2006 
of the selling expenses are related to our Timeshare segment.
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The consolidated financial statements include the following
related to operations located outside the United States (which 
are predominately related to our International lodging segment):
Revenues of $2,230 million in 2008, $2,287 million in 2007, and
$1,869 million in 2006; segment financial results of $253 million 
in 2008 (13 percent from Europe, 36 percent from the Americas
excluding the United States, 23 percent from Asia, 12 percent from
the United Kingdom, 13 percent from the Middle East and Africa,
and 3 percent from Australia), $341 million in 2007, and $298 mil-
lion in 2006; and fixed assets of $314 million in 2008 and $257 mil-
lion in 2007. At year-end 2008 and at year-end 2007, fixed assets
located outside the United States are included within the “Property
and equipment” caption in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. No
individual country, other than the United States, constitutes a mate-
rial portion of our revenues, financial results or fixed assets.

We estimate that, for the 20-year period from 2009 through
2028, the cost of completing improvements and currently planned
amenities for our owned timeshare properties will be approximately
$3.5 billion.

RESTRUCTURING COSTS AND OTHER
CHARGES

During the latter part of 2008, we experienced a significant decline
in demand for hotel rooms both domestically and internationally as
a result, in part, of the recent failures and near failures of a number
of large financial service companies in the fourth quarter of 2008
and the dramatic downturn in the economy. Our capital intensive
Timeshare business was also hurt both domestically and interna-
tionally by the downturn in market conditions and particularly the
significant deterioration in the credit markets, which resulted in our
decision not to complete a note sale in the fourth quarter of 2008.
These declines resulted in reduced management and franchise
fees, cancellation of development projects, reduced timeshare
contract sales, and anticipated losses under guarantees and loans.
We responded by implementing certain company-wide cost saving
measures with individual company segments and corporate depart-
ments implementing further cost saving measures. Upper-level
management responsible for the Timeshare segment, hotel opera-
tions, development, and above-property level management of the
various corporate departments and brand teams individually led
these decentralized management initiatives. The various initiatives
resulted in aggregate restructuring costs of $55 million that we
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008. We also incurred other
charges, including charges for guarantees and reserves for loan
losses, and inventory write-downs on Timeshare inventory, reserves
on accounts receivable, contract cancellation allowances, a charge
related to the valuation of Timeshare residual interests, a charge
associated with hedge ineffectiveness related to Timeshare note
sale hedges, and asset impairments and other charges, detailed
further in “Other Charges.”

As part of the restructuring efforts in our Timeshare segment, we
reduced and consolidated sales channels in the United States and
closed down certain operations in Europe. We recorded Timeshare

restructuring costs of $28 million in the 2008 fourth quarter, includ-
ing: (1) $14 million in severance costs; (2) $5 million in facilities 
exit costs, primarily associated with noncancelable lease costs in
excess of estimated sublease income arising from the reduction in
personnel; and (3) $9 million related to the write-off of capitalized
costs relating to development projects no longer deemed viable.
We expect to complete this restructuring by year-end 2009.

As part of the hotel development restructuring efforts across
several of our Lodging segments, we discontinued certain develop-
ment projects that required our investment. We recorded restruc-
turing costs in the 2008 fourth quarter of $24 million, including: 
(1) $2 million in severance costs; and (2) $22 million related to the
write-off of capitalized costs relating to development projects that
we discontinued, including capitalized costs related to owned
development of Renaissance ClubSport. We expect to complete
this restructuring by year-end 2009.

We also implemented restructuring initiatives by reducing 
above-property level lodging management personnel and corporate
overhead. We incurred 2008 fourth quarter restructuring costs of 
$3 million primarily reflecting severance costs. We expect to com-
plete this restructuring by year-end 2009.

We have provided detailed information related to these restruc-
turing costs and other charges below.

Restructuring Costs
Severance
These various restructuring initiatives resulted in an overall reduction
of 1,021 employees (the majority of whom were terminated by
January 2, 2009) across the Company. We recorded a total work-
force reduction charge of $19 million related primarily to severance
and fringe benefits, which consisted of $14 million for the
Timeshare segment, $2 million related to hotel development, and
$3 million related to above-property level lodging management and
corporate overhead. The charge does not reflect amounts billed out
separately to owners for property level severance costs. We also
delayed filling vacant positions and reduced staff hours. In connec-
tion with these initiatives, we expect to incur an additional $3 million
to $4 million related to severance and fringe benefits in 2009 for the
Timeshare segment.

Facilities Exit Costs
As a result of workforce reductions and delays in filling vacant posi-
tions that were part of the Timeshare segment restructuring, we
ceased using certain leased facilities. We recorded a restructuring
charge of approximately $5 million associated with these facilities,
primarily related to noncancelable lease costs in excess of esti-
mated sublease income. In connection with these initiatives, in
2009, we expect to incur an additional $2 million to $3 million
related to ceasing use of additional noncancelable leases.

Development Cancellations
We sometimes incur certain costs associated with the development
of hotel and timeshare properties, including legal costs, the cost of
land, and planning and design costs. We capitalize these costs as
incurred and they become part of the cost basis of the property
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once it is developed. As a result of the sharp downturn in the econ-
omy, we decided to discontinue certain development projects that
required our investment, including our Renaissance ClubSport real
estate development activities. These cancellations do not impact the
two Renaissance ClubSport properties that are currently open. As a
result of these development cancellations, we expensed $31 million
of previously capitalized costs, which consisted of $9 million of
costs for the Timeshare segment and $22 million of costs related 
to hotel development. We do not currently expect to expense any
additional capitalized costs in 2009 in connection with these
restructuring initiatives.

Other Charges
Charges for Guarantees and Reserves for Loan Losses
We sometimes issue guarantees to lenders and other third parties
in connection with some financing transactions and other obliga-
tions. We also advance loans to some owners of properties that we
manage. As a result of the downturn in the economy, certain hotels
have experienced significant declines in profitability and the owners
may not be able to meet debt service obligations to us, or in some
cases, to third-party lending institutions. In addition, we expect
profit levels at a few hotels to drop below guaranteed levels. As a
result, based on cash flow projections, we expect to fund under
some of our guarantees, which we do not deem recoverable, and
we expect that one of the loans made by us will not be repaid
according to its original terms. Due to the expected fundings 
under guarantees that we deemed nonrecoverable, we recorded
charges of $16 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 in the “General,
administrative, and other” expenses caption in our Consolidated
Statements of Income. Due to the expected loan loss, we recorded
a charge of $22 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 in the
“Provision for loan losses” caption in our Consolidated Statements
of Income.

Timeshare Inventory Write-downs
As a result of terminating certain phases of timeshare development
in Europe, we recorded an inventory write-down of $9 million in the
fourth quarter of 2008. We recorded this charge in the “Timeshare-
direct” caption of our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Accounts Receivable-Bad Debts
In the fourth quarter of 2008, we reserved $4 million of accounts
receivable, which we deemed uncollectible, generally as a result of
the unfavorable hotel operating environment, following an analysis
of those accounts. We recorded this charge in the “General, admin-
istrative, and other” expenses caption in our Consolidated
Statements of Income.

Timeshare Contract Cancellation Allowances
Our financial statements reflect net contract cancellation allowances
totaling $12 million recorded in the 2008 fourth quarter in anticipa-
tion that a portion of contract revenue and cost previously recorded
for certain projects under the percentage-of-completion method will
not be realized due to contract cancellations prior to closing. We
have an equity method investment in one of these projects, and
reflected $7 million of the $12 million in the “Equity in earnings”

caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The remaining
net $5 million of contract cancellation allowances consisted of a
reduction in revenue, net of adjustments to product costs and other
direct costs, and was recorded in Timeshare sales and services rev-
enue, net of direct costs.

Timeshare Residual Interests Valuation
The fair market value of our residual interest in timeshare notes sold
declined in the fourth quarter of 2008 primarily due to an increase in
the market rate of interest at which we discount future cash flows to
estimate the fair market value of the retained interests. The increase
in the market rate of interest reflects deteriorating economic condi-
tions and disruption in the credit markets, which significantly
increased the borrowing costs to issuers. As a result of this change,
we recorded a $32 million charge in “Timeshare sales and services”
caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income to reflect the
decrease in the fair value of these residual interests.

Timeshare Hedge Ineffectiveness
Given the significant deterioration in the credit markets, we expect
that any potential note sale transactions pursued by the Company
in the near term will be materially different from arrangements origi-
nally contemplated, and accordingly, the sensitivity of a hedge 
the Company previously entered into to manage interest rate 
risk associated with forecasted note sales no longer significantly
corresponds to the sensitivity in expected note sale proceeds.
Differences include expected legal structures, modifications to
priority of cash flow, and higher costs. The change in terms (inputs)
used to determine hedge effectiveness for Timeshare’s note sale
hedges resulted in the recognition of $12 million in hedge ineffec-
tiveness. We recorded this hedge ineffectiveness as a reduction in
note sale gains in the “Timeshare sales and services” caption in our
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Asset Impairments and Other Charges
One project that is in development and in which the Company has
a joint venture investment was unable to draw on existing financing
commitments as a result of the recent turmoil in the capital markets
and the bankruptcy of the project’s major lender. As a result, based
on our analysis of expected future cash flows, we determined that
our investment in that joint venture was fully impaired, and we
recorded an impairment charge of $9 million in the “Equity in 
earnings” caption in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

In addition, as a result of the economic downturn and the inabil-
ity of certain developers to obtain financing, we also recorded write-
offs of other assets ($12 million) related to development costs
associated with projects we no longer deem probable in the
“General, administrative, and other” expenses caption of our
Consolidated Statements of Income.

We also deemed certain cost method tax investments to be
other-than-temporarily impaired because we do not expect to
receive any future economic benefit from these investments.
Accordingly, we recorded an impairment charge of $9 million for
those investments in the “Gains and other income” caption of our
Consolidated Statements of Income.
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Summary of Restructuring Costs and Other Charges
The following table is a summary of the restructuring costs and other charges we recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008, as well as our
remaining liability at the end of the fourth quarter of 2008 and remaining restructuring costs expected to be incurred in 2009 as part of these
restructuring initiatives:

Restructuring Restructuring
Cash Payments Costs and Other Costs Expected

Total Non-Cash in the 2008 Charges Liability to be Incurred
($ in millions) Charge Charge Fourth Quarter at January 2, 2009 in 2009

Severance-Timeshare $ 14 $ — $3 $11 $3-4
Facilities exit costs-Timeshare 5 — — 5 2-3
Development cancellations-Timeshare 9 9 — — —

Total restructuring costs-Timeshare 28 9 3 16 5-7

Severance-hotel development 2 — — 2 —
Development cancellations-hotel development 22 22 — — —

Total restructuring costs-hotel development 24 22 — 2 —

Severance-above property-level management 3 — 1 2 —

Total restructuring costs-above property-level 
management 3 — 1 2 —

Total restructuring costs $ 55 $ 31 $4 $20 $5-7

Reserves for guarantees and loan losses 38 22 — 16
Inventory write-downs 9 9 — —
Accounts receivable-bad debts 4 4 — —
Contract cancellation allowances 12 12 — —
Residual interests valuation 32 32 — —
Hedge ineffectiveness 12 12 — —
Impairment of investments and other 30 30 — —

Total other charges 137 121 — 16

Total restructuring and other charges $192 $152 $4 $36

We anticipate that the remaining liability related to the workforce reduction will be substantially paid by the end of 2009 for the Timeshare
segment, by the end of 2009 for hotel development, and by the end of 2009 for above-property level management. The amounts related to
the space reduction and resulting lease expense due to the consolidation of facilities in the Timeshare segment will be paid over the respec-
tive lease terms through 2012. The remaining liability related to expected fundings under guarantees will likely be substantially paid by year-
end 2010. The following tables provide further detail on these charges, including a breakdown by segment:

2008 Operating Income Impact

North American North American Other
Full-Service Limited-Service International Luxury Timeshare Unallocated

($ in millions) Segment Segment Segment Segment Segment Corporate Total

Severance $— $— $— $1 $14 $ 4 $ 19
Facilities exit costs — — — — 5 — 5
Development cancellations — — — — 9 22 31

Total restructuring costs — — — 1 28 26 55
Charges related to guarantees 1 15 — — — — 16
Inventory write-downs — — — — 9 — 9
Accounts receivable-bad debts — — — 1 — 3 4
Contract cancellation allowances — — — — 5 — 5
Residual interests valuation — — — — 32 — 32
Hedge ineffectiveness — — — — 12 — 12
Impairment of investments 

and other — — — — — 12 12

Total $ 1 $15 $— $2 $86 $41 $145



VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December
2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” we analyze our
variable interests including loans, guarantees, and equity invest-
ments, to determine if the entity that is party to the variable interest
is a variable interest entity. Our analysis includes both quantitative
and qualitative reviews. Quantitative analysis is based on the fore-
casted cash flows of the entity. Qualitative analysis is based on our
review of the design of the entity, its organizational structure includ-
ing decision making ability, and financial agreements. Quantitative
and qualitative analyses are also used to determine if we must con-
solidate a variable interest entity as the primary beneficiary.

We have an equity investment in and a loan receivable due from
a variable interest entity that develops and markets fractional own-
ership and residential interests, and we consolidate the entity as 
we are the primary beneficiary. The loan we provided to the entity
replaced the original senior loan and at year-end 2008 had a bal-
ance of $68 million and accrued interest of $15 million. The loan
facility is utilized to fund net cash flow of the variable interest entity.
The outstanding principal balance increased by $32 million com-
pared to year-end 2007. At year-end 2008, the carrying amount 
of consolidated assets included within our Consolidated Balance
Sheet that are collateral for the variable interest entity’s obligations
totaled $103 million and comprised $101 million of real estate held
for development, property, equipment, and other long-term assets,
and $2 million of cash. Further, at year-end 2008, the carrying
amount of consolidated liabilities included within our Consolidated
Balance Sheet relative to this variable interest entity totaled $17 mil-
lion. The creditors of the variable interest entity do not have general
recourse to our credit.

We utilize several special purpose entities to maintain ownership
of real estate in certain jurisdictions in order to facilitate sales within
the Asia Pacific Points Club. Although we have no equity ownership

in the Club itself, we absorb the variability in the assets of the club
to the extent that inventory has not been sold to the ultimate Club
Member. We determined that we were the primary beneficiary of
these variable interest entities based upon the proportion of variabil-
ity that we absorb compared to Club Members. At year-end 2007
and 2008, the carrying amount of inventory associated with these
variable interest entities was $18 million and $78 million, respec-
tively. The creditors of the special purpose entities do not have gen-
eral recourse to our credit.

In conjunction with the transaction with CTF described more fully
in Footnote No. 9, “Acquisitions and Dispositions,” under the cap-
tion “2005 Acquisitions” in our 2007 Form 10-K, we manage certain
hotels on behalf of four tenant entities 100 percent owned by CTF,
which lease the hotels from third-party owners. Due to certain provi-
sions in the management agreements, we account for these con-
tracts as operating leases. At year-end 2008, the number of hotels
totaled 14. The entities have minimal equity and minimal assets
comprised of hotel working capital. In conjunction with the 2005
transaction, CTF had placed money in a trust account to cover
cash flow shortfalls and to meet rent payments. In turn, we released
CTF from their guarantees in connection with these properties. The
terms of the trust require that the cash flows for the four tenant
entities be pooled for purposes of making rent payments and deter-
mining cash flow shortfalls. At year-end 2008, the trust account
held approximately $28 million. The entities are variable interest enti-
ties under FIN 46(R). We do not consolidate the entities because
we do not bear the majority of the expected losses. We are sec-
ondarily liable (after exhaustion of funds from the trust account) for
rent payments for eight of the 14 hotels in the event that there are
cash flow shortfalls. Future minimum lease payments through the
end of the lease term for these eight hotels totaled approximately
$94 million. In addition, we are also secondarily liable for rent pay-
ments of up to an aggregate cap of $37 million for the six other
hotels in the event that there are cash flow shortfalls.
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2008 Non-Operating Income Impact

Gains and Provision for Equity in
($ in millions) Other Income Loan Losses Earnings Total

Impairment of investments $9 $— $ 9 $18
Contract cancellations allowances — — 7 7
Reserves for interest and loan losses — 22 — 22

Total $9 $22 $16 $47

The following table provides further detail on restructuring costs we expect to incur in 2009, including a breakdown by segment:

2009 Expected Operating Income Impact

North
North American

American Limited- Other 
Full-Service Service International Luxury Timeshare Unallocated

($ in millions) Segment Segment Segment Segment Segment Corporate Total

Severance $— $— $— $— $3-4 $— $3-4
Facilities exit costs — — — — 2-3 — 2-3
Development cancellations — — — — — — —

Total restructuring costs $— $— $— $— $5-7 $— $5-7



LEASES

We have summarized our future obligations under operating leases
at year-end 2008, below:

Fiscal Year Minimum Lease Payments

($ in millions)

2009 $ 153
2010 148
2011 129
2012 124
2013 116
Thereafter 1,047

Total minimum lease payments where 
we are the primary obligor $1,717

Most leases have initial terms of up to 20 years and contain one
or more renewal options, generally for five- or 10-year periods.
These leases provide for minimum rentals and additional rentals
based on our operations of the leased property. The total minimum
lease payments above include $382 million, representing obligations
of consolidated subsidiaries that are non-recourse to us.

Minimum lease payments aggregating $131 million relating to
the CTF leases further discussed in Footnote No. 21, “Variable
Interest Entities,” which are not reflected in the $1,717 million in 
the preceding table are as follows: $29 million in each of 2009 and
2010; $25 million in 2011; $16 million in 2012; $9 million in 2013;
and $23 million thereafter.

The composition of rent expense for the last three fiscal years
associated with operating leases is detailed in the following table:

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Minimum rentals $283 $272 $253
Additional rentals 109 114 109

$392 $386 $362

We have summarized our future obligations under capital leases
at year-end 2008, in the following table:

Fiscal Year Minimum Lease Payments

($ in millions)

2009 $ 1
2010 1
2011 1
2012 1
2013 1
Thereafter 6

Total minimum lease payments 11
Less: Amount representing interest (5)

Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 6

The accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for year-end
2008 and 2007 included $6 million and $7 million, respectively, in
the “Long-term debt” caption that represented the present value of
net minimum lease payments associated with capital leases.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Equity Method Investments
We have equity method investments in entities that own properties
for which we provide management and/or franchise services and
receive fees. In addition, in some cases we provide loans, preferred
equity or guarantees to these entities. Our ownership interest in
these equity method investments generally varies from 10 to 50
percent. The amount of our consolidated retained earnings that rep-
resents undistributed earnings attributable to our equity investments
totaled $3 million at year-end 2008.

The following tables present financial data resulting from trans-
actions with these related parties:

Income Statement Data

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Base management fees $ 49 $ 56 $ 62
Franchise fees — 1 2
Incentive management fees 11 26 22
Cost reimbursements 340 510 649

Total revenue $400 $593 $735

General, administrative, and other $ (1) $ (4) $ (1)
Reimbursed costs (340) (510) (649)
Gains and other income 12 25 28
Interest expense 4 1 1
Interest income 3 4 4
(Provision for) reversal of provision 

for loan losses — (12) 1
Equity in earnings 15 15 3
Provision for income taxes 1 — —

Balance Sheet Data

At Year- At Year-
End End

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Current assets-accounts and 
notes receivable $23 $42

Deferred development 3 2
Contract acquisition costs 28 33
Equity and cost method investments 309 316
Loans to equity method investees 50 21
Other long-term receivables 7 —
Long-term deferred tax assets, net — 1

Current liabilities:
Other payables and accruals (9) (2)

Other long-term liabilities (15) (16)
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Summarized information for the entities in which we have equity
method investments is as follows:

Income Statement Data

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Sales $1,342 $1,622 $1,479

Net income $ 122 $ 134 $ 170

Balance Sheet Summary

At At
Year-End Year-End

($ in millions) 2008 2007

Assets (primarily comprised of 
hotel real estate managed by us) $3,669 $3,856

Liabilities $2,532 $2,536

RELATIONSHIP WITH MAJOR CUSTOMER

As of year-end 2008, Host Hotels & Resorts, Inc. (“Host”), formerly
known as Host Marriott Corporation, owned or leased 149 lodging
properties operated by us under long-term agreements. We recog-
nized revenues from lodging properties owned or leased by Host
(which are included in our North American Full-Service, North
American Limited-Service, Luxury, and International segments) for
the last three fiscal years as shown in the following table:

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Revenues $2,539 $2,580 $2,475

Additionally, Host is a partner in several unconsolidated partner-
ships that own lodging properties operated by us under long-term
agreements. As of year-end 2008, Host was affiliated with 125 such
properties operated by us. The revenues associated with those
properties (which are included in our North American Full-Service,
North American Limited-Service, Luxury, and International seg-
ments) that were recognized by the Company for the last three fis-
cal years are shown in the following table:

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Revenues $411 $350 $353
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SHAREHOLDER RETURN PERFORMANCE GRAPH — UNAUDITED

The following graph compares the performance of the Company’s Class A Common Stock from January 2, 2004 to the end of fiscal 2008 
with the performance of the Standard & Poor’s Corporation Composite 500 Index and the Standard & Poor’s Hotels, Resorts & Cruise Lines
Index. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 on January 2, 2004, and reinvestment of dividends.

Comparison of Shareholder Returns among Marriott International, Inc., 
the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Hotels, Resorts & Cruise Lines Index

0

50

100

150

200

250

S&P 500 Index

S&P 500 Hotels Index

Marriott International, Inc.

1/2/0912/28/0712/29/0612/30/0512/31/041/2/04

D
ol

la
rs

Fiscal Year Ended

1/2/04 12/31/04 12/30/05 12/29/06 12/28/07 1/2/09

Marriott International, Inc. 100.0 137.4 147.0 210.8 151.7 90.4
S&P 500 Hotels Index 100.0 145.7 147.9 169.6 148.4 82.3
S&P 500 Index 100.0 111.2 116.7 135.1 143.5 92.6

NOTE: At the end of fiscal 2008, the S&P 500 Hotels, Resorts & Cruise Lines Index consisted of Carnival Corporation, Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide Inc., the Company,
and Wyndham Worldwide Corporation.
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Fiscal Year 2008 (1), (2)

First Second Third Fourth Fiscal
($ in millions, except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

Revenues (3) $2,947 $3,185 $2,963 $3,784 $12,879

Operating income (3) $ 195 $ 313 $ 203 $ 74 $ 785

Income from continuing operations minority interest $ 122 $ 153 $ 94 $ (10) $ 359
Discontinued operations, net of tax (1) 4 — — 3

Net income $ 121 $ 157 $ 94 $ (10) $ 362

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.33 $ 0.41 $ 0.26 $ (0.03) $ 0.98
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations — 0.01 — — 0.01

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.33 $ 0.42 $ 0.26 $ (0.03) $ 0.99

Fiscal Year 2007 (1), (2)

First Second Third Fourth Fiscal
($ in millions, except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

Revenues (3) $2,836 $3,122 $2,943 $4,089 $12,990

Operating income (3) $ 237 $ 335 $ 210 $ 406 $ 1,188

Income from continuing operations $ 164 $ 175 $ 122 $ 236 $ 697
Discontinued operations, net of tax 18 32 9 (60) (1)

Net income $ 182 $ 207 $ 131 $ 176 $ 696

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.40 $ 0.43 $ 0.31 $ 0.62 $ 1.75
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations 0.04 0.08 0.02 (0.16) —

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.44 $ 0.51 $ 0.33 $ 0.46 $ 1.75

(1) The quarters consisted of 12 weeks, except for the fourth quarters of 2008 and 2007, which consisted of 17 weeks and 16 weeks, respectively.
(2) The sum of the earnings per share for the four quarters differs from annual earnings per share due to the required method of computing the weighted average shares in 

interim periods.
(3) Balances do not reflect the impact of the synthetic fuel business as the impact of that business is now reflected in discontinued operations.

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA — UNAUDITED
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The following table presents a summary of selected historical financial data for the Company derived from our financial statements as of and
for our last 10 fiscal years.

Since the information in this table is only a summary and does not provide all of the information contained in our financial statements,
including the related notes, you should read “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fiscal Year (1)

($ in millions, except per share data) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Income Statement Data:
Revenues (2) $12,879 $12,990 $11,995 $11,129 $ 9,778 $ 8,712 $ 8,222 $ 7,768 $ 7,911 $ 7,026
Operating income (2) $ 785 $ 1,188 $ 1,087 $ 699 $ 575 $ 481 $ 455 $ 420 $ 762 $ 621
Income from continuing operations $ 359 $ 697 $ 712 $ 543 $ 487 $ 380 $ 365 $ 269 $ 490 $ 399
Cumulative effect of change in 

accounting principle (3) — — (109) — — — — — — —
Discontinued operations (4) 3 (1) 5 126 109 122 (88) (33) (11) 1

Net income $ 362 $ 696 $ 608 $ 669 $ 596 $ 502 $ 277 $ 236 $ 479 $ 400

Per Share Data:
Diluted earnings per share from 

continuing operations $ 0.98 $ 1.75 $ 1.65 $ 1.17 $ 1.01 $ 0.77 $ 0.72 $ 0.52 $ 0.96 $ 0.75
Diluted losses per share from 

cumulative effect of 
accounting change — — (0.25) — — — — — — —

Diluted earnings (losses) per share 
from discontinued operations 0.01 — 0.01 0.28 0.23 0.25 (0.17) (0.06) (0.02) —

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.99 $ 1.75 $ 1.41 $ 1.45 $ 1.24 $ 1.02 $ 0.55 $ 0.46 $ 0.94 $ 0.75
Cash dividends declared per share $0.3375 $0.2875 $0.2400 $0.2000 $0.1650 $0.1475 $0.1375 $0.1275 $0.1175 $0.1075

Balance Sheet Data (at year-end):
Total assets $ 8,903 $ 8,942 $ 8,588 $ 8,530 $ 8,668 $ 8,177 $ 8,296 $ 9,107 $ 8,237 $ 7,324
Long-term debt (2) 2,975 2,790 1,818 1,681 836 1,391 1,553 2,708 1,908 1,570
Shareholders’ equity 1,380 1,429 2,618 3,252 4,081 3,838 3,573 3,478 3,267 2,908

Other Data:
Base management fees (2) $ 635 $ 620 $ 553 $ 497 $ 435 $ 388 $ 379 $ 372 $ 383 $ 352
Franchise fees (2) 451 439 390 329 296 245 232 220 208 180
Incentive management fees (2) 311 369 281 201 142 109 162 202 316 268

Total fees $ 1,397 $ 1,428 $ 1,224 $ 1,027 $ 873 $ 742 $ 773 $ 794 $ 907 $ 800

Fee Revenue-Source:
North America (5) $ 1,038 $ 1,115 $ 955 $ 809 $ 682 $ 592 $ 626 $ 664 $ 779 $ 690
Outside North America 359 313 269 218 191 150 147 130 128 110

Total fees $ 1,397 $ 1,428 $ 1,224 $ 1,027 $ 873 $ 742 $ 773 $ 794 $ 907 $ 800

(1) All fiscal years included 52 weeks, except for 2008 and 2002, which each included 53 weeks.
(2) Balances do not reflect the impact of discontinued operations.
(3) We adopted Statement of Position 04-2 “Accounting for Real Estate Time-Sharing Transactions,” in our 2006 first quarter, which we reported in our Consolidated Statements of

Income as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.
(4) In 2002, we announced our intent to sell, and subsequently did sell, our Senior Living Services business and exited our Distribution Services business. In 2007, we exited our

synthetic fuel business. These businesses are now reflected as discontinued operations.
(5) Includes the continental United States and Canada.

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA — UNAUDITED
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The reconciliation of income from continuing operations to earnings before income taxes and interest expense is as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year

($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Income from continuing operations $ 359 $ 697 $ 712 $ 543 $ 487 $ 380 $ 365 $ 269 $ 490
Add:

Provision for income taxes 350 441 380 284 265 202 240 152 281
Provision for income taxes related to minority 

interest in losses of consolidated subsidiaries 9 — — — — — — — —
Interest expense 163 184 124 106 99 110 86 109 100
Goodwill amortization1 — — — — — — — 28 29
Timeshare interest2 15 24 21 24 21 21 17 12 8

Earnings before income taxes 
and interest expense ** $ 896 $ 1,346 $ 1,237 $ 957 $ 872 $ 713 $ 708 $ 570 $ 908

The reconciliation of assets to invested capital is as follows:

Year-End Year-End Year-End Year-End Year-End Year-End Year-End Year-End Year-End Year-End
($ in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Assets $ 8,903 $ 8,942 $ 8,588 $ 8,530 $ 8,668 $ 8,177 $ 8,296 $ 9,107 $ 8,237 $ 7,324
Add:

Cumulative goodwill amortization 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 100 71
Current liabilities—discontinued operations 3 13 55 63 82 16 380 367 370 317

Less:
Current liabilities, net of current portion of 

long-term debt (2,413) (2,701) (2,507) (2,086) (2,011) (1,779) (2,043) (2,042) (2,114) (1,969)
Assets—discontinued operations — (53) (91) (103) (116) (83) (692) (938) (953) (1,167)
Deferred tax assets, net (913) (863) (865) (765) (559) (466) (369) (128) (72) (84)
Timeshare capitalized interest (49) (19) (19) (20) (21) (22) (26) (17) (7) (4)

Invested capital** $ 5,659 $ 5,447 $ 5,289 $ 5,747 $ 6,171 $ 5,971 $ 5,674 $ 6,477 $ 5,561 $ 4,488

Average capital investment**3 $ 5,553 $ 5,368 $ 5,518 $ 5,959 $ 6,071 $ 5,823 $ 6,076 $ 6,019 $ 5,025

Return on invested capital** 16% 25% 22% 16% 14% 12% 12% 9% 18%

** Denotes a non-GAAP financial measure.
1. Beginning with 2002, we stopped amortizing goodwill in conjunction with the adoption of FAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” For comparability, we add the

amortized portion back for 2001 and 2000.
2. Timeshare interest represents previously capitalized interest that is a component of product cost.
3. Calculated as “Invested capital” for the current year and prior year, divided by two.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURE RECONCILIATION — UNAUDITED

RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL
We report certain financial measures that are not prescribed or
authorized by U. S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”). We discuss management’s reasons for reporting these
non-GAAP measures below, and the accompanying table reconciles
the most directly comparable GAAP measures to the non-GAAP
measures (identified by a double asterisk) that we refer to. Although
management evaluates and presents these non-GAAP measures for
the reasons described below, please be aware that these non-GAAP
measures are not alternatives to revenue, operating income, income
from continuing operations, net income, or any other comparable
operating measure prescribed by GAAP. In addition, these non-
GAAP financial measures may be calculated and/or presented differ-
ently than measures with the same or similar names that are
reported by other companies, and as a result, the non-GAAP meas-
ures we report may not be comparable to those reported by others.

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes. Earnings Before Interest 
and Taxes (“EBIT”) reflects earnings excluding the impact of interest
expense and tax expense. EBIT is used by analysts, lenders, investors
and others, as well as by us, to evaluate companies because it
excludes certain items that can vary widely across different industries
or among companies within the same industry. For example, interest
expense can be dependent on a company’s capital structure, debt
levels and credit ratings. Accordingly, the impact of interest expense
on earnings can vary significantly among companies. Additionally, the

tax positions of companies can vary because of their differing abilities
to take advantage of tax benefits and because of the tax policies of
the jurisdictions in which they operate. As a result, effective tax rates
and tax expense can vary considerably among companies.

Return on Invested Capital. Return on Invested Capital (“ROIC”)
is calculated as EBIT, divided by average capital investment. We
consider ROIC to be a meaningful indicator of our operating per-
formance, and we evaluate this metric because it measures how
effectively we use the money invested in our lodging operations. The
calculation of EBIT adds back to income from continuing operations:
1) the provision for income taxes; 2) the provision for income taxes
related to minority interest in losses of consolidated subsidiaries; 
3) interest expense; and 4) timeshare interest representing previously
capitalized interest that is a component of product cost. The calcula-
tion of invested capital adds back to total assets, cumulative good-
will amortization. Beginning with 2002, we stopped amortizing
goodwill in conjunction with the adoption of FAS No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets.” The calculation of invested capital
deducts from total assets: 1) current liabilities as they will be satisfied
in the short term; 2) assets associated with discontinued operations
net of liabilities because the ROIC metric we analyze is related to our
core lodging business (continuing operations); 3) deferred tax assets
net of liabilities because the numerator of the calculation is a pre-tax
number; and 4) timeshare capitalized interest because the numerator
of the calculation is a pre-interest expense number.
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Management of Marriott International, Inc. is responsible for the
integrity and objectivity of the consolidated financial statements and
other financial information presented in this annual report. In meet-
ing this responsibility, we maintain a highly developed system of
internal controls, policies and procedures, including an internal
auditing function.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
Its report expresses an informed judgment as to whether man-
agement’s financial statements, considered in their entirety, fairly
present, in all material respects, our financial position, operating
results and cash flows in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors fulfills its responsibility for the financial
statements through its Audit Committee, composed of three direc-
tors that are independent of the Company. The committee meets a
minimum of four times during the year with the independent regis-
tered public accounting firm, representatives of management and
the internal auditors to review the scope and results of the internal
and external audits, the accounting principles applied in financial
reporting, and financial and operational controls. The independent
registered public accounting firm and internal auditors have unre-
stricted access to the Audit Committee, with or without the pres-
ence of management.

Management of Marriott International, Inc. (the “Company”) is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal con-
trol over financial reporting and for the assessment of the effective-
ness of internal control over financial reporting. As defined by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and
effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management, and
other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reli-
ability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is sup-
ported by written policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the Company’s transactions and dispositions of the
Company’s assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transac-
tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the con-
solidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the Company are being made only in accordance with authoriza-
tions of the Company’s management and directors; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projec-
tions of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of the Company’s annual
consolidated financial statements, management has undertaken an
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of January 2, 2009, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the “COSO Framework”). Management’s assessment
included an evaluation of the design of the Company’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting and testing of the operational effective-
ness of those controls.

Based on this assessment, management has concluded that as
of January 2, 2009, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting
firm that audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements
included in this report, has issued an attestation report on the effec-
tiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, a
copy of which appears on the next page of this annual report.
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We have audited Marriott International, Inc.’s internal control over
financial reporting as of January 2, 2009, based on criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“the COSO criteria”). Marriott International, Inc.’s man-
agement is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompany-
ing Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
sonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other pro-
cedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the main-
tenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the com-
pany; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
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recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding pre-
vention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or dis-
position of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projec-
tions of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Marriott International, Inc. maintained in all mate-
rial respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
January 2, 2009, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Marriott International, Inc. as of
January 2, 2009 and December 28, 2007, and the related consoli-
dated statements of income, cash flows, comprehensive income
and shareholders’ equity for each of the three fiscal years in the
period ended January 2, 2009, of Marriott International, Inc. and
our report dated February 12, 2009 expressed an unqualified opin-
ion thereon.

McLean, Virginia
February 12, 2009

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Marriott International, Inc.:
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Marriott International, Inc. as of January 2, 2009 and December 28,
2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash
flows, comprehensive income and shareholders’ equity for each of
the three fiscal years in the period ended January 2, 2009. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s man-
agement. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-
cial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examin-
ing, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a rea-
sonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above pres-
ent fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Marriott International, Inc. as of January 2, 2009 and December
28, 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended
January 2, 2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
Marriott International, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as
of January 2, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
February 12, 2009, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

McLean, Virginia
February 12, 2009

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Marriott International, Inc.:  
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Headquarters
Marriott International, Inc.
10400 Fernwood Road
Bethesda, MD 20817
301/380-3000
Internet: Marriott.com

Common Stock Listings
The company’s Class A Common Stock (ticker
symbol: MAR) is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange and the Chicago Stock Exchange.

Shareholders of Record
At January 30, 2009, there were 349,860,166
shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding
held by 46,504 shareholders of record.

Investor Relations
For information, call: 301/380-6500
Internet: Marriott.com/investor

Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm
Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, Virginia

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
May 1, 2009 —10:30 a.m.
JW Marriott Hotel Washington, DC
1331 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20004

Registrar and Transfer Agent
Shareholder inquiries regarding stock transfers,
dividend payments, address changes, enrollment
in the company’s direct investment plan, lost
stock certificates, or other stock account matters
should be directed to:

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
480 Washington Blvd., 29th Floor
Jersey City, NJ 07310
800/311-4816 (U.S. and Canada)
+1 201/680-6693 (International)
Internet: bnymellon.com/shareowner

Common Stock Prices 
and Dividends

Dividends
Stock Price Declared

High Low Per Share

2007– First quarter .......$51.50 $44.79 $0.0625
– Second quarter.. 52.00 43.90 0.0750
– Third quarter ...... 48.85 39.70 0.0750
– Fourth quarter.... 45.10 31.34 0.0750

2008– First quarter .......$37.59 $31.17 $0.0750
– Second quarter.. 37.89 28.33 0.0875
– Third quarter ...... 30.27 22.12 0.0875
– Fourth quarter.... 30.24 11.88 0.0875

Internet Users: We invite you to learn
more about Marriott’s business and growth
opportunities at Marriott.com/investor. Our
investor site includes investor presentations,
earnings conference calls, press releases,
SEC filings, company history, and informa-
tion about the company’s governance and
Board of Directors. You may also enroll in
our dividend reinvestment plan.

Shareholders may also elect to receive
notices of shareholder meetings, proxy
materials and annual reports electronically
through the Internet. If your shares are
registered in your own name, and not in
“street name” through a broker or other
nominee, simply log in to the Internet 
site maintained by our transfer agent, 
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services, at
bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd and the
step-by-step instructions will prompt you
through enrollment.

Telephone Numbers
For reservations or information, call:

Marriott Hotels & Resorts ........... 800/228-9290
Renaissance Hotels & Resorts ... 800/468-3571
The Ritz-Carlton Hotel 

Company, L.L.C. ..................... 800/241-3333
JW Marriott Hotels & Resorts ..... 800/228-9290
Bulgari Hotels & Resorts ............ 301/547-4900
Courtyard ................................... 800/321-2211
SpringHill Suites ......................... 888/287-9400
Fairfield Inn................................. 800/228-2800
Residence Inn ............................ 800/331-3131
TownePlace Suites ..................... 800/257-3000
Marriott Executive Apartments ... 800/800-5744
Marriott ExecuStay ..................... 888/340-2565
Marriott Vacation Club................ 866/300-3032
The Ritz-Carlton Club................. 800/941-4386
Grand Residences by Marriott.... 888/220-2058

Lodging Development Inquiries
TONY CAPUANO
Executive Vice President
North America Full-Service ......... 301/380-3200

LIAM BROWN
Executive Vice President
Select-Service and Extended-Stay,

North America ......................... 301/380-8735

KEVIN KEARNEY
Executive Vice President
Europe, the Middle East 

and Africa ............................41-44-723-5100

PAUL FOSKEY
Executive Vice President
Asia/Pacific...............................852-2918-6230

LAURENT DE KOUSEMAEKER
Senior Vice President
Caribbean and Latin America ..... 301/380-2340

TIM GRISIUS
Senior Vice President
Mixed Use Development ............ 301/380-3200

RICHARD HOFFMAN
Executive Vice President
Mergers, Acquisitions and 

Business Development ............ 301/380-1670

SCOTT MELBY
Executive Vice President
Development, Planning and 

Feasibility................................. 301/380-3200

Internet: MarriottDevelopment.com
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CEO and CFO Certifications
As required by the New York Stock Exchange
listing rules, our Chief Executive Officer certified
to the New York Stock Exchange on May 21,
2008, that he was not aware of any violation by
the company of the New York Stock Exchange
listing standards as of that date. In addition,
our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer have provided certifications
with respect to the company’s public disclo-
sures as required under Rule 13a-14(a) and
Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act,
which certifications were either furnished or
filed as Exhibits 31.1, 31.2 and 32 to the
company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
fiscal year 2008 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Other Information
Any shareholder who would like a copy of the
company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal
year 2008 may obtain one, without charge, by
addressing a request to the Secretary, Marriott
International, Inc., Department 52/862, Marriott
Drive, Washington, DC 20058. The company’s
copying costs will be charged if copies of
exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K are
requested. You may also obtain a copy of the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year
2008, including exhibits, from the company’s
Web site at Marriott.com/investor, clicking on
“SEC Filings.”
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